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PREFACE

A FEw years since, the widow of Lyman Trumbull
requested me to write a biography of her husband, who
was United States Senator from Illinois during the three
senatorial terms 1855-1873, or to recommend some suit-
able person for the task. It had been a cause of surprise
and regret to me that the name of Trumbull had not yet
found a place in the swelling flood of biographical litera-
ture that embraces the Civil War period. Everybody,
North or South, who stood on the same elevation with
him, everybody who exercised influence and filled the
public eye in equal measure with him, had found his niche
in the libraries of the nation, and such place in the hearts
of the people as his merits warranted. Trumbull alone
had been neglected. I reflected upon the matter and
came to the conclusion that, although better writers than
myself could be found for this kind of work, no one was
likely to be found who had been more intimate with him
during his whole senatorial career, or who had warmer
sympathy for his aims or higher admiration for his abili-
ties and character. I reflected also that very soon there
would be no person living possessing these special qualifi-
cations. Accordingly I decided to undertake the work.

Mrs. Trumbull placed in my hands several thousand
letters received by Trumbull, and a few written by him,
during his public career. All these have been examined by
me, and they are now in the Library of Congress. He was
not in the habit of keeping copies of letters written by
himself unless he deemed them important, and such copies
were generally written out by his own hand, not taken in
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vi PREFACE

a copying-press. Other letters written by him have been
sought with varying success in the hands of his corre-
spondents, or their heirs, in various parts of the country,
but nothing has been found in this way that can be
considered of much importance.

During the Reconstruction era I had sustained the
policy of Congress in opposition to that of Andrew
Johnson, but had revolted at the carpetbaggery and mis-
government which had ensued, and had abhorred the
“Ku-Klux” bills and “Force” bills which the Union
party for a long time continued to enact or threaten. I
was not quite prepared to find, however, upon going over
the whole ground again, that I had been wrong from the

ybeginning, and that Andrew Johnson’s policy, which was

Lincoln’s policy, was the true one, and ought never to
have been departed from. This is the conclusion to
which I have come, after much study, in the evening of
a long life. This does not mean that all of the doings and
sayings of President Johnson were wise and good, but
that I believe him to have been an honest man, a true
patriot, and a worthy successor of Lincoln whose Recon-
struction policy he followed. Lincoln himself could not
have carried that policy into effect without a fight, and
many persons familiar with the temper of the time think
that even he would have failed. All that we can now
affirm is that he was armed with the prestige of vic-
tory and the confidence of the North, and hence would
have been better prepared than Johnson was for meeting
the difficulties that sprang up at the end of the war. It
must be admitted, however, that Johnson honestly aimed
to carry out that policy, both because it was Lincoln’s
and because he himself, after careful consideration,
esteemed it sound.

I acknowledge my indebtedness to the Diary of Gideon
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Welles, which I regard as the most important contribu-
« tion to the history of the period of which it treats that has
yet been given to the public. The history of Mr. James
_ Ford Rhodes I have found to be an invaluable guide, as
to both facts and judgments of men and things. I am
~indebted to Professor William A. Dunning, of Columbia
University, for valuable suggestions, criticism, and en-
couragement, as well as for the assistance derived from
his admired writings on Reconstruction. Miss Katherine
Mayo has lightened my labors greatly by her intelligent
and indefatigable search of old letters and newspaper
files and by interviews with persons still living. My
gratitude is due also to the late William H. Lambert, of
Philadelphia, for giving me access to his collection of
manuscript correspondence that passed between Lincoln
and Trumbull prior to the inauguration of the former as
President; also to Dr. William Jayne, of Springfield,
Illinois, to Hon. J. H. Roberts, of Chicago, to the wife of
Walter Trumbull (now Mrs. L. C. Pardee, of Chicago),
and to Mrs. Mary Ingraham Trumbull, of Saybrook
Point, Connecticut.
H. W.
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INTRODUCTION

Events in the year 1854 brought into the field of
national politics two members of the bar of southern
Illinois who were destined to hold high places in the pub-
lic councils — Abraham Lincoln and Lyman Trumbull.
They were members of opposing parties, Lincoln a Whig,
Trumbull a Democrat. Both were supporters of the com-
promise measures of 1850. These measures had been
accepted by the great majority of the people, not as
wholly satisfactory, but as preferable to never-ending
turmoil on the slavery question. There had been a subsi-
dence of anti-slavery propagandism in the North, follow-
ing the Free Soil campaign of 1848. Hale and Julian
received fewer votes in 1852 than Van Buren and Adams
had received in the previous election. Franklin Pierce
(Democrat) had been elected President of the United
States by so large a majority that the Whig party was
practically killed. President Pierce in his first message to
Congress had alluded to the quieting of sectional agita-
tion and had said: “That this repose is to suffer no shock
during my official term, if I have the power to avert it,
those who placed me here may be assured.” Doubtless
the Civil War would have come, even if Pierce had kept his
promise instead of breaking it; for, as Lincoln said a little
later: “A house divided against itself cannot stand.”

It was not at variance with itself on the slavery ques-
tion solely. In fact, the North did not take up arms
against slavery when the crisis came. A few men foresaw
that a war raging around that institution would somehow
and sometime give it its death-blow, but at the beginning
the Northern soldiers marched with no intention of that
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kind. They had an eye single to the preservation of the
Union. The uprising which followed the firing upon Fort
Sumter was a passionate protest against the insult to the
national flag. It betokened a fixed purpose to defend
what the flag symbolized, and it was only slowly and
hesitatingly that the abolition of slavery was admitted as
a factor and potent issue in the Northern mind.

It is true that the South seceded in order to preserve
and extend slavery, but it was penetrated with the belief
that it had a perfect right to secede —not merely the right
of revolution which our ancestors exercised in separating
from Great Britain, but a right under the Constitution.

The states under the Confederation, during the Revo-
lutionary period and later, were actually sovereign. The
Articles of Confederation declared them to be so. When
the Constitution was formed, the habit of state sover-
eignty was so strong that it was only with the greatest
difficulty that its ratification by the requisite number of
states could be obtained. John Quincy Adams said that
it was “extorted from the grinding necessity of a reluctant
people.” The instrument itself provided a common
tribunal (the Supreme Court) as arbiter for the decision
of all disputed questions arising under the Constitution
and laws of the United States. But it was not generally
supposed that the jurisdiction of the court included the
power to extinguish state sovereignty.!

1 Mr. H. C. Lodge, in his Life of Daniel Webster, says, touching the debate
with Hayne in 1830:

““When the Constitution was adopted by the votes of states at Philadelphia,
and accepted by the votes of states in popular conventions, it is safe to say that
there was not a man in the country, from Washington and Hamilton, on the one
side, to George Clinton and George Mason, on the other, who regarded the new
system as anything but an experiment entered upon by the states, and from
which each and every state had the right to peaceably withdraw, a right which
was very likely to be exercised.”

Mr. Gaillard Hunt, author of the Life of James Madison, and editor of
his writings, has published recently a confidential memorandum dated May
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The first division of political parties under the new
government was the outgrowth of emotions stirred by the
French Revolution. The Republicans of the period, led
by Jefferson, were ardent sympathizers with the uprising
in France. The Federalists, who counted Washington,
Hamilton, and John Adams as their representative men,
were opposed to any connection with European strife,
or to any fresh embroilment with England, growing out
of it. The Alien and Sedition Laws were passed in order
to suppress agitation tending to produce such embroil-
ment. Jefferson met these laws with the “Resolutions of
’98,”” which were adopted by the legislatures of Virginia
and Kentucky. These resolutions affirmed the right of

“«the separate states to judge of any infraction of the Con-
stitution by the Federal Government and also of the mode
and measure of redress —a claim which necessarily
included the right to secede from the Union if milder
measures failed. The Alien and Sedition Laws expired by
their own limitation before any actual test of their
validity took place.

The next assertion of the right of the states to nullify
the acts of the Federal Government came from a more
northern latitude as a consequence of the purchase of
Louisiana. This act alarmed the New England States.
The Federalists feared lest the acquisition of this vast
domain should give the South a perpetual preponderance

11, 1794, written by John Taylor of Caroline for Mr. Madison’s information,
giving an account of a long and solemn interview between himself and
Rufus King and Oliver Ellsworth, in which the two latter affirmed that, by
reason of differences of opinion between the East and the South, as to the
scope and functions of government, the Union could not last long. There-
fore they considered it best to have a dissolution at once, by mutual consent,
rather than by a less desirable mode. Taylor, on the other hand, thought
that the Union should be supported if possible, but if not possible he agreed
that an amicable separation was preferable. Madison wrote at the bottom
of this paper the words: “ The language of K and E probably in terrorem,”
and laid it away so carefully that it never saw the light until the year 1905.
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and control of the Government. Since there was no clause
in the Constitution providing for the acquisition of new
territory (as President Jefferson himself conceded), they
affirmed that the Union was a partnership and that a
new partner could not be taken in without the consent of
all the old ones, and that the taking in of a new one with-
out such consent would release the old ones.

Controversy on this theme was superseded a few years
later by more acute sources of irritation — the Embargo
and War of 1812. These events fell with great severity on
the commerce of the Northern States, and led to the pas-
sage by the Massachusetts legislature of anti-Embargo
resolutions, declaring that “when the national compact is
violated and the citizens are oppressed by cruel and un-
authorized law, this legislature is bound to interpose its
power and wrest from the oppressor his victim.”” In this
doctrine Daniel Webster concurred. In a speech in the
House of Representatives, December 9, 1814, on the
Conscription Bill, he said:

The operation of measures thus unconstitutional and illegal
ought to be prevented by a resort to other measures which are
both constitutional and legal. It will be the solemn duty of the
State Governments to protect their own authority over their
own militia and to interpose between their own citizens and
arbitrary power. . .. With the same earnestness with which
I now exhort you to forbear from these measures I shall exhort
them to exercise their unquestionable right of providing for the
security of their own liberties.!

The anti-Embargo resolutions were followed by the
refusal of both Massachusetts and Connecticut to allow
federal officers to take command of their militia and by
the call for the Hartford Convention. The latter body

1 Letters of Daniel Webster, edited by C. W. Van Tyne, p. 67. Mr. Van Tyne

says that Webster “here advocated a doctrine hardly distinguishable from
nullification.”
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recommended to the states represented in it the adoption
of measures to protect their citizens against forcible
drafts, conscriptions, or impressments not authorized by
the Constitution — a phrase which certainly meant that
the states were to judge of the constitutionality of the
measures referred to. The conclusion of peace with Great -
Britain put an end to this crisis before it came to blows.

On February 26, 1833, Mr. Calhoun, following the
Resolutions of ’98, affirmed in the Senate the doctrine
that the Government of the United States was a compact,
by which the separate states delegated to it certain
definite powers, reserving the rest; that whenever the
general Government should assume the exercise of pow-
ers not so delegated, its acts would be void and of no
effect; and that the said Government was not the sole
judge of the powers delegated to it, but that, as in all
other cases of compact among sovereign parties without
any common judge, each had an equal right to judge for
itself, as well of the infraction as of the mode and meas-
ures of redress. This was the stand which South Caro-
lina took in opposition to the Force Bill of President
Jackson’s administration.!

A state convention of South Carolina was called which
passed an ordinance nullifying the tariff law of the
United States and declaring that, if any attempt were
made to collect customs duties under it by force, that
state would consider herself absolved from all allegiance
to the Union and would proceed at once to organize a

1 Referring to this speech of Calhoun and to Webster’s reply, Mr. Lodge
says:

“Whatever the people of the United States understood the Constitution to
mean in 1789, there can be no question that a majority in 1833 regarded it as
a fundamental law and not a compact, — an opinion which has now become
universal. But it was quite another thing to argue that what the Constitution
had come to mean was what it meant when it was adopted.”

See also Pendleton’s Life of Alexander . Stephens, chap. xI.
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separate government. President Jackson was determined
to exercise force, and would have done so had not Con-
gress, under the lead of Henry Clay, passed a compromise
tariff bill which enabled South Carolina to repeal her
ordinance and say that she had gained the substantial
part of her contention.

Despite the later speeches of Webster, the doctrine of
nullification had a new birth in Massachusetts in 1845,
the note of discord having been called forth by the pro-
posed admission of Texas into the Union. Inthat yearthe
legislature passed and the governor approved resolutions
declaring that the powers of Congress did not embrace a
case of the admission of a foreign state or a foreign terri-
tory into the Union by an act of legislation and ““such an
act would have no binding power whatever on the people
of Massachusetts.” This was a fresh outcropping of
the bitterness which had prevailed in the New England
States against the acquisition of Louisiana.

Thus it appears that, although the Constitution did
create courts to decide all disputes arising under it, the
particularism which previously prevailed continued to
exist. Nationalism was an aftergrowth proceeding from
the habit into which the people fell of finding their com-
mon centre of gravity at Washington City, and of view-
ing it as the place where the American name and fame
were embodied and emblazoned to the world. During the
first half-century the North and the South were changing
coats from time to time on the subject of state sover-
eignty, but meanwhile the Constitution itself was working
silently and imperceptibly in the North to undermine
particularism and to strengthen nationalism. It had
accomplished its educational work in the early thirties
when it found its complete expression in Webster’s reply
to Hayne. But the South believed just as firmly that
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Hayne was the victor in that contest, as the North
believed that Webster was. Hayne’s speech was not
generally read in the North either then or later. It
was not inferior, in the essential qualities of dignity,
courtesy, legal lore, and oratorical force, to that of his
great antagonist. Webster here met a foeman worthy
of his steel.

In the South the pecuniary interests bottomed on
slavery offset and neutralized the unifying process that
was ripening in the North. The slavery question entered
into the debate between Webster and Calhoun in 1833
sufficiently to show that it lay underneath the other
questions discussed. Calhoun, in the speech referred to,
reproached Forsyth, of Georgia, for dullness in not seeing
how state rights and slavery were dovetailed together and
how the latter depended on the former.

That African slavery was the most direful curse that
ever afflicted any civilized country may now be safely
affirmed. It had its beginning in our country in the
year 1619 at Jamestown, Virginia, where a Dutch warship
short of provisions exchanged fourteen negroes for a
supply thereof. Slavery of both Indians and negroes
already existed in the West Indies and was regarded with
favor by the colonists and their home governments. It
began in Massachusetts in 1637 as a consequence of hos-
tilities with the aborigines, the slaves being captives taken
in war. They were looked upon by the whites as heathen
and were treated according to precedents found in the
Old Testament for dealing with the enemies of Jehovah.
In order that they might not escape from servitude they
were sent to the West Indies to be exchanged for negroes,
and this slave trade was not restricted to captives taken
in war, but was applied to any red men who could be
safely seized and shipped away.
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From these small beginnings slavery spread over all the
colonies from Massachusetts to Georgia and lasted in all
of them for a century and a half, i.e., until after the close
of the Revolutionary War. Then it began to lose ground
in the Northern States. Public sentiment turned against
it in Massachusetts, but all attempts to abolish it there
by act of the legislature failed. Its death-blow was given
by a judicial decision in 1783 in a case where a master was
prosecuted, convicted, and fined forty shillings for beat-
ing a slave.!

Public opinion sustained this judgment, although there
had been no change in the law since the time when the
Pequot Indians were sent by shiploads to the Bermudas
to be exchanged for negroes. If masters could not punish
their slaves in their discretion, — if slaves had any rights
which white men were bound to respect, — slavery was
virtually dead. No law could kill it more effectually.

In one way and another the emancipation movement
extended southward to and including Pennsylvania in the
later years of the eighteenth century. Nearly all the
statesmen of the Revolution looked upon the institu-
tion with disfavor and desired its extinction. Thomas
Jefferson favored gradual emancipation in Virginia, to
be coupled with deportation of the emancipated blacks,
because he feared trouble if the two races were placed
upon an equality in the then slaveholding states. He
labored to prevent the extension of slavery into the new
territories, and he very nearly succeeded. In the year
1784 he reported an ordinance in the Congress of the
Confederation to organize all the unoccupied territory,
both north and south of the Ohio River, in ten sub-
divisions, in all of which slavery should be forever pro-
hibited, and this ordinance failed of adoption by only one

1 G. H. Moore’s History of Slavery in Massachusetts, p. 215.
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vote. Six states voted in the affirmative. Seven were
necessary. Only one representative of New Jersey hap-
pened to be present, whereas two was the smallest num-
ber that could cast the vote of any state. If one other
member from New Jersey had been there, the Jeffersonian
ordinance of 1784 would have passed; slavery would have
been restricted to the seaboard states which it then occu-
pied, and would never have drawn the sword against
the Union, and the Civil War would not have taken
place.!

After the emancipation movement came to a pause,
at the southern border of Pennsylvania, the fact became
apparent that there was a dividing line between free
states and slave states, and a feeling grew up in both sec-
tions that neither of them ought to acquire a preponder-
ance of power and mastery over the other. The slavery
question was not concerned with this dispute, but a habit
grew up of admitting new states to the Union in pairs,
in order to maintain a balance of power in the national
Senate. Thus Kentucky and Vermont offset each other,
then Tennessee and Ohio, then Louisiana and Indiana,
then Mississippi and Illinois.

In 1819, Alabama, a new slave state, was admitted to
the Union and there was no new free state to balance it.
The Territory of Missouri, in which slavery existed, was
applying for admission also. While Congress was con-
sidering the Missouri bill, Mr. Tallmadge, of New York,
with a view of preserving the balance of power, offered an

1 Jefferson was cut to the heart by this failure. Commenting on an
article entitled ““ Etats Unis”’ in the Encyclopédie, written by M. de Meus-
nier, referring to his proposed anti-slavery ordinance, he said:

“The voice of a single individual of the State which was divided, or one
of those which were of the negative, would have prevented this abomina-
ble crime from spreading itself over the new country. Thus we see the fate

of millions unborn hanging on the tongue of one man, and Heaven was silent
in that awful moment.”
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amendment providing for the gradual emancipation of
slaves in the proposed state, and prohibiting the intro-
duction of additional slaves. This amendment was
adopted by the House by a sectional vote, nearly all the
Northern members voting for it and the Southern ones
against it, but it was rejected by the Senate.

In the following year the Missouri question came up
afresh, and Senator Thomas, of Illinois, proposed, as a
compromise, that Missourl should be admitted to the
Union with slavery, but that in all the remaining terri-
tory north of 36 degrees and 30 minutes north latitude,
slavery should be forever prohibited. This amendment
was adopted in the Senate by 24 to 20, and in the House
by 90 to 87. Of the affirmative votes in the House only
fourteen were from the North, and nearly all of these
fourteen members became so unpopular at home that
they lost their seats in the next election. The Missouri
Compromise was generally considered a victory for the
South, but one great Southerner considered it the death-
knell of the Union. Thomas Jefferson was still living, at
the age of seventy-seven. He saw what this sectional rift
portended, and he wrote to John Holmes, one of his cor-
respondents, under date of April 22, 1820:

This momentous question, like a fire-bell in the night,
awakened me and filled me with terror. I considered it at once
as the knell of the Union. It is hushed, indeed, for the moment.
But this is a reprieve only, not a final sentence. A geographical
line, coinciding with a marked principle, moral and political,
once conceived and held up to the angry passions of men, will
never be obliterated, and every new irritation will mark it
deeper and deeper.

Nearly all of the emancipationists, during the decade
following the adoption of the Compromise, were in the
slaveholding states, since the evil had its seat there. The
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Colonization Society’s headquarters were in Washington
City. Its president, Bushrod Washington, was a Virgin-
ian, and James Madison, Henry Clay, and John Ran-
dolph, leading Southerners, were its active supporters.
The only newspaper devoted specially to the cause (the
Genius of Universal Emancipation), edited by Benjamin
Lundy and William Lloyd Garrison, was published in the
city of Baltimore. This paper was started in 1829, but
it was short-lived. Mr. Garrison soon perceived that
colonization, depending upon voluntary emancipation
alone, would never bring slavery to an end, since emanci-
pation was doubtful and sporadic, while the natural in-
crease of slaves was certain and vastly greater than their
possible deportation. For this reason he began to advo-
cate emancipation without regard to colonization. This
policy was so unpopular in Maryland and Virginia that
his subscription list fell nearly to zero, and this compelled
the discontinuance of the paper and his removal to an-
other sphere of activity. He returned to his native state,
Massachusetts, and there started another newspaper,
entitled the Liberator, in 1831. The first anti-slavery
crusade in the North thus had its beginning. It did not
take the form of a political party. It was an agitation, an
awakening of the public conscience. Its tocsin was imme-
diate emancipation, as opposed to emancipation condi-
tioned upon deportation.

The slaveholders were alarmed by this new movement
at the North. They thought that it aimed to incite slave
insurrection. The governor of South Carolina made it the
subject of a special message. The legislature of Georgia
passed and the governor signed resolutions offering a
reward of $5000 to anybody who would bring Mr. Garri-
son to that state to be tried for sedition. The mayor

- of Boston was urged by prominent men in the South to
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suppress the Liberator, although the paper was then so
obscure at home that the mayor had never seen a copy of
it, or even heard of its existence. The fact that there was
any organized expression of anti-slavery thought any-
where was first made generally known at the North by
the extreme irritation of the South; and when the temper
of the latter became known, the vast majority of North-
ern people sided with their Southern brethren. They
were opposed to anything which seemed likely to lead to
slave insurrection or to a disruption of the Union. The
abolitionist agitation seemed to be a provocation to both.
Hence arose anger and mob violence against the aboli-
tionists everywhere. This feeling took the shape of a
common understanding not to countenance any discus-
sion of the slavery question in any manner or anywhere.
The execution of this tacit agreement fell for the most
part into the hands of the disorderly element of society,
but disapproval of the Garrisonian crusade was expressed
by men of the highest character in the New England
States, such as William Ellery Channing and Dr.
Francis Wayland. The latter declined to receive the
Liberator, when it was sent to him gratuitously.

What was going on in the South during the thirties and
forties of the last century? There were varying shades of
opinion and mixed motives and fluctuating political cur-
rents. In the first place cotton-growing had been made
profitable by the invention of the cotton-gin. This
machine for separating the seeds from the fibre of the
cotton plant caused an industrial revolution in the world,
and its moral consequences were no less sweeping. It
changed the slaveholder’s point of view of the whole
slavery question. The previously prevailing idea that
slavery was morally wrong, and an evil to both master



INTRODUCTION xxxiii

and slave, gradually gave way to the belief that it was
beneficial to both, that it was an agency of civilization
and a means of bringing the blessings of Christianity to
the benighted African. This change of sentiment in the
South, which became very marked in the early thirties,
has been ascribed to the bad language of the abolitionists
of the North. People said that the prime cause of the
trouble was that Garrison and his followers did not speak
easy. They were too vociferous. They used language cal-
culated to make Southerners angry and to stir up slave
insurrection. But how could anybody draw the line
between different tones of voice and different forms of
expression? Thomas Jefferson was not a speak-easy. He
said that one hour of slavery was fraught with more
misery than ages of that which led us to take up arms
against Great Britain. If Garrison ever said anything
more calculated to incite slaves to insurrection than that,
I cannot recall it. On the other hand, Elijah Lovejoy, at
Alton, Illinois, was a speak-easy. He did not use any
violent language, but he was put to death by a mob for
making preparations to publish a newspaper in which
slavery should be discussed in a reasonable manner, if
there was such a manner.

Nevertheless, the Garrisonian movement was errone-
ously interpreted at the South as an attempt to incite
slaveinsurrection with the attendant horrors of rapine and
bloodshed. There were no John Browns then, and Gar-
rison himself was a non-resistant, but since insurrection
was a possible consequence of agitation, the Southern
people demanded that the agitation should be put down
by force. As that could not be done in any lawful way,
and since unlawful means were ineffective, they consid-
ered themselves under a constant threat of social up-
heaval and destruction. The repeated declaration of
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Northern statesmen that there never would be any out-
side interference with slavery in the states where it ex-
isted, did not have any quieting effect upon them. The
fight over the Missouri Compromise had convinced them
that the North would prevent, if possible, the extension
of slavery to the new territories, and that this meant con-
fining the institution to a given space, where it would
be eventually smothered. It might last a long time in its
then boundaries, but it would finally reach a limit where
its existence would depend upon the forbearance of its
enemies. Then the question which perplexed Thomas
Jefferson would come up afresh: ‘“What shall be done
with the blacks?” Mr. Garrott Brown, of Alabama, a
present-day writer of ability and candor, thinks that the
underlying question in the minds of the Southern people
in the forties and fifties of the last century was not chiefly
slavery, but the presence of Africans in large numbers,
whether bond or free. This included the slavery question
as a dollar-and-cent proposition and something more.
Mrs. Fanny Kemble Butler, who lived on a Georgia plan-
tation in the thirties, said that the chief obstacle to eman-
cipation was the fact that every able-bodied negro could
be sold for a thousand dollars in the Charleston market.
Both fear and cupidity were actively at work in the
Southern mind.

In short, there was already an irrepressible conflict in
our land, although nobody had yet used those words.
There was a fixed opinion in the North that slavery was
an evil which ought not to be extended and enlarged;
that the same reasons existed for curtailing it as for stop-
ping the African slave trade. There was a growing opin-
ion in the South that such extension was a vital necessity
and that the South in contending for it was contending
for existence. The prevailing thought in that quarter was
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that the Southern people were on the defensive, that they
were resisting aggression. In this feeling they were sin-
cere and they gave expression to it in very hot temper.

General W. T. Sherman, who was at the head of an
institution of learning for boys in Louisiana in 1859, felt
that he was treading on underground fires. In December
of that year he wrote to Thomas Ewing, Jr.:

Negroes in the great numbers that exist here must of ne-
cessity be slaves. Theoretical notions of humanity and reli-
gion cannot shake the commercial fact that their labor is of
great value and cannot be dispensed with. Still, of course,
I wish it never had existed, for it does make mischief. No
power. on earth can restrain opinion elsewhere and these
opinions expressed beget a vindictive feeling. The mere
dread of revolt, sedition, or external interference makes men,
ordinarily calm, almost mad. I, of course, do not debate the
question, and moderate as my views are, I feel that I am
suspected, and if I do not actually join in the praises of
slavery I may be denounced as an abolitionist.?

1 General W. T. Sherman as College President, p. 88.
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THE
LIFE OF LYMAN TRUMBULL

CHAPTER 1

ANCESTRY AND EARLY LIFE

Tuze subject of this memoir was born in Colchester,
Connecticut, October 12, 1813. The Trumbull family
was the most illustrious in the state, embracing three
governors and other distinguished men. All were de-
scendants of John Trumbull (or rather “Trumble” 1), a
cooper by trade, and his wife, Ellenor Chandler, of New-
castle, England, who migrated to Massachusetts in 1639,
and settled first in Roxbury and removed to Rowley in the
following year. T'wo sons were born to them in Newcastle-
on-Tyne: Beriah, 1637 (died in infancy), and John, 1639.

The latter at the age of thirty-one removed to Suffield,

“Connecticut. He married and had four sons: John,
Joseph, Ammi, and Benoni.

Captain Benoni Trumbull, married to Sarah Drake
and settled in Lebanon, Connecticut, had a son, Benja-
min, born May 11, 1712.

This Benjamin, married to Mary Brown of Hebron,
Connecticut, had a son, Benjamin, born December 19,
1735.

This son was graduated at Yale College in 1759, and
studied for the ministry; he was ordained in 1760 at
North Haven, Connecticut, where he officiated nearly

! Stuart’s Life of Jonathan Trumbull says that the family name was spelled
“Trumble” until 1766, when the second syllable was changed to *“bull.”
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sixty years, his preaching being interrupted only by the
Revolutionary War, in which he served both as soldier
and as chaplain. He was the author of the standard
colonial history of Connecticut. He was married to Miss
Martha Phelps in 1760. They had two sons and five
daughters.

The elder son, Benjamin, born in North Haven,
September 24, 1769, became a lawyer and married
Elizabeth Mather, of Saybrook, Connecticut, March 15,
1800, and settled in Colchester, Connecticut. The wife
was a descendant of Rev. Richard Mather, who migrated
from Liverpool, England, to Massachusetts in 1635, and
was the father of Increase Mather and grandfather of
Cotton Mather, both celebrated in the church history of
New England. Eleven children were born to these par-
ents, of whom Lyman was the seventh. This Benjamin
Trumbull was a graduate of Yale College, representative
in the legislature, judge for the probate districts of East
Haddam and Colchester, and died in Henrietta, Jackson
County, Michigan, June 14, 1850, aged eighty-one. His
wife died October 20, 1828, in her forty-seventh year.
Lyman Trumbull was thus in the seventh generation of
the Trumbulls in America.!

Five brothers and two sisters of Lyman reached ma-
turity. A family of this size could not be supported by
the fees earned by a country lawyer in the early part of

1 Joseph, the second son of the John above mentioned, who had settled in
Suffield, Connecticut, in 1670, removed to Lebanon. He was the father of
Jonathan Trumbull (1710-1785), who was governor of Connecticut during the
Revolutionary War, and who was the original “Brother Jonathan,” to whom
General Washington gave that endearing title, which afterwards came to
personify the United States as ‘“John Bull” personifies England. (Stuart’s
Jonathan Trumbull, p. 697.) His son Jonathan (1740-1809) was a Representa-
tive in Congress, Speaker of the House, Senator of the United States, and
Governor of Connecticut. John Trumbull (1756-1843), another son of
“Brother Jonathan,” was a distinguished painter of historical scenes and of
portraits.
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the nineteenth century. The only other resource avail-
able was agriculture. Thus the Trumbull children began
life on a farm and drew their nourishment from the soil
cultivated by their own labor. It is recorded that, al-
though the father and the grandfather of Lyman were
graduates of Yale College, chill penury prevented him
from having similar advantages of education. His school-
ing was obtained at Bacon Academy, in Colchester,
which was of high grade, and second only to Yale among
the educational institutions of the state. Here the boy
Lyman took the lessons in mathematics that were cus-
tomary in the academies of that period, and became con-
versant with Virgil and Cicero in Latin and with Xeno-
phon, Homer, and the New Testament in Greek.

The opportunities to put an end to one’s existence are
so common to American youth that it is cause for wonder
that so many of them reach mature years. Young Trum-
bull was not lacking in such facilities. The following inci-
dent is well authenticated, being narrated in part in his
own handwriting:

When about thirteen years old he was playing ball one cold
day in the family yard. The well had a low curbing around
it and was covered by a round flat stone with a round hole in
the top of it. He ran towards the well for the ball, which he
picked up and threw quickly. As he did so his foot slipped on
the ice and he went head first down the well. His recollection
of the immediate details is vague, but he did not break his neck
or stun himself on the rocky sides, but appears to have gone
down like a diver, and somehow managed to turn in the narrow
space and come up head first. The well had an old-fashioned
sweep with a bucket on it, which his brothers promptly lowered
and he was hoisted out, drenched and cold, but apparently not
otherwise injured.

He attended school and worked on the farm until he
was eighteen years of age when he earned some money by
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teaching the district school one year at Portland, Con-
necticut. At the age of nineteen he taught school one
winter in New Jersey, returning to Colchester the follow-
ing summer. He had established a character for recti-
tude, industry, modesty, sobriety, and good manners, so
that when, in his twentieth year (1833), he decided to go
to the state of Georgia to seek employment as a school-
teacher, nearly all the people in the village assembled to
wish him godspeed on that long journey, which was made
by schooner, sailing from the Connecticut River to
Charleston, South Carolina. The voyage was tempest-
uous but safe, and he arrived at Charleston with one
hundred dollars in his pocket which his father had given
him as a start in life. This money he speedily returned
out of his earnings because he thought his father needed
it more than himself.

A memorandum made by himself records that “on the
evening of the day when he arrived at Charleston a
nullification meeting was held in a large warehouse. The
building was crowded, so he climbed up on a beam over-
head and from that elevated position overlooked a
Southern audience and heard two of the most noted
orators in the South, Governor Hayne, and John C.
Calhoun, then a United States Senator. He remembers
little of the impression they made upon a youth of
twenty, except that he thought Hayne an eloquent
speaker.”

From Charleston he went by railroad (the first one ke
had ever seen and one of the earliest put in operation in
the United States) to a point on the Savannah River
opposite Augusta, Georgia, and thence by stage to
Milledgeville, which was then the capital of Georgia.
From Milledgeville he walked seventy-five miles to Pike
County, where he had some hope of finding employment.

|
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Being disappointed there he continued his journey on
foot to Greenville, Meriwether County, where he had
more success even than he had expected, for he obtained
a position as principal of the Greenville Academy at a
salary of two hundred dollars per year in addition to the
fees paid by the pupils. This position he occupied for
three years.

While at Greenville he employed his leisure hours
reading law in the office of Hiram Warner, judge of the
superior court of Georgia, afterwards judge of the
supreme court of the state and member of Congress. In
this way he acquired the rudiments of the profession. As
soon as he had gained sufficient capital to make a start in
life elsewhere, he bought a horse, and, in March, 1837,
took the trail through the “Cherokee Tract” toward the
Northwest. This trail was a pathway formed by driving
cattle and swine through the forest from Kentucky and
Tennessee to Georgia. Dr. Parks, of Greenville, accom-
panied Trumbull during a portion of the journey. They
traveled unarmed but safely, although Trumbull carried
a thousand dollars on his person, the surplus earnings of
his three years in Georgia. For a young man of twenty-
four years without a family this was affluence in those
days.

Through Kentucky, Trumbull continued his journey
without any companion and made his entrance into
Illinois at Shawneetown, on the Ohio River, where he
presented letters of introduction from his friends in
Georgia and was cordially welcomed. After a brief stay
at that place he continued his journey to Belleville, St.
Clair County, bearing letters of introduction from his
Shawneetown friends to Adam W. Snyder and Alfred
Cowles, prominent members of the bar at Belleville.
Both received him with kindness and encouraged him to
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make his home there. This he decided to do, but he first
made a visit to his parental home in Colchester, going
on horseback by way of Jackson, Michigan, near which
town three of his older brothers, David, Erastus, and
John, had settled as farmers.

Returning to Belleville in August, 1837, he entered the .
law office of Hon. John Reynolds, ex-governor of the
state, who was then a Representative in Congress and
was familiarly known as the “Old Ranger.” Reynolds
held, at one time and another, almost every office that
the people of Illinois could bestow, but his fame rests on
historical writings composed after he had withdrawn
from public life.?

For how long a time Trumbull’s connection with
Governor Reynolds continued, our records do not say,
but we know that he had an office of his own in Belleville
three years later, and that his younger brother George
had joined him as a student and subsequently became his
partner.

The practice of the legal profession in those days was
accomplished by “riding on the circuit,” usually on
horseback, from one county seat to another, following the
circuit judge, and trying such cases as could be picked up
by practitioners en route, or might be assigned to them
by the judge. Court week always brought together a
crowd of litigants and spectators, who came in from the

! Reynolds wrote a Pioneer History of Illinois from 1637 to 1818, and also a
larger volume entitled My Own Times. The latter is the more important of the
two. Although crabbed in style, it is an admirable compendium of the social,
political, and personal affairs of Illinois from 1800 to 1850. Taking events at
random, in short chapters, without connection, circumlocution, or ornament,
he says the first thing that comes into his mind in the fewest possible words,
makes mistakes of syntax, but never goes back to correct anything, puts down
small things and great, tells about murders and lynchings, about footraces in
which he took part, and a hundred other things that are usually omitted in
histories, but which throw light on man in the social state, all interspersed with
sound and shrewd judgments on public men and events.
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surrounding country with their teams and provisions,
and often with their wives and children, and who lived
in their own covered wagons. The trial of causes was the
principal excitement of the year, and the opposing law-
yerswere “sized up”’ by juries and audience with a pretty
close approach to accuracy. After adjournment for the
day, the lawyers, judges, plaintiffs, defendants, and lead-
ing citizens mingled together in the country tavern,
talked politics, made speeches or listened to them, cracked
jokes and told stories till bedtime, and took up the unfin-
ished lawsuit, or a new one, the next day. In short,
court week was circus, theatre, concert, and lyceum to the
farming population, but still more was it a school of
politics, where they formed opinions on public affairs
and on the mental calibre of the principal actors therein.

Two letters written by Trumbull in 1837 to his father
in Colchester have escaped the ravages of time. Neither
envelopes nor stamps existed then. Each letter con-
sisted of four pages folded in such a manner that the
central part of the fourth page, which was left blank,
received the address on one side and a wafer or a daub of
sealing wax on the other. The rate of postage was twenty-
five cents per letter, and the writers generally sought to
get their money’s worth by taking a large sheet of paper
and filling all the available space. Prepayment of postage
was optional, but the privilege of paying in advance was
seldom availed of, the writers not incurring the risk of
losing both letters and money. Irregularity in the mails
is noted by Trumbull, who mentions that a letter from
Colchester was fifteen days en route, while a newspaper
made the same distance in ten.

In a letter dated October 9, 1837, he tells his father
that he is already engaged in a law case involving the
ownership of a house. If he finds that he can earn his
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living in the practice of law, he shall like Belleville very
much. In the same missive he tells his sister Julia that
balls and cotillions are frequent in Belleville, and that he
had attended one, but did not dance. It was the first time
he had attended a social gathering since he left home in
1833. He adds, “There are more girls here than I was
aware of. At the private party I attended, there were
about fifteen, all residing in town.” The writer was then
at the susceptible age of twenty-four.

The other letter gives an account of the Alton riot and
the killing of Rev. Elijah P. Lovejoy. This is one of the
few contemporary accounts we have of that shocking
event. Although he was not an eye-witness of the riot,
the facts as stated are substantially correct, and the com-
ments give us a view of the opinions of the writer at the
age of twenty-four, touching a subject in which he was
destined to play an important part. The letter is sub-
joined: ’

BEeLLEVILLE, SUNDAY, Nov. 12, 1837,

DEAr FATHER: Since my last to you there has been a mob to
put down Abolitionism, in Alton, thirty-five miles northwest
of this place, in which two persons were killed and six or seven
badly wounded. The immediate cause of the riot was the
attempt by a Mr. Lovejoy to establish at Alton a religious
newspaper in which the principles of slavery were sometimes
discussed. Mr. Lovejoy was a Presbyterian minister and for-
merly edited a newspaper in St. Louis, but having published
articles in his paper in relation to slavery which were offensive
to the people of St. Louis, a mob collected, broke open his
office, destroyed his press and type and scattered it through
the streets. Immediately after thistransaction, which wasabout
a year since, Mr. Lovejoy left St. Louis, and removed to Alton,
where he attempted to re-establish his press, but he had not
been there long before a mob assembled there also, broke into
his office and destroyed his press. In a short time Mr. Lovejoy
ordered another press which, soon after its arrival in Alton,
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was taken from the warehouse (where it was deposited), by a
mob, and in like manner destroyed. Again he ordered still
another press, which arrived in Alton on the night of the 7th
inst., and was safely deposited in a large stone warehouse four
or five storeys high.

Previous to the arrival of this press, the citizens of Alton held
several public meetings and requested Mr. L. to desist from
attempting to establish his press there, but he refused to do so.
Heretofore no resistance had ever been offered to the mob, but
on the night of the 8th inst., as it was supposed that another
attempt might possibly be made to destroy the press, Mr. L.
and some 18 or 20 of his friends armed themselves and re-
mained in the warehouse, where Mr. Gilman, one of the
owners of the house, addressed the mob from a window, and
urged them to desist, told them that there were several armed
men in the house and that they were determined to defend
their property. The mob demanded the press, which not being
given them, they commenced throwing stones at the house and
attempted to get into it. Those from within then fired and
killed a man of the name of Bishop. The mob then procured
arms, but were unable to get into the house. At last they
determined on firing it, to which end, as it was stone, they had
to get on the roof, which they did by means of a ladder. The
firing during all this time, said to be about an hour, was con-
tinued on both sides. Mr. Lovejoy having made his appearance
near one of the doors was instantly shot down, receiving four
balls at the same moment. Those within agreed to surrender if
their lives would be protected, and soon threw open the doors
and fled. Several shots were afterward fired, but no one was
seriously injured. The fire was then extinguished and the press
taken and destroyed.

So ended this awful catastrophe which, as you may well sup-
pose, has created great excitement through this section of the
country. Mr. Lovejoy is said to have been a very worthy man,
and both friends and foes bear testimony to the excellence of his
private character. Here, the course of the mob is almost uni-
versally reprobated, for whatever may have been the senti-
ments of Mr. Lovejoy, they certainly did not justify the mob
taking his life. It is understood here that Mr. L. was never in
the habit of publishing articles of an insurrectionary character,

.
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but he reasoned against slavery as being sinful, as a moral and
political evil.

His death and the manner in which he was slain will make
thousands of Abolitionists, and far more than his writings
would have made had he published his paper an hundred years.
This transaction is looked on here, as not only a disgrace to
Alton, but to the whole State. As much as I am opposed to the
immediate emancipation of the slaves and to the doctrine of
Abolitionism, yet I am more opposed to mob violence and out-
rage, and had I been in Alton, I would have cheerfully marched
to the rescue of Mr. Lovejoy and his property.

Yours very affectionately,
Lyman TruMBULL.

After three years of riding on the circuit, Trumbull
was elected, in 1840, a member of the lower house of the
state legislature from St. Clair County. In politics he was
a Democrat as was his father before him. This was the
twelfth general assembly of the state. Among his fellow
members were Abraham Lincoln, E. D. Baker, William
A. Richardson, John J. Hardin, John A. McClernand,
William H. Bissell, Thomas Drummond, and Joseph
Gillespie, all of whom were destined to higher positions.

Trumbull was now twenty-seven years of age. He soon
attracted notice as a debater. His style of speaking was
devoid of ornament, but logical, clear-cut, and dignified,
and it bore the stamp of sincerity. He had a well-
furnished mind, and was never at loss for words. Nor
was he ever intimidated by the number or the prestige of
his opponents. He possessed calm intellectual courage,
and he never declined a challenge to debate; but his man-
ner toward his opponents was always that of a high-bred
gentleman.

On the 27th of February, 1841, Stephen A. Douglas,
who was Trumbull’s senior by six months, resigned the
office of secretary of state of Illinois to take a seat on
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the supreme bench, and Trumbull was appointed to the
vacancy. There had been a great commotion in state
politics over this office before Trumbull was appointed to
it. Under the constitution of the state, the governor had
the right to appoint the secretary, but nothing was said
in that instrument about the power of removal. Alex-
ander P. Field had been appointed secretary by Governor
Edwards in 1828, and had remained in office under
Governors Reynolds and Duncan. Originally a strong
Jackson man, he was now a Whig. When Governor
Carlin (Democrat) was elected in 1838 he decided to
make a new appointment, but Field refused to resign and
denied the governor’s right to remove him. The State
Senate sided with Field by refusing to confirm the new
appointee, John A. McClernand. After the adjournment
of thelegislature, the governor reappointed McClernand,
who sued out a writ of quo warranto 1o oust Field. The
supreme court, consisting of four members, three of whom
were Whigs, decided in favor of Field. The Democrats
then determined to reform the judiciary. They passed
a bill in the legislature adding five new judges to the
supreme bench. “It was,” says historian Ford, “con-
fessedly a violent and somewhat revolutionary measure
and could never have succeeded except in times of great
party excitement.” In the mean time Field had retired
and the governor had appointed Douglas secretary of
state, and Douglas was himself appointed one of the five
new members of the supreme court. Accordingly he
resigned, after holding the office only two months, and
Trumbull was appointed to the vacancy without his own
solicitation or desire.

Two letters written by Trumbull in 1842 acquaint us
with the fact that his brother Benjamin had removed
with his family from Colchester to Springfield and was
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performing routine duties in the office of the secretary of
state, while Trumbull occupied his own time for the most
part in the practice of law before the supreme court. He
adds: “I make use of one of the committee rooms in the
State House as a sleeping-room, so you see I almost live
in the State House, and am the only person who sleeps in
it. The court meets here and all the business I do is
within the building.” Not quite all, for in another letter
(November 27, 1842) he confides to his sister Julia that
a certain young lady in Springfield was as charming as
ever, but that he had not offered her his hand in mar-
riage, and that even if he should do so, it was not cer-
tain that she would accept it.

Trumbull had held the office of secretary of state two
years when his resignation was requested by Governor
Carlin’s successor in office, Thomas Ford, author of a
Hustory of Illinois from 181 to 1847. In his book Ford
tells his reasons for asking Trumbull’s resignation. They
had formed different opinions respecting an important
question of public policy, and Trumbull, although hold-
ing a subordinate office, had made a public speech in
opposition to the governor’s views.! Of course hedid this

1 The following correspondence passed between them:

SpPrRINGFIELD, March 4, 1843.
Lyman TrumsBuLL, Esq.,

DEaR Sir: It is my desire, in pursuance of the expressed wish of the
Democracy, to make a nomination of Secretary of State, and I hope you will
enable me to do so without embarrassing myself. I am most respectfully,

Your obedient servant,
Traomas Forp.

SeriNGFIELD, March 4, 1843.
To His ExceLLExcy, THoMAS Forp:

Sir, — In reply to your note of this date this moment handed me, I have
only to state that I recognize fully your right, at any time, to make a nomina-
tion of Secretary of State.

Yours respectfully,
LymaN TRUMBULL.
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on his own responsibility as a citizen and a member of
the same party as the governor. He acknowledged the
governor’s right to remove him, and he made no com-
plaint against the exercise of it.

The question of public policy at issue between Ford
and Trumbull related to the State Bank, which had
failed in February, 1842, and whose circulating notes,
amounting to nearly $3,000,000, had fallen to a discount
of fifty cents on the dollar. Acts legalizing the bank’s
suspension had been passed from time to time and things
had gone from bad to worse. At this juncture a new bill
legalizing the suspension for six months longer was pre-
pared by the governor and at his instance was reported
favorably by the finance committee of the House. Trum-
bull opposed this measure, and made a public speech
against it. He maintained that it was disgraceful and
futile to prolong the life of this bankrupt concern. He de-
manded that the bank be put in liquidation without
further delay.

When Trumbull’s resignation as secretary became
known, the Democratic party at the state capital was
rent in twain. Thirty-two of its most prominent members,
including Virgil Hickox, Samuel H. Treat, Ebenezer
Peck, Mason Brayman, and Robert Allen, took this occa-
sion to tender him a public dinner in a letter expressing
their deep regret at his removal and their desire to show
the respect in which they held him for his conduct of the
office, and for his social and gentlemanly qualities. A
copy of this invitation was sent to the State Register, the
party organ, for publication. The publishers refused to
insert it, on the ground that it “would lead to a con-
troversy out of which no good could possibly arise, and
probably much evil to the cause.” Thereupon the signers
of the invitation started a new paper under the watch-
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word “Fiat Justitia, Ruat Cceelum,” entitled the Inde-
pendent Democrat, of which Number 1, Volume 1, was a
broadside containing the correspondence between Trum-
bull and the intending diners, together with sarcastic
reflections on the time-serving publishers of the State
Register. Trumbull’s reply to the invitation, however,
expressed his sincere regret that he had made arrange-
ments, which could not be changed, to depart from
Springfield before the time fixed for the dinner. He
returned to Belleville and resumed the practice of his
profession.

Charles Dickens was then making his first visit to the
United States, and he happened to pass through Belle-
ville while making an excursion from St. Louis to Looking
Glass Prairie. His party had arranged beforehand for a
noonday meal at Belleville, of which place, as it pre-
sented itself to the eye of a stranger in 1842, he gives the
following glimpse: ’

Belleville was a small collection of wooden houses huddled
together in the very heart of the bush and swamp. Many of
them had singularly bright doors of red and yellow, for the place
had lately been visited by a traveling painter “who got along,”
as I was told, “by eating his way.” The criminal court was sit-
ting and was at that moment trying some criminals for horse-
stealing, with whom it would most likely go hard; for live stock
of all kinds, being necessarily much exposed in the woods, is
held by the community in rather higher value than human life;
and for this reason juries generally make a point of finding all
men indicted for cattle-stealing, guilty, whether or no. The
horses belonging to the bar, the judge and witnesses, were tied
to temporary racks set roughly in the road, by which is to be
understood a forest path nearly knee-deep in mud and slime.

There was an hotel in thig place which, like all hotels in
America, had its large dining-room for a public table. It was
an odd, shambling, low-roofed outhouse, half cow-shed and half
kitchen, with a coarse brown canvas tablecloth, and tin sconces
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stuck against the walls, to hold candles at supper-time. The
horseman had gone forward to have coffee and some eatables
prepared and they were by this time nearly ready. He had
ordered ‘“wheat bread and chicken fixings” in preference to
“corn bread and common doings.” The latter kind of refection
includes only pork and bacon. The former comprehends broiled
ham, sausages, veal cutlets, steaks, and such other viands of
that nature as may be supposed by a tolerably wide poetical
construction “to fix”’ a chicken comfortably in the digestive
organs of any lady or gentleman.!

A few months later, Trumbull made another journey
to Springfield to be joined in marriage to Miss Julia M.
Jayne, a daughter of Dr. Gershom Jayne, a physician of
that city — a young lady who had received her education
at Monticello Seminary, with whom he passed twenty-
five years of unalloyed happiness. The marriage took place
on the 21st of June, 1843, and Norman B. Judd served as
groomsman. Miss Jayne had served in the capacity of
bridesmaid to Mary Todd at her marriage to Abraham
Lincoln on the 4th of November preceding. There was a
wedding journey to Trumbull’s old home in Connecticut,
by steamboat from St. Louis to Wheeling, Virginia, by
stage over the mountains to Cumberland, Maryland, and
thence by rail via Baltimore, Philadelphia, and New
York. After visiting his own family, a journey was made
to Mrs. Trumbull’s relatives at Stockbridge, Massachu-
setts, including her great-grandfather, a marvel of indus-
try and longevity, ninety-two years of age, a cooper by
trade, who was still making barrels with his own hands.
This fact is mentioned in a letter from Trumbull to his
father, dated Barry, Michigan, August 20, 1843, at which
place he had stopped on his homeward journey to visit

! American Notes, chap. x1u1. The reason why horses were more precious
than human life was that when the frontier farmer lost his work-team, he faced
starvation. Both murder and horse-stealing were then capital offenses, the
latter by the court of Judge Lynch.
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his brothers. One page of this letter is given up to glowing
accounts of the infant children of these brothers. And
here it is fitting to say that all these faded and time-
stained epistles to his father and his brothers and sisters,
from first to last, are marked by tender consideration and
unvarying love and generosity. Not a shadow passed
between them.

The return journey from Michigan to Belleville was
made by stage-coach. October 12, 1843, Mrs. Trumbull
writes to her husband’s sisters in Colchester that she has
arrived in her new home. “We are boarding in a private
family,” she says, “have two rooms which Mrs. Black-
well, the landlady, has furnished neatly, and for my part,
I am anticipating a very delightful winter. Lyman is now
at court, which keeps him very much engaged, and I am
left to enjoy myself as best I may until G. comes around
this afternoon to play chess with me.’

May 4, 1844, the first child was born to Lyman and
Julia Trumbull, a son, who took the name of his father,
but died in infancy. July 2, 1844, Trumbull writes to his
father that the most disastrous flood ever known, since
the settlement of the country by the whites, has devas-
tated the bottom lands of the Mississippi, Missouri, and
Illinois Rivers. He also gives an account of the killing of
Joseph Smith, the Mormon prophet, who was murdered
by a mob in the jail at Carthage, Hancock County, after
he had surrendered himself to the civil authorities on
promise of a fair trial and protection against violence; and
says that he has rented a house which he shall occupy
soon, and invites his sister Julia to come to Belleville and
make her home in his family.

In 1845, Benjamin Trumbull, Sr., sold his place in
Colchester and removed with his two daughters to
Henrietta, Michigan, where three of his sons were already
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settled as farmers. It appears from letters that passed
between the families that none of the brothers in Michi-
gan kept horses, the farm work being done by oxen exclu-
sively. The nearest church was in the town of Jackson,
but the sisters were not able to attend the services for
want of a conveyance. They were prevented by the same
difficulty from forming acquaintances in their new habi-
tat. In a letter to his father, dated October 26, Trumbull
delicately alludes to the defect in the housekeeping
arrangements in Michigan, and says that anything needed
to make his father and sisters comfortable and con-
tented, that he can supply, will never be withheld. His
brother George writes a few days later offering a con-
tribution of fifty dollars to buy a horse, saying that good
ones can be bought in Illinois at that price. George adds:
“Qur papers say considerable about running Lyman for
governor. No time is fixed for the convention yet, and I
don’t think he has made up his mind whether to be a
candidate or not.”

The greatest drawback of the Trumbull family at
this time, and, indeed, of all the inhabitants roundabout,
was sickness. Almost every letter opened. tells either
of a recovery from a fever, or of sufferings during a re-
cent one, or apprehensions of a new one and from these
harassing visitations no one was exempt. In a letter of
October 26 we read:

We have all been sick this fall and this whole region of
country has been more sickly than ever before known. George
and myself both had attacks of bilious fever early in September
which lasted about ten days. Since then Julia has had two
attacks, the last of which was quite severe and confined her to
the room nearly two weeks. I also have had a severe attack
about three weeks since, but it was slight. When I was sick we
sent over to St. Louis for Dr. Tiffany, and by some means the
news of our sending there, accompanied by a report that I was
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much worse than was really the case, reached Springfield, and
Dr. and Mrs. Jayne came down post haste in about a day and a
half. When they got here, I was downstairs. They only staid
overnight and started back the next morning. They had heard
that I was not expected to live.

In February, 1846, when Trumbull was in his thirty-
third year, his friends presented his name to the Demo-
cratic State Convention for the office of governor of the
state. A letter to his father gives the details of the bal-
loting in the convention. Six candidates were voted for.
On the first ballot he received 56 votes; the next highest
candidate, Augustus C. French, had 47; and the third,
John Calhoun, had 44. The historian, John Moses, says
that “the choice, in accordance with a line of precedents
which seemed almost to indicate a settled policy, fell upon
him who had achieved least prominence as a party
leader, and whose record had been least conspicuous —
Augustus C. French.”

A letter from Trumbull to his father says that his
defeat was due to the influence of Governor Ford, whose
first choice was Calhoun, but who turned his following
over to French in order to defeat Trumbull. French was
elected, and made a respectable governor. Calhoun sub-
sequently went, in an official capacity, to Kansas, where
he became noted as the chief ballot-box stuffer of the pro-
slavery party in the exciting events of 1856-58.

A letter from Mrs. Trumbull to her father-in-law,
May 4, 1846, mentions the birth of a second son (Walter),
then two and a half months old. It informs him also that
her husband has been nominated for Congress by the
Democrats of the First District, the vote in the conven-
tion being, Lyman Trumbull, 24; John Dougherty, 5;
Robert Smith, 8. The political issues in this campaign are
obscure, but the result of the election was again adverse.
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The supporters of Robert Smith nominated him as a
bolting candidate; the Whigs made no nomination, but
supported Smith, who was elected.

A letter written by Mrs. Trumbull at Springfield,
December 16, 1846, mentions the first election of Stephen
A. Douglas as United States Senator. ‘“A party is to be
given in his name,” she says, “at the State House on
Friday evening under the direction of Messrs. Webster
and Hickox. The tickets come in beautiful envelopes,
and I understand that Douglas has authorized the gentle-
men to expend $50 in music, and directed the most splen-
did entertainment that was ever prepared in Springfield.”

A letter to Benjamin Trumbull, Sr., from his son of
the same name, who was cultivating a small farm near
Springfield, gives another glimpse of the family health
record, saying that “both Lyman and George have had
chills and fever two or three days this spring”’; also, that
“Lyman’s child was feeble in consequence of the same
malady; and that he [Benjamin] has been sick so much of
the time that he could not do his Spring planting without
hired help, for which Lyman had generously contributed
$20, and offered more.”

May 13, 1847, Trumbull writes to his father that he
intends to go with his family and make the latter a visit
for the purpose of seeing the members of the family in
Michigan; also in the hope of escaping the periodical
sickness which has afflicted himself and wife and little
boy, and almost every one in Belleville, during several
seasons past. As this periodical sickness was chills and
fever, we may assume that it was due to the prevalence of
mosquitoes, of the variety anopheles. Half a century was
still to pass ere medical science made this discovery, and
delivered civilized society from the scourge called
“malaria.”
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The journey to Michigan was made. An account
(dated Springfield, August 1, 1847) of the return journey
is interesting by way of contrast with the facilities for
traveling existing at the present time.

We left Cassopolis Monday about ten o’clock and came the
first 48 miles, which brought us to within five miles of La Porte.
The second night we passed at Battstown 45 miles on the road
from La Porte towards Joliet. The third night we passed at
Joliet, distance 40 miles. The fourth night we passed at
Pontiac, having traveled 60 miles to get to a stopping place,
and finding but a poor one at that. The fifth night we were at
Bloomington, distance 40 miles. The sixth day we traveled 43
miles and to within 18 miles of thisplace; theroute we came from
Cassopolis to Springfield is 294 miles, and from Brother David’s
about 386 miles. Our expenses for tavern bills from David’s to
this place were $17.75. Pretty cheap, I think.

Among other items of interest it may be noted that the
rate of postage had been reduced to ten cents per letter,
but stamps had not yet come into use. The earnings of
the Trumbull law firm (Lyman and George) for the year
1847 were $2300.

In 1847, a new constitution was adopted by the state of
Illinois which reduced the number of judges of the su-
preme court from nine to three. The state was divided
into three grand divisions, or districts, each to select one
member of the court. After the first election one of the
judges was to serve three years, one six years, and one
nine years, at a compensation of $1200 per year each.
These terms were to be decided by lot, and thereafter the
term of each judge should be nine years. Trumbull was
elected judge for the first or southern division in 1848.
His colleagues, chosen at the same time, were Samuel H.
Treat and John D. Caton. He drew the three years’
term.

In the year 1849, Trumbull bought a brick house and



ANCESTRY AND EARLY LIFE 21

three acres of ground, with an orchard of fruit-bearing
trees, in the town of Alton, Madison County, and re-
moved thither with his family. In announcing this fact to
his father the only reason he assigns for his change of resi-
dence is that the inhabitants of Alton are mostly from the
Eastern States. Its population at that time was about
3000; that of Upper Alton, three miles distant, was 1000.
The cost of house and ground, with some additions and
improvements, was $2500, all of which was paid in cash
out of his savings. Incidentally he remarks that he has
never borrowed money, never been in debt, never signed a
promissory note, and that he hopes to pass through life
without incurring pecuniary liabilities.?

From the tone of the letter in which his change of resi-
dence is announced, the inference is drawn that Trumbull
had abandoned his law practice at Belleville with the
expectation of remaining on the bench for an indefinite
period. He accepted a reélection as judge in 1852 for a
term of nine years, yet he resigned a year and a half later
because the salary was insufficient to support his family.
Walter B. Scates was chosen as his successor on the
supreme bench. Nearly forty-five years later, Chief
Justice Magruder, of the Illinois supreme court, an-
swering John M. Palmer’s address presenting the memo-
rial of the Chicago Bar Association on the life and
services of Trumbull, recently deceased, said that no
lawyer could read the opinions handed down by the dead
statesman when on the bench, “without being satisfied

1 Mr. Morris St. P. Thomas, a close friend of Trumbull in his latter years, a
member of his law office, and administrator of his estate, made the following
statement in an interview given at 107 Dearborn Street, Chicago, June 13,
1910: “Judge Trumbull once told me that he had never in his life given a
promissory note. ‘But you do not mean,” said I, ‘that in every purchase of real
estate you ever made you paid cash down!’ ‘I do mean just that,’ the Judge
replied. ‘I never in my life gave a promissory note.’”’
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that the writer of them was an able, industrious, and fair-
minded judge. All his judicial utterances . . . are char-
acterized by clearness of expression, accuracy of state-
ment, and strength of reasoning. They breathe a spirit
of reverence for the standard authorities and abound in
copious reference to those authorities. . . . The decisions
of the court, when he spoke as its organ, are to-day
regarded as among the most reliable of its established
precedents.”



CHAPTER II

SLAVERY IN ILLINOIS

WHEN the territory comprising the state of Illinois
passed under control of the United States, negro slavery
existed in the French villages situated on the so-called
American Bottom, a strip of fertile land extending along
the east bank of the Mississippi River from Cahokia on
the north to Kaskaskia on the south, embracing the
present counties of St. Clair, Monroe, and Randolph.
The first European settlements had been made here about
1718, by colonists coming up the great river from Louisi-
ana, under the auspices of John Law’s Company of the
Indies.

The earlier occupation of the country by French
explorers and Jesuit priests from Canada had been in the
nature of fur-trading and religious propagandism, rather
than permanent colonies, although marriages had been
solemnized in due form between French men and Indian
women, and a considerable number of half-breed children
had been born. Five hundred negro slaves from Santo
Domingo were sent up the river in 1718, to work any gold
and silver mines that might be found in the Illinois country.
In fact, slavery of red men existed there to some extent,
before the Africans arrived, the slaves being captives
taken in war.

In 1784-85, Thomas Jefferson induced Rev. James
Lemen, of Harper’s Ferry, Virginia, to migrate to
Illinois in order to organize opposition to slavery in the
Northwest Territory and supplied him with money for
that purpose. Mr. Lemen came to Illinois in 1786 and set-
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tled in what is now Monroe County. He was the founder
of the first eight Baptist churches in Illinois, all of which
were pledged to oppose the doctrine and practice of
slavery. Governor William H. Harrison having for-
warded petitions to Congress to allow slavery in the
Northwest Territory, Jefferson wrote to Lemen to go, or
send an agent, to Indiana, to get petitions signed in oppo-
sition to Harrison. Lemen did so. A letter of Lemen,
dated Harper’s Ferry, December 11, 1782, says that
Jefferson then had the purpose to dedicate the North-
west Territory to freedom.?

In 1787, Congress passed an ordinance for the govern-
ment of the territory northwest of the river Ohio which
had been ceded to the United States by Virginia. The
sixth article of this ordinance prohibited slavery in said
territory. Inasmuch as the rights of persons and property
had been guaranteed by treaties when this region had
passed from France to Great Britain and later to the
United States, this article was generally construed as
meaning that no more slaves should be introduced, and
that all children born after the passage of the ordinance
should be free, but that slaves held there prior to 1787
should continue in bondage.

Immigration was mainly from the Southern States.
Some of the immigrants brought slaves with them, and
the territorial legislature passed an act in 1812 authoriz-
ing the relation of master and slave under other names.
It declared that it should be lawful for owners of negroes
above fifteen years of age to take them before the clerk of
the court of common pleas, and if a negro should agree to
serve for a specified term of years, the clerk should record
him or her as an “indentured servant.”” If the negro was

1 These facts are detailed in a paper contributed to the Illinois State Histori-
cal Society in 1908 by Joseph B. Lemen, of O'Fallon, Illinois.



SLAVERY IN ILLINOIS 25

under the age of fifteen, the owner might hold him with-
out an agreement till the age of thirty-five if male, or
thirty-two if female. Children born of negroes owing
service by indenture should serve till the age of thirty
if male, and till twenty-eight if female. This was a plain
violation of the Ordinance of 1787 and was a glaring
fraud in other respects. The negroes generally did not
understand what they were agreeing to, and in cases
where they did not agree the probable alternative was a
sale to somebody in an adjoining slave state, so that they
really had no choice. The state constitution, adopted in
1818, prohibited slavery, but recognized the indenture
system by providing that male children born of inden-
tured servants should be free at the age of twenty-one and
females at the age of eighteen. The upshot of the matter
was that there was just enough of the virus of slavery left
to keep the caldron bubbling there for two generations
after 1787, although the Congress of the Confederation
supposed that they had then made an end of it.

This arrangement did not satisfy either the incom-
ing slave-owners or those already domiciled there. Per-
sistent attempts were made while the country was still
under territorial government, to procure from Congress a
repeal of the sixth article of the Ordinance, but they were
defeated chiefly by the opposition of John Randolph, of
Roanoke, Virginia. After the state was admitted to the
Union, the pro-slavery faction renewed their efforts. They
insisted that Illinois had all the rights of the other states,
and could lawfully introduce slavery by changing the
constitution. They proposed, therefore, to call a new con-
vention for this purpose. To do so would require a two-
thirds vote of both branches of the legislature, and a
majority vote of the people at the next regular election.
A bill for this purpose was passed in the Senate by the
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requisite majority, but it lacked one vote in the House.
To obtain this vote a member who had been elected and
confirmed in his seat after a contest, and had occupied it
for ten weeks, was unseated, and the contestant previ-
ously rejected was put in his place and gave the necessary
vote. Reynolds, who was himself a convention man, says
that ““this outrage was a death-blow to the convention.”
He continues:

The convention question gave rise to two years of the most
furious and boisterous excitement that ever was visited on
Illinois. Men, women, and children entered the arena of party
warfare and strife, and families and neighborhoods were so
divided and furious and bitter against one another that it
seemed a regular civil war might be the result. Many personal
combats were indulged in on the question, and the whole coun-
try seemed to be, at times, ready and willing to resort to physi-
cal force to decide the contest. All the means known to man to
convey ideas to one another were resorted to and practiced with
energy. The press teemed with publications on the subject.
The stump orators were invoked, and the pulpit thundered
with anathemas against the introduction of slavery. The relig-
jous community coupled freedom and Christianity together,
which was one of the most powerful levers used in the con-
test.

At this time all the frontier communities were anxious
to gain additions to their population. Immigration was
cagerly sought. The arrivals were mostly from the
Southern States, the main channels of communication
being the converging rivers Ohio, Mississippi, Cumber-
land, and Tennessee. Many of these brought slaves, and
since there was no security for such property in Illinois,
they went onward to Missouri. One of the strongest
arguments used by the convention party was, that if
slavery were permitted, this tide of immigration would
pour a stream of wealth into Illinois.
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Most of the political leaders and office-holders were
convention men, but there were some notable exceptions,
among whom were Edward Coles, governor of the state,
and Daniel P. Cook, Representative in Congress, the
former a native of Virginia, and the latter of Kentucky.
Governor Coles was one of the Virginia abolitionists of
early days, who had emancipated his own slaves and
given them lands on which to earn thelr living. The
governor gave the entire salary of his term of office
($4000) for the expenses of the anti-convention contest,
and his unceasing personal efforts as a speaker and
organizer. Mr. Cook was a brilliant lawyer and orator,
and the sole Representative of Illinois in Congress, where
he was chairman of the Committee on Ways and Means,
and where he cast the vote of Illinois for J. Q. Adams for
President in 1824. Cook County, which contains the city
of Chicago, takes its name from him. He was indefatiga-
ble on the side of freedom in this campaign. Another
powerful reinforcement was found in the person of Rev.
John M. Peck, a Baptist preacher who went through the
state like John the Baptist erying in the wilderness. He
made impassioned speeches, formed anti-slavery socie-
ties, distributed. tracts, raised money, held prayer-
meetings, addressed Sunday Schools, and organized the
religious sentiment of the state for freedom. He was ably
seconded by Hooper Warren, editor of the Edwardsville
Spectator. The election took place August 2, 1824, and
the vote was 4972 for the convention, and 6640 against it.
In the counties of St. Clair and Randolph, which em-
braced the bulk of the French population, the vote was
almost equally divided — 765 for; 790 against.

In 1850, both Henry Clay and Daniel Webster con-
tended that Nature had interposed a law stronger than
any law of Congress against the introduction of slavery
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into the territory north of Texas which we had lately
acquired from Mexico. From the foregoing facts, how-
ever, it is clear that no law of Nature prevented Illinois
from becoming a slaveholding state, but only the fiercest
kind of political fighting and internal resistance. John
Reynolds (and there was no better judge) said in 1854:
“T never had any doubt that slavery would now exist in
Illinois if it had not been prevented by the famous Ordi-
nance” of 1787. The law of human greed would have
overcome every other law, including that of Congress,
but for the magnificent work of Edward Coles, Daniel P.
Cook, John Mason Peck, Hooper Warren, and their
coadjutors in 1824.

The snake was scotched, not killed, by this election.
There were no more attempts to legalize slavery by po-
litical agency, but persevering efforts were made to per-
petuate it by judicial decisions resting upon old French
law and the Territorial Indenture Act of 1812. Frequent
law suits were brought by negroes, who claimed the right
of freedom on the ground that their period of indenture
had expired, or that they had never signed an indenture,
or that they had been born free, or that their masters had
brought them into Illinois after the state constitution,
which prohibited slavery, had been adopted. In this
litigation Trumbull was frequently engaged on the side of
the colored people.

In 1842, a colored woman named Sarah Borders, with
three children, who was held under the indenture law by
one Andrew Borders in Randolph County, escaped and
made her way north as far as Peoria County. She and her
children were there arrested and confined in a jail as fugi-
tive slaves. They were brought before a justice of the
peace, who decided that they were illegally detained and
were entitled to their freedom. An appeal was taken by
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Borders to the county court, which reversed the action
of the justice. The case eventually went to the supreme
court, where Lyman Trumbull and Gustave Koerner
appeared for the negro woman in December, 1843, and
argued that slavery was unlawful in Illinois and had been
so ever since the enactment of the Ordinance of 1787.
The court decided against them.!

Trumbull was not discouraged by the decision in this
case. Shortly afterward he appeared before the supreme
court again in the case of Jarrot vs. Jarrot, in which he
won a victory which practically put an end to slavery in
the state. Joseph Jarrot, a negro, sued his mistress, Julia
Jarrot, for wages, alleging that he had been held in servi-
tude contrary to law. The plaintiff’s grandmother had
been the slave of a Frenchman in the Illinois country
before it passed under the jurisdiction of the United
States. His mother and himself had passed by descent to
Julia Jarrot, nobody objecting. Fifty-seven years had
elapsed since the passage of the Ordinance of 1787 and
twenty-six since the adoption of the state constitution,
both of which had prohibited slavery in Illinois. The pre-
vious decisions in the court of last resort had generally
sustained the claims of the owners of slaves held under
the French régime and their descendants, and also those
held under the so-called indenture system. Now, how-
ever, the court swept away the whole basis of slavery in
the state, of whatever kind or description, declaring, as
Trumbull had previously contended, that the Congress of
the Confederation had full power to pass the Ordinance of
1787, that no person born since that date could be held as
a slave in Illinois, and that any slave brought into the
state by his master, or with the master’s consent, since
that date became at once free. It followed that such per-

! Negro Servitude in Illinois, by N. Dwight Harris, p. 108.
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sons could sue and recover wages for labor performed
under compulsion, as Joseph Jarrot did.

This decision, which abolished slavery in Illinois de
facto, was received with great satisfaction by the sub-
stantial and sober-minded citizens. Although the num-
ber of aggressive anti-slavery men in the state was small
and of out-and-out abolitionists still smaller, there was a
widespread belief that the lingering snaky presence of the
institution was a menace to the public peace and a blot
upon the fair fame of the state, and that it ought to be
expunged once for all. The growth of public opinion was
undoubtedly potent in the minds of the judges, but the
untiring activity of the leading advocates in the cases of
Borders, Jarrot, ete., should not be overlooked. On this
subject Mr. Dwight Harris, in the book already cited,
says:

The period of greatest struggle and of greatest triumph for
the anti-slavery advocates was that from 1840 to 1845. The
contest during these five years was serious and stubbornly car-
ried on. It involved talent, ingenuity, determination, and perse-
verance on both sides. The abolitionists are to be accredited
with stirring up considerable interest over the state in some
of the cases. Southern sympathizers and the holders of inden-
tured servants in the southern portion of the state were
naturally considerably concerned in the decisions of the supreme
court. Still there seems to have been no widespread interest or
universal agitation in the state over this contest in the courts.
It was carried on chiefly through the benevolence of a com-
paratively small number of citizens who were actuated by a
firm belief in the evils of slavery; while the brunt of the fray
fell to a few able and devoted lawyers.

Among these were G. T. M. Davis, of Alton, Nathaniel
Niles, of Belleville, Gustave Koerner, of Belleville, and Lyman
Trumbull. James H. Collins, a noted abolition lawyer of
Chicago, should also be highly praised for his work in the Love-
joy and Willard cases, but to the other men the real victory is
to be ascribed. They were the most powerful friends of the
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negro, and lived where their assistance could be readily secured.
They told the negroes repeatedly that they were free, urged
them to leave their masters, and fought their cases in the lower
courts time and time again, often without fees or remuneration.
Chief among them was Lyman Trumbull, whose name should
be written large in anti-slavery annals.

He was a lawyer of rare intellectual endowments, and of
great ability. He had few equals before the bar in his day. In
politics he was an old-time Democrat, with no leanings toward
abolitionism, but possessing an honest desire to see justice done
the negro in Illinois. It was a thankless task, in those days of
prejudice and bitter partisan feelings, to assume the réle of
defender of the indentured slaves. It was not often unattended
with great risk to one’s person, as well as to one’s reputation
and business. But Trumbull did not hesitate to undertake the
task, thankless, discouraging, unremunerative as it was, and
to his zeal, courage, and perseverance, as well as to his ability,
is to be ascribed the ultimate success of the appeal to the
supreme court.

This disinterested and able effort, made in all sincerity of
purpose, and void of all appearance of self-elevation, rendered
him justly popular throughout the State, as well as in the region
of his home. The people of his district showed their approval of
his work and their confidence in his integrity by electing him
judge of the supreme court in 1848, and Congressman from the
Eighth District of Illinois by a handsome majority in 1854,
when it was well known that he was opposed to the Kansas-
Nebraska Bill.



CHAPTER III

FIRST ELECTION AS SENATOR

ThE repeal of the Missouri Compromise was the cause
of Trumbull’s return to an active participation in politics.
The prime mover in that disastrous adventure was
Stephen A. Douglas, who had been Trumbull’s prede-
cessor in the office of secretary of state and also one of his
predecessors on the supreme bench. He was now a
Senator of the United States, and a man of world-wide
celebrity. Born at Brandon, Vermont, in 1813, he had
lost his father before he was a year old. His mother
removed with him to Canandaigua, New York, where he
attended an academy and read law to some extent in the
office of a local practitioner. At the age of twenty, he set
out for the West to seek his fortune, and he found the
beginnings of it at Winchester, Illinois, where he taught
school for a living and continued to study law, as Trum-
bull was doing at the same time at Greenville, Georgia.
He was admitted to the bar in 1834. In 1835, he was
elected state’s attorney. Two years later he was elected
a member of the legislature by the Democrats of Morgan
County, and resigned the office he then held in order to
take the new one. In 1837, he was appointed by Presi-
dent Van Buren register of the land office at Springfield.
In the same year he was nominated for Congress in the
Springfield district before he had reached the legal age,
but was defeated by the Whig candidate, John T.
Stuart, by 35 votes in a total poll of 36,742.1 In 1840, he

! The Journal of the Illinois State Historical Society for October, 1912, con-
tains an autobiography of Stephen A. Douglas, of fifteen pages, dated Septem-
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was appointed secretary of state, and in 1841, elected
a judge of the supreme court under the circumstances
already mentioned. In 1843, he was elected to the lower
kouse of Congress and was reélected twice, but before
taking his seat the third time he was chosen by the legis-
lature, in 1846, Senator of the United States for the term
beginning March 4, 1847, and was reélected in 1852. In
Congress he had taken an active part in the annexation
of Texas, in the war with Mexico, in the Oregon Bound-
ary dispute, and in the Land Grant for the Illinois Cen-
tral Railway. Inthe Senate he held the position of Chair-
man of the Committee on Territories.

In the Democratic party he had forged to the front
by virtue of boldness in leadership, untiring industry,
boundless ambition, and self-confidence, and horse-
power. He had a large head surmounted by an abundant
mane, which gave him the appearance of a lion prepared
to roar or to crush his prey, and not seldom the resem-
blance was confirmed when he opened his mouth on the
hustings or in the Senate Chamber. As stump orator,
senatorial debater, and party manager he never had a
superior in this country. Added to these gifts, he had
a very attractive personality and a wonderful gift for
divining and anticipating the drift of public opinion. The
one thing lacking to make him a man ““not for an age but
for all time,” was a moral substratum. He was essen-
tially an opportunist. Although his private life was un-
stained, he had no conception of morals in politics, and
this defect was his undoing as a statesman.

On the 4th of January, 1854, Douglas reported from
the Senate Committee on Territories a bill to organize the

ber, 1838, which was recently found in his own handwriting by his son, Hon.
Robert M. Douglas, of North Carolina. It terminates just before his first
campaign for Congress.
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territory of Nebraska. It provided that said territory, or
any portion of it, when admitted as a state or states,
should be received into the Union with or without
* slavery, as their constitution might prescribe at the time
of their admission. The Missouri Compromise Act of
1820, which applied to this territory, was not repealed by
this provision, and it must have been plain to everybody
that if slavery were excluded from the ferritory it would
not be there when the people should come together to
form a state.

Douglas did not at first propose to repeal the Missouri
Compromise. He intended to leave the question of
slavery untouched. He did not want to reopen the agita-
tion, which had been mostly quieted by the Compromise
of 1850; but it soon became evident that if he were willing
to leave the question in doubt, others were not. Dixon,
of Kentucky, successor of Henry Clay in the Senate
and a Whig in politics, offered an amendment to the bill
proposing to repeal the Missouri Compromise outright.
Douglas was rather startled when this motion was made.
He went to Dixon’s seat and begged him to withdraw his
amendment, urging that it would reopen the contro-
versies settled by the Compromise of 1850 and delay, if
not prevent, the passage of any bill to organize the new
territory. Dixon was stubborn. He contended that the
Southern people had a right to go into the new territory
equally with those of the North, and to take with them
anything that was recognized and protected as property
in the Southern States. Dixon’s motion received imme-
diate and warm support in the South.

Two or three days later, Douglas decided to embody
Dixon’s amendment in his bill and take the conse-
quences. His amended bill divided the territory in two
parts, Kansas and Nebraska. The apparent object of
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this change was to give the Missourians a chance to make
the southernmost one a slave state; but this intention has
been controverted by Douglas’s friends in recent years,
who have brought forward a mass of evidence to show that
he had other sufficient reasons for thus dividing the ter-
ritory and hence that it must not be assumed that he
intended that one of them should be a slave state. The
evidence consists of a record of efforts put forth by citi-
zens of western Iowa in 1853-54 to secure a future state
on the opposite side of the Missouri River homogeneous
with themselves, and to promote the building of a Pacific
railway from some point near Council Bluffs along the
line of the Platte River. These efforts were heartily
seconded by Senators Dodge and Jones and Representa-
tive Henn, of Iowa. They labored with Douglas and
secured his cooperation. So Douglas himself said when he
announced the change in the bill dividing the territory
into two parts.

Most people at the present day, including myself,
would be glad to concur with this view, but we must
interpret Douglas’s acts not merely by what he said in
1854, but also by what he said and did afterwards. In
1856 he made an unjustifiable assault upon the New
England Emigrant Aid Company, for sending settlers to
Kansas, as they had a perfect right to do under the terms
of the bill; and he apologized for, if he did not actually
defend, the Missourian invaders who marched over the
border in military array, took possession of the ballot
boxes, elected a pro-slavery legislature, and then marched
back boasting of their victory. Troubles multiplied in
Douglas’s pathway rapidly after he introduced his
Nebraska Bill, and it is very likely that an equal division
of the territory between the North and South seemed to
him the safest way out of his difficulties. That was the
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customary way of settling disputes of this kind. We need
not assume, however, that he intended to do more than
give the Missourians a chance to make Kansas a slave
state if they could, for Douglas was not a pro-slavery
man at heart.

Senator Thompson, of Kentucky, once alluded to the
division of the territory embraced in the original Ne-
braska Bill into two territories, Kansas and Nebraska,
showing that his understanding was that one should be a
free state and the other a slave state, if the South could
make it such. He said:

When the bill was first introduced in 1854 it provided for the
organization of but one territory. Whence it came or how it
came scarcely anybody knows, but the senator from Illinois
(Mr. Douglas) has always had the credit of its paternity. I
believe he acted patriotically for what he thought best and
right. In a short time, however, we found a provision for a
division — for two territories — Nebraska, the larger one, to
be a free state, and as to Kansas, the smaller one, repealing the
Missouri Compromise, we of the South taking our chance for it.
That was certainly a beneficial arrangement to the North and
the bill was passed in that way.!

What were Douglas’s reasons for repealing the Mis-
souri Compromise? It was generally assumed that he did
it in order to gain the support of the South in the next
national convention of the Democratic party. In the
absence of any other sufficient motive, this will probably
be the verdict of posterity, although he always repelled
that charge with heat and indignation. A more important
question is whether there would have been any attempt
to repeal it if Douglas had not led the way. This may be
safely answered in the negative. The Southern Senators
did not show any haste to follow Douglas at first. They
generally spoke of the measure as a free-will offering of

1 Cong. Globe, July, 1856, Appendix, p. 712.
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the North, both Douglas and Pierce being Northern
men, and both being indispensable to secure its pas-
sage. Francis P. Blair, of Missouri, a competent witness,
expressed the opinion that a majority of the Southern
senators were opposed to the measure at first and were .
coerced into it by the fear that they would not be sus-
tained at home if they refused an advantage offered to
them by the North.?

The Nebraska Bill passed the Senate by a majority of
22, and the House by a majority of 13. The Democratic
party of the North was cleft in twain, as was shown by the
division of their votes in the House: 44 to 43. The bill
would have been defeated had not the administration
plied the party lash unmercifully, using the official pa-
tronage to coerce unwilling members. In this way did
President Pierce redeem his pledge to prevent any revival
of the slavery agitation during his term of office.

When the bill actually passed there was an explosion in
every Northern State. The old parties were rent asunder
and a new one began to crystallize around the nucleus
which had supported Birney, Van Buren, and Hale in
the elections of 1844, 1848, and 1852. Both Abraham Lin-
coln and Lyman Trumbull were stirred to new activities.
Both took the stump in opposition to the Nebraska Bill.

Trumbull was now forty-one years of age. He had
gained the confidence of the people among whom he
lived to such a degree that his reélection to the supreme
bench in 1852 had been unanimous. He now joined with
Gustave Koerner and other Democrats in organizing the
Eighth Congressional District in opposition to Douglas
and his Nebraska Bill. Although this district had been
originally a slaveholding region, it contained a large infu-

! Letter to the Missouri Democrat, dated March 1, 1856, quoted in P.
Ormon Ray’s Repeal of the Missouri Compromise, p. 232.
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sion of German immigration, which had poured into it
in the years following the European uprising of 1848. Of
the thirty thousand Germans in Illinois in 1850, Reynolds
estimated that fully eighteen thousand had settled in
St. Clair County. These immigrants had at first attached
themselves to the Democratic party, because its name
signified government by the people. When, however, it
became apparent to them that the Democratic party was
the ally of slavery, they went over to the opposition in
shoals, under the lead of Koerner and Hecker. Koerner
was at that time lieutenant-governor of the state, and his
separation from the party which had elected him made
a profound impression on his fellow countrymen. Hecker
was a fervid orator and political leader, and later a
valiant soldier in the Union army.

The Eighth Congressional District then embraced the
counties of Bond, Clinton, Jefferson, Madison, Marion,
Monroe, Randolph, St. Clair, and Washington. It was
the strongest Democratic district in the state, but politi-
cal parties had been thrown into such disorder by the
Nebraska Bill that no regular nominations for Congress
were made by either Whigs or Democrats. Trumbull an-
nounced himself as an anti-Nebraska Democratic candi-
date. He had just recovered from the most severe and
protracted illness of his life and was in an enfeebled con-
dition in consequence, but he made a speaking campaign
throughout the district, and was elected by 7917 votes
against 5306 cast for Philip B. Fouke, who ran inde-
pendently as a Douglas Democrat. This victory de-
feated so many of the followers of Douglas who were
candidates for the legislature that it became possible to
elect a Senator of the United States in opposition to the
regular Democracy.

If political honors were awarded according to the rules
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of quantum meruit, Abraham Lincoln would have been
chosen Senator as the successor of James Shields at this
juncture, since he had contributed more than any other
person to the anti-Nebraska victory in the state. He had
been out of public life since his retirement from the
lower house of Congress in 1848. Since then he had been
a country lawyer with a not very lucrative practice, but
a very popular story-teller. He -belonged to the Whig
party, and had followed Clay and Webster in supporting
the Compromise measures of 1850, including the new
Fugitive Slave Law, for, although a hater of slavery
himself, he believed that the Constitution required the
rendition of slaves escaping into the free states. He
was startled by the repeal of the Missouri Compromise.
Without that awakening, he would doubtless have re-
mained in comparative obscurity. He would have contin-
ued riding the circuit in central Illinois, making a scanty
living as a lawyer, entertaining tavern loungers with
funny stories, and would have passed away unhonored
and unsung. He was now aroused to new activity, and
when Douglas came to Springfield at the beginning of
October to defend his Nebraska Bill on the hustings,
Lincoln replied to him in a great speech, one of the
world’s masterpieces of argumentative power and moral
grandeur, which left Douglas’s edifice of ‘“Popular
Sovereignty ” a heap of ruins. This was the first speech
made by him that gave a true measure of his qualities. It
was the first public occasion that laid a strong hold upon
his conscience and stirred the depths of his nature. It
was also the first speech of his that the writer of this book,
then twenty years of age, ever listened to. The impres-
sion made by it has lost nothing by the lapse of time.
In Lincoln’s complete writings it is styled the Peoria
speech of October 16, 1854, as it was delivered at Peoria,
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after the Springfield debate, and' subsequently written
out by Lincoln himself for publication in the Sangamon
Journal. The Peoria speech contained a few passages of
rejoinder to Douglas’s reply to his Springfield speech. In
other respects they were the same.!

It was this speech that drew upon Lincoln the eyes of
the scattered elements of opposition to Douglas. These
elements were heterogeneous and in part discordant. The
dividing line between Whigs and Democrats still ran
through every county in the state, but there was a third
element, unorganized as yet, known as ‘‘Free-Soilers,”
who traced their lineage back to James G. Birney and
the campaign of 1844. These were numerous and active
in the northern counties, but south of the latitude
of Springfield they dwindled away rapidly. The Free-

1 Some testimony as to the effect produced upon Douglas himself by this
speech was supplied to me long afterwards from a trustworthy quarter in the
following letter: —

NEw YoRrk, Dec. 7, 1908.
My pEar MRr. WHITE:

In 1891, at his office in Chicago, Mr. W. C. Gowdy told me that Judge
Douglas spent the night with him at his house preceding his debate with Mr.
Lincoln; that after the evening meal Judge Douglas exhibited considerable
restlessness, pacing back and forth upon the floor of the room, evidently with
mental preoccupation. The attitude of Judge Douglas was so unusual that Mr.
Gowdy felt impelled to address him, and said: *“ Judge Douglas, you appear to be
ill at ease and under some mental agitation; it cannot be that you have any
anxiety with reference to the outcome of the debate you are to have with Mr.
Lincoln; you cannot have any doubt of your ability to dispose of him.”

Whereupon Judge Douglas, stopping abruptly, turned to Mr. Gowdy and
said, with great emphasis: “ Yes, Gowdy, I am troubled over the progress and
outcome of this debate. I have known Lincoln for many years, and I have con-
tinually met him in debate. I regard him as the most difficult and dangerous
opponent that I have ever met and I have serious misgivings as to what may be
the result of this joint debate.”

These in substance, and almost in exact phraseology, are the words repeated
to me by Mr. Gowdy. Faithfully yours,

Francis LYNDE STETsON.

Mr. Gowdy was a state senator in 1854 and his home was at or near Peoria.
There was no joint debate between Lincoln and Douglas at or near Gowdy’s
residence, except that of 1854.
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Soilers served as a nucleus for the crystallization of the
Republican party two years later, but in 1854 the older
organizations, although much demoralized, were still .
unbroken. Probably three fourths of the Whigs were
opposed to the Nebraska Bill in principle, and half of the
remainder were glad to avail themselves of any rift in the
Deinocratic party to get possession of the offices. There
was still a substantial fraction of the party, however,
which feared any taint of abolitionism and was likely to
side with Douglas in the new alignment.

The legislature consisted of one hundred members —
twenty-five senators and seventy-five representatives.
'T'welve of the senators had been elected in 1852 for a four
-years’ term, and thirteen were elected in 1854. Among the
former were N. B. Judd, of Chicago, John M. Palmer,
of Carlinville, and Burton C. Cook, of Ottawa, three
Democrats who had early declared their opposition to the
Nebraska Bill. The full Senate was composed of nine
Whigs, thirteen regular Democrats, and three anti-
Nebraska Democrats. A fourth holding-over senator
(Osgood, Democrat) represented a district which had
given an anti-Nebraska majority in this election. One
of the Whig members (J. L. D. Morrison) of St. Clair
County was elected simultaneously with Trumbull, but
he was a man of Southern affiliations and his vote on the
senatorial question was doubtful.

At this time there was no law compelling the two
branches of a state legislature to unite in an election to
fill a vacancy in the Senate of the United States. Accord-
ingly, when one party controlled one branch of the legis-
lature and the opposite party controlled the other, it was
not uncommon for the minority to refuse to go into joint
convention. This was the case now. In order to secure a
joint meeting, it was necessary for at least one Democrat
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to vote with the anti-Nebraska members. Mr. Osgood
did so.

In the House were forty-six anti-Nebraska men of all
descriptions and twenty-eight Democrats. One member,
Randolph Heath, of the Lawrence and Crawford Dis-
trict, did not vote in the election for Senator at any time.
Two members from Madison County, Henry L. Baker
and G. T. Allen, had been elected on the anti-Nebraska
ticket with Trumbull.

In the chaotic condition of parties it was not to be
expected that all the opponents of Douglas would coalesce:
at once. The Whig party was held together by the hope
of reaping large gains from the division of the Democrats
on the Nebraska Bill. This was a vain hope, because the
Whigs were divided also; but while it existed it fanned
the flame of old enmities. Moreover, the anti-Nebraska
Democrats in the campaign had claimed that they were
the true Democracy and that they were purifying the
party in order to preserve and strengthen it. They could
not instantly abandon that claim by voting for a Whig
for the highest office to be filled.

The two houses met in the Hall of Representatives on
February 8, 1855, to choose a Senator. Every inch of
space on the floor and lobby was occupied by members
and their political friends, and the gallery was adorned
by well-dressed women, including Mrs. Lincoln and Mrs.
Matteson, the governor’s wife, and her fair daughters.
The senatorial election had been the topic of chief con-
cern throughout the state for many months, and now the
interest was centred in a single room not more than one
hundred feet square. The excitement was intense, for
everybody knew the event was fraught with conse-
quences of great pith and moment, far transcending the
fate of any individual.
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Mr. Lincoln had been designated as the choice of a
caucus of about forty-five members, including all the
Whigs and most of the Free-Soilers, with their leader,
Rev. Owen Lovejoy, brother of the Alton martyr.

When the joint convention had been called to order,
General James Shields was nominated by Senator Ben-
jamin Graham, Abraham Lincoln by Representative
Stephen T. Logan, and Lyman Trumbull by Senator
John M. Palmer. The first vote resulted as follows:

Lincoln . . . . . . . . . . .45
SInELENE o 6% o 5 5 o b es & b dhl
Trumbull . . . . . . . . . . 5
Scattering . . . . . . . . . . 8

Total . . . . . . . . . .99

Several members of the House who had been elected as
anti-Nebraska Democrats voted for Lincoln and a few for
Shields. The vote for Trumbull consisted of Senators
Palmer, Judd, and Cook and Representatives Baker and
Allen.

On the second vote, Lincoln had 43 and Trumbull 6,
and there were no other changes. A third roll-call resulted
like the second. Thereupon Judge Logan moved an
adjournment, but this was voted down by 42 to 56. On
the fourth call, Lincoln’s vote fell to 38 and Trumbull’s
rose to 11. On the sixth, Lincoln lost two more, and
Trumbull dropped to 8.

It now became apparent by the commotion on the
Democratic side of the chamber that a flank movement
was taking place. There had been a rumor on the streets
that if the reélection of Shields was found to be impossi-
ble, the Democrats would change to Governor Matteson,
under the belief that since he had never committed him-
self to the Nebraska Bill he would be able, by reason of
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personal and social attachments, to win the votes of
several anti-Nebraska Democrats who had not voted for
Shields. This scheme was developed on the seventh call,
which resulted as follows:

Matteson . . . . . . . . . .44
Lincon . . . . . . . . . . .88
Trumbull . . . . . . . . . .9
Scattering . . . . . . . . . .7

Total..........wgg

On the eighth call, Matteson gained two votes, Lincoln
fell to 27, and Trumbull received 18. On the ninth and
tenth, Matteson had 47, Lincoln dropped to 15, and
Trumbull rose to 35.

The excitement deepened, for it was believed that the
next vote would be decisive. Matteson wanted only three
of a majority, and the only way to prevent it was to turn
Lincoln’s fifteen to Trumbull, or Trumbull’s thirty-five to
Lincoln. Obviously the former was the only safe move,
for none of Lincoln’s men would go to Matteson in any
kind of shuffle, whereas three of Trumbull’s men might
easily be lost if an attempt were made to transfer them to
the Whig leader. Lincoln was the first to see the immi-
nent danger and the first to apply the remedy. In fact
he was the only one who could have done so, since the
fifteen supporters who still clung to him would never
have left him except at his own request. He now be-
sought his friends to vote for Trumbull. Some natural
tears were shed by Judge Logan when he yielded to the
appeal. He said that the demands of principle were
superior to those of personal attachment, and he trans-
ferred his vote to Trumbull. All of the remaining four-
teen followed his example, and there was a gain of
one vote that had been previously cast for Archibald
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Williams. So the tenth and final roll-call gave Trumbull
fifty-one votes, and Matteson forty-seven. One member
still voted for Williams and one did not vote at all. Thus
the one hundred members of the joint convention were
accounted for, and Trumbull became Senator by a
majority of one.

This result astounded the Democrats. They were more
disappointed by it than they would have been by the
election of Lincoln. They regarded Trumbull as an arch
traitor. That he and his fellow traitors Palmer, Judd, and
Cook should have carried off the great prize was an
unexpected dose; but they did not know how bitter it was
until Trumbull took his seat in the Senate and opened
fire on the Nebraska Bill.

Lincoln took his defeat in good part. Later in the
evening there was a reception given at the house of Mr.
Ninian Edwards, whose wife was a sister of Mrs. Lincoln.
He had been much interested in Lincoln’s success and
was greatly surprised to hear, just before the guests began
to arrive, that Trumbull had been elected. He and his
family were easily reconciled to the result, however, since
Mrs. Trumbull had been from girlhood a favorite among
them. When she and Trumbull arrived, they were
naturally the centre of attraction. Mr. and Mrs. Lincoln
came in a little later. The hostess and her daughters
greeted them most cordially, saying that they had wished
for his success, and that while he must be disappointed,
yet he should bear in mind that his principles had won.
Mr. Lincoln smiled, moved toward the newly elected
Senator, and saying, “Not foo disappointed to con-
gratulate my friend Trumbull,” warmly shook his hand.

Lincoln’s account of this election, in a letter to Hon.
E. B. Washburne, concludes by saying:

I regret my defeat moderately, but I am not nervous about
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it. I could have headed off every combination and been elected
had it not been for Matteson’s double game — and his defeat
now gives me more pleasure than my own gives me pain. On
the whole, it was perhaps as well for our general cause that
Trumbull is elected. The Nebraska men confess that they hate
it worse than anything that could have happened. It is a great
consolation to see them worse whipped than I am. I tell them
it is their own fault —that they had abundant opportunity to
choose between him and me, which they declined, and instead
forced it on me to decide between him and Matteson.

There is no evidence that Trumbull took any steps
whatever to secure his own election in this contest.!

! The following manuscript, written by one of Lincoln’s supporters who was
himself a member of the legislature, was found among the papers of William H.
Herndon:

““In the contest for the United States Senate in the winter of 1854-55 in the
Illinois Legislature, nearly all the Whigs and some of the ‘anti-Nebraska Dem-
ocrats’ preferred Mr. Lincoln to any other man. Some of them (and myself
among the number) had been candidates and had been elected by the people
for the express purpose of doing all in their power for his election, and a great
deal of their time during the session was taken up, both in caucus and out of it,
in laboring to unite the anti-Nebraska party on their favorite, but there was
from the first, as the result proved, an insuperable obstacle to their success.
Four of the anti-Nebraska Democrats had been elected in part by Democrats,
and they not only personally preferred Mr. Trumbull, but considered his elec-
tion necessary to consolidate the union between all those who were opposed to
repeal of the Missouri Compromise and to the new policy upon the subject of
slavery which Mr. Douglas and his friends were laboring so hard to inaugurate.
They insisted that the election of Mr. Trumbull to the Senate would secure
thousands of Democratic votes to the anti-Nebraska party who would be
driven off by the election of Mr. Lincoln — that the Whig party were nearly a
unit in opposition to Mr. Douglas, so that the election of the favorite candidate
of the majority would give no particular strength in that quarter, and they
manifested a fixed purpose to vote steadily for Mr. Trumbull and not at all for
Mr. Lincoln, and thus compel the friends of Mr. Lincoln to vote for their man
to prevent the election of Governor Matteson, who, as was ascertained, could,
after the first few ballots, carry enough anti-Nebraska men to elect him. These
four men were Judd, of Cook, Palmer, of Macoupin, Cook, of LaSalle, and
Baker, of Madison. Allen, of Madison, went with them, but was not inflex-
ible, and would have voted for Lincoln cheerfully, but did not want to separate
from his Democratic friends. These men kept aloof from the caucus of both
parties during the winter. They would not act with the Democrats from
principle, and would not act with the Whigs from policy.

“When the election came off, it was evident, after the first two or three
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If Lincoln had been chosen at this time, his campaign
against Douglas for the Senate in 1858 would not have
taken place. Consequently he would not have been the
cynosure of all eyes in that spectacular contest. It was
Douglas’s prestige and prowess that drew him into the
limelight at that important juncture, and made his nom-
ination as President possible in 1860.

ballots, that Mr. Lincoln could not be elected, and it was feared that if the
balloting continued long, Governor Matteson would be elected. Mr. Lincoln
then advised his friends to vote for Mr. Trumbull; they did so, and elected him.

“Mr. Lincoln was very much disappointed, for I think that at that time it
was the height of his ambition to get into the United States Senate. He mani-
fested, however, no bitterness towards Mr. Judd or the other anti-Nebraska
Democrats, by whom practically he was beaten, but evidently thought that
their motives were right. He told me several times afterwards that the election of
Trumbull was the best thing that could have happened.

“There was a great deal of dissatisfaction throughout the state at the result
of the election. The Whigs constituted a vast majority of the anti-Nebraska
party. They thought they were entitled to the Senator and that Mr. Lincoln
by his contest with Mr. Douglas had caused the victory. Mr. Lincoln, however,
generously exonerated Mr. Trumbull and his friends from all blame in the
matter. Trumbull’s first encounter with Douglas in the Senate filled the people
of Ilinois with admiration for his abilities, and the ill-feeling caused by his
election gradually faded away.

“Sam C. Paggs.”



CHAPTER 1V

THE KANSAS WAR

TruMBULL took his seat in the Senate at the first
session of the Thirty-fourth Congress, December 3, 1855.
His credentials were presented by Senator Crittenden,
of Kentucky. Senator Cass, of Michigan, presented a
protest from certain members of the legislature of Illinois
reciting that the constitution of that state made the
judges of the supreme and circuit courts ineligible to any
other office in the state, or in the United States, during
the terms for which they were elected and one year
thereafter; affirming that Trumbull was elected judge of
the supreme court June 7, 1852, for the term of nine
years and entered upon the duties of that office June 24,
1852; that the said term of office would not expire until
1861; and that, therefore, he was not legally elected a
Senator of the United States. The papers were eventually
referred to the Committee on the Judiciary, but in the
mean time Trumbull was sworn in. Before the question
of reference was disposed of, however, Senator Seward
contended that no state could fix or define the qualifi-
cations of a Senator of the United States. He instanced
the case of N. P. Tallmadge, who had been elected a
Senator from New York while serving as a member of
the legislature of that state, although the constitution of
New York disqualified him and all other members from
such election. Tallmadge was nevertheless admitted to
the Senate and served his full term. Trumbull’s right to
his seat was decided in accordance with that precedent
by a vote of 85 to 8, on the 5th of March, 1856. Senator
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Douglas did not vote on this question, nor did he take
part in the argument on it.

The subject of burning interest in Congress was the
condition of affairs in Kansas Territory. When the bill
repealing the Missouri Compromise was pending, the
opinion had been generally expressed by its supporters
that slavery never would or could go into that region.
Several Southern Senators and most of the Northern.
Democrats had held this view. Hunter, of Virginia,
considered it utterly hopeless to expect that either
Kansas or Nebraska would ever be a slaveholding state.
Badger, of North Carolina, said that he had no more
idea of seeing a slave population in either of them than
he had of seeing it in Massachusetts. Dixon, of Ken-
tucky, held a similar view. Nor is there any reason to
doubt the sincerity of these men. Apparently the only
Southern Senator who then cherished a different belief
was Atchison, of Missouri, whose home was on the border
of Kansas and whose opinions were based upon personal
knowledge and backed by self-interest.

President Pierce appointed Andrew H. Reeder, of
Pennsylvania, governor of Kansas Territory. Reeder
was not unwilling to coperate with the South in estab-
lishing slavery in an orderly way, but was quite unpre-
pared for the tactics which had been planned by others
to expedite his movements. He called an election for a
delegate in Congress to be held on the 29th of November,
1854. An organized army of Missourians marched over
the Kansas border, seized the polling-places, and cast
1749 fraudulent votes for a pro-slavery man named
Whitfield. This was a gratuitous and unnecessary act of
violence, since the bona-fide settlers from Missouri out-
numbered the Free State men and the latter were, as
yet, unorganized and unprepared. Governor Reeder con-
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firmed the election and thus gave encouragement to the
invaders for their next attempt.

A few immigrants had already gone into the territory
from the New England States, moved by the desire of
bettering their condition in life. Some of them had been
assisted by the Emigrant Aid Company of Worcester,
Massachusetts, a society started by Eli Thayer for the
purpose of furnishing capital, by loans, to such persons
for traveling expenses and for the building of hotels,
sawmills, private dwellings, etc. These settlers from the
East were as little prepared as Reeder himself for the
sudden swoop of Missourians, and although they wrote
letters to Northern Congressmen and newspapers pro-
testing against the election of Whitfield as an act of
invasion and a barefaced fraud, nothing was done to
prevent him from taking his seat.

The next election (for members of the territorial
legislature) was fixed for the 30th of March, 1855. What
kind of preparations for it had been made in the mean
time in Missouri was plainly indicated by the following
letter, dated Brunswick, Missouri, April 20, 1855,
published in the New York Herald :

From five to seven thousand men started from Missouri to
attend the election, some to remove, but most to return to their
families with an intention, if they liked the territory, to make
it their permanent home at the earliest moment practicable.
But they intended to vote. The Missourians were many of them
Douglas men. There were one hundred and fifty voters from
this county, one hundred and seventy-five from Howard, one
hundred from Cooper. Indeed, every county furnished its
quota, and when they set out it looked like an army. They
were armed. And as there were no houses in the territory they
carried tents. Their mission was a peaceable one — to vote,
and to drive down stakes for their future homes.

After the election some 1500 of the voters sent a committee
to Mr. Reeder to ascertain if it was his purpose to ratify the
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election. He answered that it was, and said that the majority
at an election must carry the day. But it is not to be denied
that the 1500, apprehending that the governor might attempt
to play the tyrant, since his conduct had already been insidi-
ous and unjust, wore on their hats bunches of hemp. They
were resolved, if a tyrant attempted to trample on the rights of
the sovereign people, to hang him.

It was not conscious brigandage that prompted this
movement, but the simplicity of minds tutored on the
frontier and fashioned in the environment of slavery.
The fifteen hundred Missourians, who gave Governor
Reeder to understand that they would hang him on the
nearest tree if he did not ratify their invasion of Kan-
sas, had homes, farms, and families. They supported
churches and schools of a certain kind and considered
themselves qualified to civilize Africans. They were
types of the best society that they had any conception of.
Far from concealing anything that they had done, they
boasted of it openly in their newspaper organ, the
Squatter Sovereign, which published the following under
the date of April 1:

InpEPENDENCE, MO., March 31, 1855. — Several hundred
emigrants from Kansas have just entered our city. They were
preceded by the Westport and Independence brass bands.
They came in at the west side of the public square and pro-
ceeded entirely around it, the bands cheering us with fine
music, and the emigrants with good news. Immediately fol-
lowing the bands were about two hundred horsemen in regular
order. Following these were one hundred and fifty wagons,
carriages, etc. They gave repeated cheers for Kansas and
Missouri. They report that not an anti-slavery man will be in
the Legislature of Kansas. We have made a clean sweep.!

This invasion was as needless as the former one, since
the Free State men were still in the minority, counting

1 Edited by B. F. Stringfellow, author of African Slavery no Evil, St. Louis,
1854.
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actual settlers only; but the pro-slavery party were
determined to leave nothing to chance. Senator Atchison,
in a speech at Weston, Missouri, on the 9th of November,
1854, had told his constituents how to secure the prize:

When you reside in one day’s journey of the territory, and
when your peace, your quiet, and your property depend upon
your action, you can, without an exertion, send five hundred of
your young men who will vote in favor of your institution.
Should each county in the state of Missouri only do its duty,
the question will be decided quietly and peaceably at.the
ballot-box. If you are defeated, then Missouri and the other
Southern States will have shown themselves to be recreant to
their interests and will deserve their fate.!

A little later we find him writing letters like the
following to a friend in Atlanta, Georgia:

Let your young men come forth to Missouri and Kansas.
Let them come well armed, with money enough to support
them for twelve months and determined to see this thing out!
I do not see how we are to avoid a civil war; — come it will.
Twelve months will not elapse before war — civil war of the
fiercest kind — will be upon us. We are arming and preparing
for it.

Atchison was constantly spurring others to deeds of
lawlessness and violence, but he always stopped short
of committing any himself. He was probably restrained
by the fear of losing influence at Washington. It was by
no means certain that President Pierce would tolerate
everything. The sad fate of one of the companies re-
cruited in the South for immigration to Kansas is nar-
rated in the following letter, addressed to Senator
Trumbull by John C. Underwood, of Culpeper Court
House, Virginia:

Soon after the repeal of the Missouri Compromise in 1854,
! Cited in Villard’s Jokn Brown, p. 94.
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in the neighborhood of Winchester and Harper’s Ferry the pro-
ject of sending a company of young men to Kansas to make it
a slave state was much agitated. Subscriptions for that pur-
pose were asked, and the duty of strengthening our sectional
interest of slavery by adding two friendly Senators to your
honorable body, was urged with great zeal upon my neighbors.
This was long before I had heard of any movement of the New
England Aid Co., or of anybody on the part of freedom. It was
my understanding at the time that Senator Mason was the main
adviser in the project. This may not have been the case. The
history of this company will not be soon forgotten. Its taking
the train on the Baltimore and Ohio R. R. at Ilarper’s Ferry, its
exploits in Kansas up to the fall of its leader (Sharrard) at the
hands of Jones, the friend of the Democratic Gov. Geary, are all
still well remembered. The return of the company with the
dead body of their leader, and the blasted hopes of its sanguine
originators, was a gloomy day in our beautiful valley, and cre-
ated a sensation throughout the country.

Another letter among the Trumbull papers deserves a
place here, the author of which was Isaac T. Dement,
who (writing from Hudson, Illinois, January 10, 1857)
says that he was living in Kansas the previous year and
had filed his intention on one hundred and sixty acres of
land where he had a small store and a dwelling-house:

On the 3d of September last [he continues] a band of armed
men from Missouri came to my place, and after taking what
they wanted from the store, burned it and the house, and said
that if they could find me they would hang me. They said that
they had broken open a post-office and found a letter that I
wrote to Lane and Brown asking them to come and help us
with a company of Sharpe’s rifles (this is a lie); and also that I
had furnished Lane and Brown’s men with provisions (a lie),
and that I was a Free State man (that is so).

Mr. Dement hoped that Congress would do something
to compensate him for his losses.

Governor Reeder ought to have been prepared for the
second invasion. He had had sufficient warning. Unless
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he was ready to go all lengths with Atchison and String-
fellow, he ought to have declared the entire election
invalid and reported the facts to President Pierce. But he
did nothing of the kind. He merely rejected the votes of
seven election districts where the most notorious frauds
had been committed, and declared “duly elected” the
persons voted for in others. Eventually the members
holding certificates organized as a legislature and ad-
mitted the seven who had been rejected by Reeder. The
latter took an early opportunity to go to Washington
City to make a report to the President in person. He
stopped en route at his home in Easton, Pennsylvania,
where he made a public speech exposing the frauds in the
election and confirming the reports of the Free State
settlers. Stringfellow warned him not to come back. In
the Squatter Sovereign of May 29, 1855, he said:

From reports received of Reeder he never intends returning
to our borders. Should he do so we, without hesitation, say
that our people ought to hang him by the neck like a traitorous
dog, as he is, so soon as he puts his unhallowed feet upon our
shores. Vindicate your characters and the territory; and should
the ungrateful dog dare to come among us again, hang him to
the first rotten tree. A military force to protect the ballot-box!
Let President Pierce or Governor Reeder, or any other power,
attempt such a course in this, or any portion of the Union, and
that day will never be forgotten.

The “Border Ruffian” legislature proceeded to enact
the entire slave code of Missouri as laws of Kansas. It
was made a criminal offense for anybody to deny that
slavery existed in Kansas, or to print anything, or to
introduce any printed matter, making such denial.
Nobody could hold any office, even that of notary public,
who should make such denial. The crime of enticing any
slave to leave his master was made punishable with
death, or imprisonment for ten years. That of advising
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slaves, by speaking, writing, or printing, to rebel, was
punishable with death.

Reeder was removed from office by President Pierce
on the 15th of August, and Wilson Shannon, a former
governor of Ohio, was appointed as his successor.

The Free State men held a convention at Topeka in
October, 1855, and framed a state constitution, to be
submitted to a popular vote, looking to admission to the
Union. This was equivalent merely to a petition to
Congress, but it was stigmatized as an act of rebellion by
the pro-slavery party.

On the 24th of January, 1856, President Pierce sent a
special message to Congress on the subject of the dis-
turbance in Kansas. He alluded to the “angry accusa-
tions that illegal votes had been polled,” and to the
“imputations of fraud and violence”; but he relied upon
the fact that the governor had admitted some members
and rejected others and that each legislative assembly
had undoubted authority to determine, in the last
resort, the election and qualification of its own members.
Thus a principle intended to apply to a few exceptional
cases of dispute was stretched to cover a case where all
the seats had been obtained by fraud and usurpation.
“For all present purposes,” he added feebly, the “legis-
lative body thus constituted and elected was the legiti-
mate assembly of the Territory.”

This message was referred to the Senate Committee
on Territories. On the 12th of March, Senator Douglas
submitted a report from the committee, and Senator
Collamer, of Vermont, submitted a minority report.
This was the occasion of the first passage-at-arms
between Douglas and his new colleague. The report was
not merely a general endorsement of President Pierce’s
contention that it was impossible to go behind the returns
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of the Kansas election, as certified by Governor Reeder,
but it went much further in the same direction, putting
all the blame for the disorders on the New England Emi-
grant Aid Company, and practically justifying the
Missourians as a people “protecting their own firesides
from the apprehended horrors of servile insurrection and
intestine war.” Logically, from Douglas’s new stand-
point, the New Englanders had no right to settle in
Kansas at all, if they had the purpose to make it a free
state. To this complexion had the doctrine of ““popular
sovereignty”” come in the short space of two years.

Two days after the presentation of this report, Mr.
Trumbull made a three hours’ speech upon it without
other preparation than a perusal of it in a newspaper; it
had not yet been printed by the Senate. This speech
was a part of one of the most exciting debates in the an-
nals of Congress. He began with a calm but searching
review of the Kansas-Nebraska Act, dwelling first on the
failure of the measure to fix any time when the people of
a territory should exercise the right of deciding whether
they would have slavery or not. He illustrated his point
by citing some resolutions adopted by a handful of
squatters in Kansas as early as September, 1854, many
months before any legislature had been organized or
elected, in which it was declared that the squatters afore- -
said “would exercise the right of expelling from the
territory, or otherwise punishing any individual, or
individuals, who may come among us and by act, con-
spiracy, or other illegal means, entice away our slaves or
clandestinely attempt in any way or form to affect our
rights of property in the same.” These resolutions were
passed before any persons had arrived under the auspices,
or by the aid, of the New England Emigrant Aid Com-
pany; showing that, so far from being aroused to violence
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by the threatening attitude of that organization, the
Missourians were giving notice beforehand that violence
would be used upon any intending settlers who might
be opposed to the introduction of slavery.

Douglas had wonderful skill in introducing sophisms
into a discussion so deftly that his opponent would not
be likely to notice them, or would think them not worth
answering, and then enlarging upon them and leading
the debate away upon a false scent, thus convincing the
hearers that, as his opponent was weak in this particu-
lar, he was probably weak everywhere. It was Trumbull’s
forte that he never failed to detect these tricks and turns
and never neglected them, but exposed them instantly,
before proceeding on the main line of his argument. It
was this faculty that made his coming into the Senate a
welcome reinforcement to the Republican side of the
chamber. '

The report under consideration abounded in these
characteristic Douglas pitfalls. It said, for example:

Although the act of incorporation [of the Emigrant Aid
Company] does not distinctly declare that it was formed for the
purpose of controlling the domestic institutions of Kansas and
forcing it into the Union with a prohibition of slavery in her
constitution, regardless of the rights and wishes of the people as
guaranteed by the Constitution of the United States and secured by
their organic law, yet the whole history of the movement, the
circumstances in which it had its origin, and the professions and
avowals of all engaged in it rendered it certain and undeniable
that such was its object.

Here was a double sophistry: First, the implication
that, if the Emigrant Aid Company had boldly avowed
that its purpose was to control the domestic institutions
of Kansas and bring it into the Union as a free state, its
heinousness would have been plain to all; second, that the
Constitution of the United States, and the organic act
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of the territory itself, guaranteed the people against such
an outrage. But the declared object of the Nebraska
Bill was to allow the people to do this very thing by a
majority vote. Mr. Trumbull brought his flail down
upon this pair of sophisms with resounding force. In de-
bate with Senator Hale, a few days earlier, Toombs, of
Georgia, had had the manliness to say:

With reference to that portion of the Senator’s argument
justifying the Emigrant Aid Societies, — whatever may be
their policy, whatever may be the tendency of that policy to
produce strife, — if they simply aid emigrants from Massachu-
setts to go to Kansas and to become citizens of that territory,
I am prepared to say that they violate no law; and they had a
right to do it; and every attempt to prevent them from doing
so violated the law and ought not to be sustained.!

By way of justifying the Border Ruffians the report
said that when the emigrants from New England were
going through Missouri, the violence of their language
and behavior excited apprehensions that their object was
to “abolitionize Kansas as a means of prosecuting a re-
lentless warfare on the institution of slavery within the
limits of Missouri.”

What! [said Trumbull,] abolitionize Kansas! It was said on
all sides of the Senate Chamber (when the Nebraska bill was
pending) that it was never meant to have slavery go into
Kansas. What is meant, then, by abolitionizing Kansas? Is
it abolitionizing a territory already free, and which was never
meant to be anything but free, for Free State men to settle in
it? I cannot understand the force of such language. But they
were to abolitionize Kansas, according to this report, and for
what purpose? As a means for prosecuting a relentless warfare
on the institution of slavery within the limits of Missouri.
Where is the evidence of such a design? I would like to see it.
It is not in this report, and if it exists I will go as far as the
gentleman to put it down. I will neither tolerate nor counte-

1 Cong. Globe, Appendix, 1856, p. 118.
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nance by my action here or elsewhere any society which is
resorting to means for prosecuting a relentless warfare upon the
institution of slavery within the limits of Missouri or any other
state. But there is not a particle of evidence of any such inten-
tion in the document which professes to set forth the acts of
the Emigrant Aid Society, and which is incorporated in this
report.!

Trumbull next took up the contention of the report that
since Governor Reeder had recognized the usurping leg-
islature, he and all other governmental authorities were
estopped from inquiring into its validity. No great effort
of a trained legal mind was required to overthrow that
pretension. Trumbull demolished it thoroughly. After
giving a calm and lucid sketch of the existing condition
of affairs in the territory, Trumbull brought his speech
to a conclusion. It fills six pages of the Congressional
Globe.?

This was the prelude to a hot debate with Douglas,
who immediately took the floor. Trumbull had remarked
in the course of his speech that the only political party
with which he had ever had any affiliations was the De-
mocratic. Douglas said that he should make a reply to
his colleague’s speech as soon as it should be printed in
the Globe, but that he wished to take notice now of the

1 The writer of this book was intimately acquainted with the doings of the
Emigrant Aid Societies of the country, having been connected with the
National Kansas Committee at Chicago. The emigrants usually went up the
Missouri River by rail from St. Louis to Jefferson City and thence by steam-
boat to Kansas City, Wyandotte, or Leavenworth. They were cautioned to
conceal as much as possible their identity and destination, in order to avoid
trouble. Such caution was not necessary, however, since the emigrants knew
that their own success depended largely upon keeping that avenue of approach
to Kansas open. Later, in the summer of 1856, it was closed, not in consequence
of any threatening langnage or action on the part of the emigrants, but because
the Border Ruffians were determined to cut off reinforcements to the Free
State men in Kansas. The tide of travel then took the road through Iowa and
Nebraska, a longer, more circuitous, and more expensive route.

2 Appendix, p. 200.



60 LYMAN TRUMBULL

statement that Trumbull claimed to be a Democrat.
This, he said, would be considered by every Democrat
in Illinois as a libel upon the party.

Senator Crittenden called Douglas to order for using
the word “libel,” which he said was unparliamentary,
being equivalent to the word *“lie.” Douglas insisted
that he had not imputed untruth to his colleague, but had
only said that all the Democrats in Illinois would impute
it to him when they should read his speech. He then
went into a general tirade about “Black Republicans,”
“Know-Nothings,” and ‘“Abolitionists,” who, he said,
had joined in making Trumbull a Senator, from which
it was evident that he was one of the same tribe, and not
a Democrat. So far as the people of Illinois were con-
cerned, he said that his colleague did not dare to go be-
fore them and take his chances in a general election, for
he (Douglas) had met him at Salem, Marion County, in
the summer of 1855, and had told him in the presence of
thousands of people that, differing as they did, they ought
not both to represent the State at the same time. There-
fore, he proposed that they should both sign a paper re-
signing their seats and appeal to the people, “and if I did
not beat him now with his Know-Nothingism, Abolition-
ism, and all other isms by a majority of twenty thousand
votes, he should take the seat without the trouble of a
contest.”

Neither Trumbull nor Douglas was gifted with the
sense of humor, but Trumbull turned the laugh on his
antagonist by his comments on the coolness of the pro-
posal that both Senators should resign their seats, which
Governor Matteson would have the right to fill imme-
diately, and which the people could in no event fill by a
majority vote, since the people did not elect Senators
under our systein of government. The reason why he did
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not answer the challenge at Salem was that his colleague
did not stay to hear the answer. After he had finished his
speech it was very convenient for him to be absent. “He
cut immediately for his tavern without waiting to hear
me.” Trumbull denominated the challenge “a bald
clap-trap declamation and nothing else.”

Douglas’s charges about Know-Nothings and Aboli-
tionists were well calculated to make an impression in
southern Illinois; hence Trumbull did not choose to let
them gounanswered. Hisreply was pitched upon a higher
plane, however, than his antagonist’s tirade. He said:

In my part of the state there are no Know-Nothing organiza-
tions of whose members I have any knowledge. If they exist,
they exist secretly. There are no open avowed ones among us.
These general charges, as to matters of opinion, amount to but
very little. It is altogether probable that the gentleman and
myself will differ in opinion not only upon this slavery question,
but also as to the sentiments of the people of Illinois. The views
which I entertain are honest ones; they are the sincere senti-
ments of my heart. I will not say that the views which he
entertains in reference to those matters are not equally honest.
I impute no such thing as insincerity to any Senator. Claiming
for myself to be honest and sincere, I am willing to award to
others the same sincerity that I claim for myself. As to what
views other men in Illinois may entertain we may honestly
differ. The views of the members of the legislature may be
ascertained from their votes on resolutions before them. I do
not know how to ascertain them in any other way. As for
Abolitionists I do not know one in our state— one who wishes
to interfere with slavery in the states. I have not the acquaint-
ance of any of that class. There are thousands who oppose the
breaking-down of a compromise set up by our fathers to pre-
vent the extension of slavery, and I know that the gentleman
himself once uttered on this floor the sentiment that he did not
know a man who wished to extend slavery to a free territory.

Douglas replied at length to Trumbull on the 20th of
March, in his most slippery and misleading style. If it
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were possible to admire the kind of argument which makes
the worse appear the better reason, this speech would
take high rank. It may be worth while to give a single
sample. Trumbull had said that in his opinion the words
of the Missouri Compromise, prohibiting slavery in cer-
tain territories ‘““forever,” meant until the territory should
be admitted into the Union as a state on terms of equality
with the other states. Douglas seized upon this as a fatal
admission, and asked why, if “forever” meant only a few
years, Trumbull and all his allies had been abusing him
for repealing the sacred compact.

If so [he continued], what is meant by all the leaders of that
great party, of which he (Trumbull) has become so prominent
a member, when they charge me with violating a solemn com-
pact — a compact which they say consecrated that territory
to freedom forever? They say it was a compact binding forever.
He says that it was an unfounded assumption, for it was only
a law which would become void without even being repealed;
it was a mere legislative enactment like any other territorial
law, and the word “forever” meant no more than the word
“hereafter’” — that it would expire by its own limitation. If
this assumption be true, it necessarily follows that what he
calls the Missouri Compromise was no compact—was not a
contract — not even a compromise, the repeal of which would
involve a breach of faith.!

And he continued, ringing the changes on this alleged
inconsistency through two entire columns of the Globe,
as though a compact could not be made respecting a ter-
ritory as well as for a state, and ignoring the fact that if
slaves were prevented from coming into the territory, the
material for forming a slave state would not exist when
the people should apply for admission to the Union. If
the word “forever” had, as Trumbull believed, applied
only to the territory, it nevertheless answered all practi-

1 Cong. Globe, 34th Congress, Appendix, p. 281.
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cal purposes forever, by moulding the future state, as the
potter moulds the clay.!

The remainder of Douglas’s speech was founded upon
the doings of Governor Reeder, whom he first used to
buttress and sustain the bogus legislature in its acts, and
then turned upon and rent in pitiable fragments, calling
him “your Governor,” as though the Republicans and
not their opponents had appointed him.

June 9, 1856, the two Senators drifted into debate on
the Kansas question again, and Trumbull put to Doug-
las the question which Lincoln put to him with such
momentous consequences in the Freeport debate two years
later: whether the people of a territory could lawfully ex-
clude slavery prior to the formation of a state constitu-
tion. Trumbull said that the Democratic party was not
harmonious on this point. He had heard Brown, of Missis-
sippi, argue on the floor of the Senate that slavery could
not be excluded from the territories, while in the forma-
tive condition, by the territorial legislature, and he had
heard Cass, of Michigan, maintain exactly the opposite
doctrine. He would like to know what his colleague’s
views were upon that point:

My colleague [he said] has no sort of difficulty in deciding the
constitutional question as to the right of the people of a terri-
tory, when they form their constitution, to establish or pro-

hibit slavery. Now will he tell me whether they have the right
before they form a state constitution? 2

Douglas did not answer this interrogatory. He insisted
that it was purely a judicial question, and that he and all

! In this debate Clayton, of Delaware, contended that the word “forever”
was meant to apply to any future political body, whether territory or state,
occupying the ground embraced in the defined limits. Hence he considered the
Missouri Compromise unconstitutional, but he had opposed the Nebraska Bill
because he was not willing to reopen the slavery agitation. Cong. Globe, 34th
Congress, Appendix, p. 777.

% Cong. Globe, 1856, p. 1371.
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good Democrats were in harmony and would sustain the
decision of the highest tribunal when it should berendered.
The Dred Scott case was pending in the Supreme Court,
but that fact was not mentioned in the debate. The right
of the people of a territory to exclude slavery before
arriving at statehood was already the crux of the political
situation, but its significance was not generally perceived
at that time. That Trumbull had grasped the fact was
shown by his concluding remarks in this debate, to wit:

My colleague says that the persons with whom he is acting
are perfectly agreed on the questions at issue. Why, sir, all of
them in the South say that they have a right to take their
slaves into a territory and to hold them there as such, while all
in the North deny it. If that is an agreement, then I do not
know what Bedlam would be.

Bedlam came at Charleston four years later. It is
worthy of remark that in this debate Douglas held that
a negro could bring an action for personal freedom in a
territory and have it presented to the Supreme Court of
the United States for decision. In the Dred Scott case,
subsequently decided, the court held that a negro could
not bring an action in a court of the United States.

The Senate debate on Kansas affairs in the first .session
of the Thirty-fourth Congress was participated in by
nearly all the members of the body. The best speech on
the Republican side was made by Seward. This was a
carefully prepared, farseeing philosophical oration, in
which the South was warned that the stars in their courses
were fighting against slavery and that the institution
took a step toward perdition when it appealed to lawless
violence. Sumner’s speech, which in its consequences
became more celebrated, was sophomorical and vituper-
ative and was not calculated to help the cause that its
author espoused; but the assault made upon him by Pres-
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ton S. Brooks maddened the North and drew attention
away from its defects of taste and judgment. Collamer,
of Vermont, made a notable speech in addition to his
notable minority report from the Committee on Territo-
ries. Wilson, of Massachusetts, and Hale, of New Hamp-
shire, received well-earned plaudits for the thoroughness
with which they exposed the frauds and violence of the
Border Ruflians, and commented on the vacillation and
stammering of President Pierce. That Trumbull had the
advantage of his wily antagonist must be the conclusion
of impartial readers at the present day.

If a newcomer in the Senate to-day should plunge in
medias res and deliver a three-hours’ speech as soon as he
could get the floor, he would probably be made aware of
the opinion of his elders that he had been over-hasty.
It was not so in the exciting times of the decade before the
Civil War. All help was eagerly welcomed. Moreover,
Trumbull’s constituents would not have tolerated any
delay on his part in getting into the thickest of the fight.
Any signs of hanging back would have been construed as
timidity. The anti-Nebraska Democrats of Illinois re-
quired early proof that their Senator was not afraid of the
Little Giant, but was his match at cut-and-thrust debate
as well as his superior in dignity and moral power. The
North rang with the praises of Trumbull, and some per-
sons, whose admiration of Lincoln was unbounded and
unchangeable, were heard to say that perhaps Providence
had selected the right man for Senator from Illinois. Al-
though Lincoln’s personality was more magnetic, Trum-
bull’s intellect was more alert, his diction the more inci-
sive, and his temper was the more combative of the two.

From a mass of letters and newspapers commending
M:r. Trumbull on his first appearance on the floor of the
Senate, a few are selected for notice.
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The New York Tribune, March 15, 1856, Washington
letter signed “H. G.,” p. 4, col. 5:

Mr. Trumbull’s review of Senator Douglas’s pro-slavery
Kansas report is hailed with enthusiasm, as calculated to do
honor to the palmiest days of the Senate. Though three hours
long, it commanded full galleries, and the most fixed attention
to the close. It was searching as well as able, and was at once
dignified and convincing.

When Mr. Trumbull closed, Mr. Douglas rose, in bad tem-
per, to complain that the attack had been commenced in his
absence, and to ask the Senate to fix a day for his reply. He
said Mr. Trumbull had claimed to be a Democrat; but that
claim would be considered a libel by the Democracy of Iilinois.
Here Mr. Crittenden rose to a question of order, and a most
exciting passage ensued; the flash of the Kentuckian’s eye and
the sternness of his bearing were such as are rarely seen in the
Senate.

The New York Daily Times, Washington letter, dated
June 9:

Douglas was much disconcerted to-day by Senator Trum-
bull’s keen exposure of his Nebraska sophism. He was directly
asked if he believed that the people of the territories have the
right to exclude slavery before forming a state government, but
he refused to give his opinion, saying that it was a question to
be determined by the Supreme Court. Trumbull then exposed
with great force Douglas’s equivocal platform of popular sov-
ereignty, which means one thing at the South and another
at the North. The “Little Giant” was fairly smoked out.

Charles Sumner writes to E. L. Pierce, March 21:

Trumbull is a hero, and more than a match for Douglas.
Illinois, in sending him, has done much to make me forget that
she sent Douglas. You will read the main speech which is able;
but you can hardly appreciate the ready courage and power
with which he grappled with his colleague and throttled him.
We are all proud of his work.

S. P. Chase, Executive Office, Columbus, Ohio, April
14, 1856, writes:
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I have read your speech with great interest. It was timely —
exactly at the right moment and its logic and statement are
irresistible. How I rejoice that Illinois has sent you to the
Senate.

John Johnson, Mount Vernon, Illinois, writes:

I wish I could express the pleasure that I and many other of
your friends feel when we remember that we have such a man
as yourself in Congress, who loves liberty and truth and is not
ashamed or afraid to speak. Let me say that I thank the
Ruler of the Universe that we have got such a man into the
Senate of the United States. ... Your influence will tell on
the interests of the nation in years to come.

John H. Bryant, Princeton, writes:

The expectations of those who elected Mr. Trumbull to the
Senate have been fully met by his course in that body, those
of Democratic antecedents being satisfied and the Whigs very
happily disappointed. For Mr. Lincoln the people have great
respect, and great confidence in his ability and integrity. Still
the feeling here is that you have filled the place at this particu-
lar time better than he could have done.?

At this time Trumbull received a letter from one of the
Ohio River counties which, by reason of the singularity
of its contents as well as of the subsequent distinction of
the writer, merits preservation:

Green B. Raum, Golconda, Pope Co., Feb. 9, 57, wishes
Trumbull to find out why he cannot get his pay for taking
depositions at the instance of the Secretary of the Interior in a
lawsuit involving the freedom of sixty negroes legally manu-
mitted, but still held in slavery in Crawford County, Arkansas.
The witnesses whose depositions were taken were living in Pope
Co., Ill. Raum advanced $43.25 for witness fees and costs and
was engaged one month in the work, for which he charged
$300. This was done in May, 1855, but he had never been paid
even the amount that he advanced out of his own pocket.2

! John H. Bryant, a man of large influence in central Illinois, brother of
William Cullen Bryant.

. * Green B. Raum, Lawyer, Democrat, brigadier-general in the Union army
in the Civil War.,
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In April, 1857, Trumbull received an urgent appeal from
Cyrus Aldrich, George A. Nourse, and others in Minne-
sota asking him to come to that territory and make
speeches for one month to help the Republicans carry the
convention which had been called to frame a state con-
stitution. He responded to this call and took an active
part in the campaign, which resulted favorably to the
Republican party.



CHAPTER V

THE LECOMPTON FIGHT

In June, 1856, Lincoln wrote to Trumbull urging him
to attend the Republican National Convention which
had been called to meet in Philadelphia to nominate can-
didates for President and Vice-President and suggesting
that he labor for the nomination of a conservative man
for President. Trumbull went accordingly and cosperated
with N. B. Judd, Leonard Swett, William B. Archer, and
other delegates from Illinois in the proceedings which led
up to the futile nominations of Frémont and Dayton.
The only part of these proceedings which interests us now
is the fact that Abraham Lincoln, who was not a candi-
date for any place, received one hundred and ten votes
for Vice-President. This result was brought about by
Mr. William B. Archer, an Illinois Congressman, who
conceived the idea of proposing his name only a short
time before the voting began, and secured the codpera-
tion of Mr. Allison, of Pennsylvania, to nominate him.
Archer wrote to Lincoln that if this bright idea had oc-
curred to him a little earlier he could have obtained a ma-
jority of the convention for him. When the news first
reached Lincoln at Urbana, Illinois, where he was attend-
ing court, he thought that the one hundred and ten votes
were cast for Mr. Lincoln, of Massachusetts.

He wrote to Trumbull on the 27th saying, “It would
have been easier for us, I think, had we got McLean™
(instead of Frémont), but he was not without high hopes
of carrying the state. He was confident of electing Bissell
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for governor at all events. In August, Lincoln wrote
again saying that he had just returned from a speaking
tour in Edgar, Coles, and Shelby counties, and that he
had found the chief embarrassment in the way of Repub-
lican success was the Fillmore ticket. “The great diffi-
culty,” he says, “with anti-slavery-extension Fillmore
men is that they suppose Fillmore as good as Frémont on
that question; and it is a delicate point to argue them out
of it, they are so ready to think you are abusing Mr. Fill-
more.” The Fillmore vote in Illinois was 37,444.

The Republican state ticket, headed by William H.
Bissell for governor, was elected, but Buchanan and
Breckinridge, the Democratic nominees, received the
electoral vote of the state and were successful in the
country at large. The defeat of Frémont caused intense
disappointment to the Republicans at the time, but it
was fortunate for the party and for the country that he
was beaten. He was not the man to deal with the grave
crisis impending. Disunion was a club already held in
reserve to greet any Republican President. Senator
Mason, of Virginia, frankly said so to Trumbull in a Sen-
ate debate (December 2, 1856), after the election:

Mg. Mason: What I said was this, that if that [Republican]
party came into power avowing the purpose that it did avow,
it would necessarily result in the dissolution of the Union,
whether they desired it or not. It was utterly immaterial who
was their President; he might have been a man of straw. I
allude to the purposes of the party.

Mg. TrumBULL: Why, sir, neither Colonel Frémont nor any
other person can be elected President of the United States
except in the constitutional mode, and if any individual is
elected in the mode prescribed in the Constitution, is that cause
for dissolution of the Union? Assuredly not. If it be, the Con-
stitution contains within itself the elements of its own destruc-

3 1
Hog - 1 Cong. Globe, vol. 42, p. 16.
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Four years passed ere Mr. Mason’s prediction was put
to the test, and the intervening time was mainly occupied
by a continuation of the Kansas strife. The prevailing
gloom in the Northern mind was reflected in a letter writ-
ten by Trumbull to Professor J. B. Turner, of Jackson-
ville, Illinois, dated Alton, October 19, 1857, from which
the following is an extract:

Our free institutions are undergoing a fearful trial, nothing
less, as I can conceive, than a struggle with those now in power,
who are attempting to subvert the very basis upon which they
rest. Things are now being done in the name of the Constitu-
tion which the framers of that instrument took special pains to
guard against, and which they did provide against as plainly as
human language could do it. The recent use of the army in
Kansas, to say nothing of the complicity of the administration
with the frauds and outrages which have been committed in that
territory, presents as clear a case of usurpation as could well be
imagined. Whether the people can be waked up to the change
which their government is undergoing in time to prevent it, is
the question. I believe they can. I will not believe that the free
people of this great country will quietly suffer their government,
established for the protection of life and liberty, to be changed
into a slaveholding oligarchy whose chief object is the spread
and perpetuation of negro slavery and the degradation of free
white labor.

Soon after the inauguration of Buchanan, Robert J.
Walker, of Mississippi, was appointed by him governor
of Kansas Territory. Walker was a native of Pennsyl-
vania and a man of good repute. He had been Secretary
of the Treasury under President Polk, and was the author
of the Tariff of 1846. When he arrived in Kansas steps
had already been taken by the territorial legislature for
electing members of a constitutional convention with a
view to admission to the Union as a state. Governor
Walker urged the Free State men to participate in this
election, promising them fair treatment and an honest
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count of votes; but they still feared treachery and violence
and fraud in the election returns. Moreover, voters were
required to take a test oath that they would support the
Constitution as framed. As Walker had assured them
that the Constitution would be submitted to a vote of
the people, they decided to take no part in framing it,
but to vote it down when it should be submitted.

The convention met in the territorial capital, Lecomp-
ton. While it was in session a regular election of members
of the territorial legislature took place, and Governor
Walker had so far won the confidence of the Free State
men that they took part in it and elected a majority of the
members of both branches. About one month later news
came that the constitutional convention had completed
its labors and had decided not to submit the constitution
itself to a vote of the people, but only the slavery clause.
People could vote “For the constitution with slavery,”
or “For the constitution with no slavery,” but in no case
should the right of property in slaves already in the ter-
ritory be questioned, nor should the constitution itself
be amended until 1864, and no amendment should be
made affecting the rights of property in such slaves.

Senator Douglas was in Chicago when this news ar-
rived. He at once declared to his friends that this scheme
had its origin in Buchanan’s Cabinet. Governor James
W. Geary, Walker’s predecessor in office, had vetoed the
bill calling the convention, because it contained no clause
requiring submission of the constitution to the people;
but it had been passed over his veto. He subsequently
said, in a published letter, that the committees of the
legislature having the matter in charge informed him that
their friends in the South did not desire a submission
clause. It was proved later that a conspiracy with this
aim existed in Buchanan’s Cabinet without his knowl-
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edge, and that the guiding spirit was Jacob Thompson,
of Mississippi, Secretary of the Interior. The chief man-
ager in Kansas was John Calhoun, the president of the
convention, who had been designated also as the canvass-
ing officer of the election returns under the submission
clause.

Buchanan was not admitted to the secret of the con-
spiracy until the deed was done. He had committed him-
self both verbally and in writing to the submission of the
whole constitution to the people for ratification or re-
jection. He had pledged himself in this behalf to Governor
Walker, who had pledged himself to the people of Kansas.
Walker kept his pledge, but Buchanan broke his. He sur-
rendered to the Cabinet cabal and made the admission of
Kansas under the Lecompton Constitution the policy of
his administration. It proved to be his ruin, as an earlier
breach of promise had been the ruin of Pierce.

Walker exposed and denounced the whole conspiracy
and resigned the governorship, the duties of which de-
volved upon F. P. Stanton, the secretary of the territory,
a man of ability and integrity, who had been a member
of Congress from Tennessee. Stanton called the legis-
lature in special session. The legislature declared for a
clause for or against the constitution as a whole, to be
voted on at an election to be held January 4, 1858.
Stanton was forthwith removed from office by Buchanan,
and John A. Denver was appointed governor to fill Walk-
er’s place.

The stand taken by Douglas in reference to the Le-
compton Constitution before the meeting of Congress, and
the doubts and fears excited thereby in the minds of the
leading Republicans of Illinois, are indicated in private
letters received by Trumbull in that interval, a few of
which are here cited:
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E. Peck, Chicago, November 23, 1857, says: Judge Douglas
takes the ground openly that the whole of the Kansas constitu-
tion must be submitted to the people for approval.

C. H. Ray, chief editor of the Chicago Tribune, writes that
Douglas is just starting for Washington; he says that he sent
a man to the Tribune office to remonstrate against its course
toward him “while he is doing what we all want him to do.”
Dr. Ray had no faith in him.

N. B. Judd, Chicago, November 24, says that Douglas took
pains to get leading Republicans into his room to tell them
that he intended to fight the administration on the Kansas
issue.

Judd, November 26, writes that Douglas tells his friends that
“the whole proceedings in Kansas were concocted by certain
members of the Cabinet to ruin him.” He does not think that
the President desires this, but he cannot well help himself, and
the conspirators intend to use Buchanan’s name again (for the
Presidency).

Lincoln wrote under date, Chicago, Nov. 30, 1857: . . . What
think you of the probable “rumpus” among the Democracy
over the Kansas constitution? I think the Republicans should
stand clear of it. In their view both the President and Doug-
las are wrong; and they should not espouse the cause of either
because they may consider the other a little farther wrong of
the two. From what I am told here, Douglas tried before leav-
ing to draw off some Republicans on the dodge, and even suc-
ceeded in making some impression on one or two.

A. Jonas, Quincy, December 5, is unable to say whether
Douglas is sincere in the position he has lately taken. ““Should
he act right for once on this question, it will be with some selfish
motive.”

William H. Bissell, governor, Springfield, December 12,
thinks Douglas’s course is dictated solely by his fears connected
with the next senatorial election.

S. A. Hurlbut, Belvidere, December 14, thinks that as be-
tween Douglas and the Southern politicians the latter have the
advantage in point of logic. “If the Lecompton Constitution
prevails, no amount of party discipline will hold more than one
third of the Democratic voters in Illinois.” He predicts that
the next Democratic National Convention will endorse John C.
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Calhoun’s doctrine that slavery exists in the territories by
virtue of the Constitution.

Sam Galloway, Columbus, Ohio, December 12, asks: “ What
means the movement of Douglas? Is it a ruse or a bona-fide
patriotic effort? We don’t know whether to commend or cen-
sure, and we are without any knowledge of the workings of his
heart except as indicated in his speeches.”

W. H. Herndon, Springfield, December 16, says: “Douglas
is more of a man than I took him to be. He has some nerve at
least. I do not think he is honest in any particular, yet in this
difficulty he is right.”

C. H. Ray, Chicago, December 18, asks for Trumbull’s
views of Douglas’s real purposes: “We are almost confounded
here by his anomalous position and do not know how to treat
him and his overtures to the Republican party. Personally, I
am inclined to give him the lash, but I want to do nothing that
will damage our cause or hinder the emancipation of Kansas.”

John G. Nicolay, Springfield, December 20, has been can-
vassing the state to procure subscribers for the St. Louis Demo-
crat. He had very good success until the “hard times” came.
Then he found it necessary to suspend operations. He says
everybody is watching the political developments in Washing-
ton, and he thinks that Douglas will be sustained by nearly all
his party in Illinois. “The Federal office-holders keep mum
and will not of course declare themselves until they are forced
to do so.”

Samuel C. Parks, Lincoln, Logan County, December 26,
says: Douglas is no better now than when he was the undis-
puted leader of the pro-slavery party. He has done more to
undermine the principles upon which this Government was
founded than any other man that ever lived.

D. L. Phillips, Anna, Union County, March 2, 1858: “ You
need not pay any attention to the silly statements of the 3s-
sourt Republican and other sheets respecting this part of the
state being attached to Buchanan. It is simply false. The
Democracy here are led by the Allens, Marshall, Logan, Parrish,
Kuykendall, Simons, and others, and these are all for Douglas.
John Logan is bitter against Buchanan. I think we ought all
to be satisfied with the course of things. Let the worst come
now. Better far than defer it, for come it will and must.”
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The first session of the Thirty-fifth Congress began on
the 7th of December, 1857. President Buchanan’s first
message was largely concerned with the affairs of Kansas.
He spoke of the framers of the Topeka Constitution as a
“revolutionary organization,” and said that the Lecomp-
ton Constitution was the work of the lawfully constituted
authorities. He conceded that the submission clause of the
Lecompton instrument fell short of his own intentions and
expectations, but insisted that the slavery question was
the only matter of dispute and that that was actually sub-
mitted to the popular vote.

Trumbull was the first Senator to expose these un-
founded assumptions, and this he did in a brief argument as
soon as the reading of the message was finished. He showed,
in the first place, that the Topeka Constitution was no
whit more “revolutionary’ or irregular than the Lecomp-
ton one, and one of the authorities whom he cited to sus-
tain his contention was Buchanan himself, who, in a paral-
lel case, had contended that the territorial legislature of
Michigan had no authority to call a convention to frame
a state constitution, and that any such proceeding was
“an act of usurpation.” This was not necessarily conclu-
sive as to anybody but Buchanan. Yet in another case
cited, that of Arkansas, where a territorial legislature was
considering an act for the calling of a convention to frame
a state constitution and where the governor had asked
instructions from President Jackson as to his duty in the
premises, the Attorney-General had held that such an act
of the Legislature would be without authority and abso-
lutely void. (This case had been cited by Douglas the
previous year, in an argument against the Topeka Con-
stitution.) The only regular proceeding was for Congress
to pass an enabling act, on such terms and conditions as
it might prescribe, under which the people might form a
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constitution preparatory to admission to the Union.
Any other mode of accomplishing the same result,
whether initiated by a popular assembly, as at Topeka,
or by the legislature, as at Lecompton, was in the nature
of a petition which Congress might respond to favorably,
and thus legalize, or not. Neither of these modes of begin-
ning had any higher authority than the other. Therefore,
the underpinning of President Buchanan’s first argument
was knocked out by two citations of authority which he
could not controvert.

His second argument, that the slavery clause in the
Lecompton Constitution, the only thing in controversy,
was submitted to the popular vote, was easily demolished.
The submission clause, said Mr. Trumbull, “amounts
simply to giving the free white people of Kansas a right
to determine the condition of a few negroes hereafter to
be brought into the state, and nothing more; the condi-
tion of those now there cannot be touched.”

On the following day, Senator Douglas made his speech
against the Lecompton Constitution. It had been eagerly
expected, and the galleries and floor were crowded. From
his own standpoint it was a very strong argument, and
was received with vociferous applause, contrary to the
rules of the Senate. It left Buchanan with not a rag to
cover him. It was the first public speech Douglas had ever
made which went counter to the wishes of the Southern
people. So when he said, — “I will go as far as any of you
to save the party. I have as much heart in the great cause
that binds us together as a party as any man living; I will
sacrifice anything short of principle and honor for the
peace of the party; but if the party will not stand by its
principles, its faith, its pledges, I will stand there and
abide whatever consequences may result from the posi-
tion,” —we must believe that he was sincere and must
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respect him for his courage. But his standpoint was that
of one who “did not care whether slavery was voted down
or voted up.” It represented no high principle; the only
right he contended for was the right of the people todecide
for themselves whether they would have a particular
banking system, or none at all; a Maine liquor law; or a
railroad running this way or that way; and finally
whether they would have a slave code or not. Great
speeches are not kindled with such short stubble.

One thing hinted at in this speech was that Buchanan
had been so frightened by the revolt in the party against
the Lecompton Constitution that he had taken steps to
have the pro-slavery clause rejected at the coming elec-
tion, by the very people who had framed it. “I think I
have seen enough in the last three days,” he said, “to
make it certain that it will be returned out, no matter how
the vote may stand.” In a later debate, February 4,
Douglas said:

I made my objection [against the Lecompton Constitution]
at a time when the President of the United States told all his
friends that he was perfectly sure the pro-slavery clause would
be voted down. I did it at a time when all or nearly all the
Senators on this floor supposed the pro-slavery clause would be
stricken out. I assumed in my speech that it was to be returned

out, and that the constitution was to come here with that article
rejected.!

If Buchanan had that intention he was not able to carry
it into effect.

Douglas at this time contemplated an alliance with the
Republicans. His state of mind is pictured in a letter
written by Henry Wilson to Rev. Theodore Parker, dated
Washington, February 28, 1858, of which the following is
an extract:?

1 Cong. Globe, 85th Cong., 1st Sess., p. 571.
2 Lincoln and Herndon, by Joseph Fort Newton, p. 148.
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I say to you in confidence that you are mistaken in regard to
Douglas. He is as sure to be with us in the future as Chase,
Seward, or Sumner. I leave motives to God, but he is to be with
us, and he is to-day of more weight to our cause than any ten
men in the country. I know men and I know their power, and
I know that Douglas will go for crushing the Slave Power to
atoms. To use his own words to several of our friends this day
in a three-hours’ consultation: “We must grind this adminis-
tration to powder; we must punish every man who supports
this crime, and we must prostrate forever the Slave Power, which
uses Presidents and dishonors and disgraces them.”

Similar testimony is found in the Trumbull corres-
pondence, to wit:

Jesse K. Dubois, state Auditor, Springfield, March 22, 1858,
says he has a letter from Ray, of the Chicago Tribune, who
says that Sheahan, of the Times, who has just returned to
Washington, says that (1) Lecompton will be defeated; (2) that
the Republicans shall have all the majority they like in the
next Illinois legislature, to favor which he wants to unite with
us in all doubtful counties or rather help us by running Douglas
legislative tickets “(N. B. I do not see the point of this)”’;
(8) he concedes us the Senator, and says Douglas is willing to
go into private life for a brief period, but protests that we must
not sacrifice their Congressmen who run again on the Lecomp-
ton issue, if any one of them desires to go back; (4) they will
run candidates for Congress in every district, but without hope
of electing one in the four northern districts “(N. B. I should
think this is an easy matter)”’; (5) Douglas is willing to retire,
and if he beats Lecompton, to take his chances by and by; (6)
Douglas and his friends have had a caucus in Washington and
they agree so to shape matters, if possible, with Republican aid,
as to return to the next Congress an unbroken phalanx of anti-
Lecompton men, and break down the administration by making
it harmless at home and abroad; (7) the fight is to the death,
a Poutrance, and cannot be discontinued, no matter what comes
up. Ray seems to think Sheahan is honest in what he says, and
has no doubt that he speaks for Douglas.

A. Jonas, Quincy, April 11, says that letters have been re-
ceived from Chicago and Springfield implying that a coalition
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is forming between a portion of the Republican party on the
one hand and Douglas and his followers on the other. He pro-
testsstrongly against any such coalition and declares it can never
be carried into effect. “To suppose that the Republicans of
this District can under any circumstances be induced to sup-
port such a political demagogue and trickster asIsaac N. Morris
is to believe them capable of worshiping Satan or submitting to
the dictation of the slave oligarchy.”

W. H. Herndon, Springfield, April 12, has just returned from
the East. He speaks of Greeley’s “puffs” of Douglas, which
he regards as demoralizing to the Republicans of Illinois. “I
heard Greeley handled quite roughly by the candidate for
lieutenant-governor of Wisconsin, a very intelligent German.
He spoke to Greeley in my presence and said that Wisconsin
stood by Illinois and was not for sale.”

E. Peck, Chicago, April 15: “Dr. Brainard has had a talk
with Dr. Ray, the substance of which was that we should con-
sent to run Douglas as our candidate for the House of Repre-
sentatives from this district. What does this mean? Can
Brainard have any authority to make such a proposition? Ray
has been advising with me, and we are both in the clouds. I
requested permission to write to you for your opinion before any
opinions were expressed here. Mr. Colfax may be able to tell
you something of the opinionsof Douglas. I amshy in believing,
and more shy in confiding, . .. yet Ray believes that Brainard
was authorized by Douglas to make the proposition.”

N. B. Judd, Chicago, April 19, says that if the Lecompton
Bill is passed, Douglas is laid on the shelf. The Buchanan party
in Chicago is of no consequence, “great cry and little wool.”
We shall have to fight the Democratic party as a unit. “How
Douglas is to be the Democratic party in Illinois and the ally
of the Republicans outside of the state is a problem which those,
who are arranging with him, ought to know how to work out.”

Overtures to the Republicans of Illinois did not come
from Douglas only. Here is one of a different hue:

George T. Brown, Alton, February 24, urges the appoint-
ment of J. E. Starr (Buchanan Democrat) as postmaster at
Alton. “Slidell opened the way for you to talk to him and you
can easily do so. The Administration is very desirous that you
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should not oppose their appointments, and will give you any-
thing.

The foregoing letter betokens a sudden change of mind
in administration circles at Washington, as is evidenced
by the following communication which Trumbull had re-
ceived from one of his constituents a few weeks earlier:

B. Werner, Caseyville, January 4, refers to a former letter
enclosing a petition for the establishment of a post-office at
Caseyville. Hearing nothing of the matter, he went to see
Mr. Armstrong, the postmaster at St. Louis, narrated the facts,
and asked whether any order had been received by him respect-
ing it. “He asked me to whom I had sent the petition. I told
him to you. He replied if I had sent the petition to Robert
Smith (Dem. M.C.) the matter would have been attended to,
but as Mr. Trumbull was a Black Republican, the department
would not pay any attention to it.”

On the 2d of February, 1858, President Buchanan sent
a special message to Congress with a copy of the Lecomp-
ton Constitution, and recommended that Kansas be ad-
mitted to the Union as a state under it. In this message
he made reference to the Dred Scott decision, which had
been pronounced by the Supreme Court in the previous
March. On this point the message said:

It has been solemnly adjudged by the highest tribunal
known to our laws that slavery exists in Kansas by virtue of
the Constitution of the United States. Kansas is, therefore, at
;:‘his moment as much a slave state as Georgia, or South Caro-

ma.

Trumbull made a speech on the special message as soon
as the reading of it was finished by the secretary. He re-
viewed the action of Governor Walker, which, in the
beginning, had been avowedly taken with the view of cre-
ating and promoting a Free State Democratic party in
Kansas, to which end he had made use of the soldiers
placed at his disposal by the President. That this was
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an act of usurpation was conclusively shown by Trum-
bull, although Walker claimed that it had served the de-
sirable purpose of preventing an armed collision between
the contending factions. Trumbull then touched upon the
Dred Scott case and maintained that the Supreme Court
had likewise usurped authority by pronouncing an opinion
on a case not before it. The court had virtually dismissed
the case for want of jurisdiction. It had decided that
Dred Scott was not a citizen and had no right to bring
this action. There was no longer any case before the
judges who so held. ‘““Their opinions,” said Trumbull,
““are worth just as much as, and no more than, the opin-
ions of any other gentlemen equally respectable in the
country.” Consequently, President Buchanan’s assertion
that Kansas was then as much a slave state as Geor-
gia or South Carolina was unfounded and preposterous.
Seward, Fessenden, and the Republican Senators gener-
ally held to this doctrine, but Senator Benjamin, of Lou-
isiana, replied with considerable force that it was com-
petent for the court to decide on what grounds it would
give its decision, and that it did, in so many words, elect
to decide the question of slavery in the territories, which
was the principal question raised by the counsel of Dred
Scott. That the decision had an aim different from the
settlement of Dred Scott’s claim, and that this aim was
political, is now sufficiently established. It is also estab-
lished that Dred Scott never took any steps consciously
to secure freedom, but that the action was brought in his
name by some speculating lawyers in St. Louis to secure
damages or wages from the widow of Scott’s master, Dr.
Emerson.! One additional fact is supplied by a letter in
the Trumbull correspondence, showing how the money
was collected to pay the plaintiff’s court costs.
.1 Frederick Trevor Hill in Harper’s Magazine, July, 1907.
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G. Bailey, Washington, May 12, 1857, writes, that when the
case of Dred Scott was first brought to the notice of Mont-
gomery Blair, he applied to him (Bailey) to know what to do.
Blair said he would freely give his services without charge if
Bailey would see to the necessary expenses of the case. Not
having an opportunity to confer with friends, Bailey replied
that he would become responsible. He had no doubt the neces-
sary money could be raised. On this assurance he proceeded,
the case was tried, and the result was before the country. Mr.
Blair had just rendered the bill of costs: $63.18 for writ of error
and $91.50 for printing briefs; total, $154.68. “May I be so
bold, my dear sir, as to ask you to contribute two dollars
toward the payment of this bill. T am now writing to seventy-
five of the Rep. Members of the late Congress, and if they will
answer me promptly, each enclosing the quota named, I can
discharge the bill by myself paying a double share.”

Mem.: $2 sent by Trumbull June 20th, ’57.

The debate in the Senate on the Lecompton Bill con-
tinued till March 23. The best speech on the Republican
side was made by Fessenden, of Maine, than whom a more
consummate debater or more knightly character and pre-
sence has not graced the Senate chamber in my time, if
ever. On the administration side the laboring oar was
taken by Toombs, who spoke with more truculence than
he had shown in the Thirty-fourth Congress. Jefferson
Davis, who had been returned to the Senate after serving
as Secretary of War under Pierce, bore himself in this
debate with decorum and moderation.

The Lecompton Bill passed the Senate, but was dis-
agreed to by the House, and a conference committee was
appointed which adopted a bill proposed by Congress-
man English, of Indiana, which offered a large bonus of
lands to Kansas, for schools, for a university, and for
public buildings, if she would vote to come into the Union
under the Lecompton Constitution now. If she would not
so vote, she should not have the lands and should not
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come into the Union until she should have a population
sufficient to elect one member of Congress on the ratio
prescribed by law. The form of submission to a popular
vote was to be: “Proposition accepted,” or “ Proposition
rejected.” If there was a majority of acceptances, the
territory should be admitted as a state at once. Senator
Seward and Representative Howard, Republican mem-
bers of the conference committee, dissented from the re-
port. This bill passed the House.

Douglas made a dignified speech against the English
Bill, showing that it was in the nature of a bribe to the
people to vote in a particular way. Although he did not
think that the bribe would prevail, he could not accept
the principle. The bill nevertheless passed on the last
day of April, and on the 2d of August the English propo-
sition was voted down by the people of Kansas by an
overwhelming majority. The Lecompton Constitution
thus disappeared from sublunary affairs, and John Cal-
houn disappeared from Kansas as soon as steps were
taken to look into the returns of previous elections can-
vassed by him.

The opinion of a man of high position on the attitude
of President Buchanan toward Lecomptonism is found in
another letter to Trumbull:

J. D. Caton, chief justice of the supreme court of Illinois,
Ottawa, March 6, 1858, does not think all the Presidents and
all the Cabinets and all the Congresses and all the supreme
courts and all the slaveholders on earth, with all the constitutions
that could be drawn, could ever make Kansas a slave state.
“No, there has been no such expectation, and I do not believe
desire on the part of the present administration to make it a
slave state, but as he [Buchanan] had already been pestered to
death with it, he resolved to make it a state as soon as possible,
and thus being rid of it, let them fight it out as they liked. In
this mood the Southern members of the Cabinet found him when
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the news came of that Lecompton Constitution being framed,
and he committed himself, thinking, no doubt, that Douglas
would be hot for it and that there would be no general opposi-
tion in his own party toit. . . . You say that the slave trade will
be established in every state in the Union in five years if the
Democratic party retains power! As Butterfield told the Uni-
versalist preacher, who was proving that all men would be
saved, ‘We hope for better things.’”



CHAPTER VI

THE CAMPAIGN OF 1858 AND THE JOHN BROWN RAID

THE events described in the preceding chapter left
Senator Douglas still the towering figure in national poli-
tics. Although he had contributed but a small part of the
votes in the Senate and House by which the Lecompton
Bill had been defeated, he had furnished an indispensable
part. He had humbled the Buchanan administration. He
had delivered Kansas from the grasp of the Border Ruf-
fians. What he might do for freedom in the future, if
properly encouraged, loomed large in the imagination
of the Eastern Republicans. Greeley, Seward, Banks,
Bowles, Burlingame, Henry Wilson, and scores of lesser
lights were quoted as desiring to see him returned to the
Senate by Republican votes. Some were even willing to
support him for the Presidency. -

The Republicans of Illinois did not share this enthusi-
asm. Not only had they fixed upon Lincoln as their choice
for Senator, but they felt that they could not trust Doug-
las. He still said that he cared not whether slavery was
voted down or voted up. That was the very thing they
did care about. Could they assume that, after being
re€lected by their votes and made their standard-bearer,
he would be a new man, different from the one he had
been before? And if he remained of the same opinions
as before, what would become of the Republican party?
Who could answer for the demoralizing effects of taking
him for a leader? The views of the party leaders in Illi-
nois are set forth at considerable length in letters received
by Senator Trumbull, the first one from Lincoln himself:
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BrooMingToN, December 28, 1857.
Hox. LymaN TruMBULL,

DeAr Sir: What does the New York Tribune mean by its
constant eulogizing and admiring and magnifying Douglas?
Does it, in this, speak the sentiments of the Republicans at
Washington? Have they concluded that the Republican cause
generally can be best promoted by sacrificing us here in Illinois?
If so, we would like to know it soon; it will save us a great deal
of labor to surrender at once.

As yet I have heard of no Republican here going over to
Douglas, but if the Tribune continues to din his praises into the
ears of its five or ten thousand readers in Illinois, it is more
than can be hoped that all will stand firm. I am not complain-
ing, I only wish for a fair understanding. Please write me at
Springfield.

Your obt. servant, :
A. LiNcoLN.

C. H. Ray, Chicago, March 9, 1858, protests against any
trading with Douglas on the basis of reélecting him to the
Senate by Republican votes. The Republicans of Illinois are
unanimous for Lincoln and will not swerve from that purpose.
Thinks that Douglas is coming to the Republican camp and
that the disposal of him will be a difficult problem unless he will
be content with a place in the Cabinet of the next Republican
President.

J. K. Dubois, Springfield, April 8, says that Hatch (secre-
tary of state) and himself were in Chicago a few days since.
Found every man there firm and true — Judd, Peck, Ray,
Scripps, W. H. Brown, etc. Herndon has just come home;
says that Wilson, Banks, Greeley, etc., are for returning Doug-
las to the Senate. “God forbid! Are our friends crazy?”

J. M. Palmer, Carlinville, May 25:

We feel here that we have fought a strenuous and well-main-
tained battle with Douglas, backed up by the whole strength of
the Federal patronage, and have won some prospect of over-
throwing him and placing Illinois permanently in the ranks of
the party of progress, whether called Republican or by some
other name, and now, by a “Wall street operation,” Lincoln,
to whom we are all under great obligations, and all our men who
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have borne the heat and burden of the day, are to be kicked to
one side and we are to throw up our caps for Judge Douglas,
and he very coolly tells us all the time that we are Abolitionists
and negro worshipers and that he accepts our votes as a favor
to us! Messrs. Greeley, Seward, Burlingame, ete., are presumed
to be able to estimate themselves properly, and if they fix only
that value on themselves, no one has a right to complain, but
if I vote for Douglas under such circumstances, may I be I
don’t swear, but you may fill this blank as you please. Yet I
have no personal feelings against Douglas. . . . Lincoln and his
friends were under no obligation to us in that controversy [of
1855]. We had, though but five, refused to vote for him under
circumstances that we thought, at the time, furnished good
reason for our refusal. We elected an anti-Nebraska Democrat
to the Senate, by his aid most magnanimously rendered, and
that result placed us, through you, on the highest possible
ground in the new party. If you had not been elected, we should
have been a baffled faction at the tail of an alien organization.
We have, as a consequence, an anti-Nebraska Democrat for
governor, and our men are the bone and sinew of the new or-
ganization, though we are in a minority. In all these results
Lincoln has contributed his efforts and the Whig element have
cooperated. For myself, therefore, I am unalterably deter-
mined to do all that I can to elect Lincoln to the Senate. I can-
not elect him, but I can give him and all his friends conclusive
proof that I am animated by honor and good faith, and will
stand up for his election until the Republican party, including
himself and his personal friends, say we have done enough.
Hence no arrangement that looks to the election of Douglas
by Republican votes, that does not meet the approval of Lin-
coln and his friends, can meet my approval.

The chief difficulty was that Douglas had never estab-
lished for himself a character for stability. People did not
know what they could depend upon in dealing with him.
Other questions than Lecompton would soon come up,
as to which his course would be uncertain. Who could
say whether he would look northward or southward for
the Presidency two years hence?



THE CAMPAIGN OF 1858 89

Douglas knew that he need not look in either direction
unless he could first secure his reélection to the Senate.
Bear-like, tied to a stake, he must fight the course. His
campaign against Lincoln for the senatorship does not
properly appertain to the Life of Trumbull, although the
latter took an active part in it. The author’s recollections
and memoranda of that campaign were contributed to
another publication.! He recalls with pity the weary but
undaunted look, after nearly four months of incessant
travel and speaking, of the Little Giant, whose health was
already muchimpaired. A letterfrom Fessenden to Trum-
bull, dated November 16, 1856, spoke of him as “a dy-
ing man in almost every sense, unless he mends speedily
— of which, I take it, there is little hope.” In the Senate
debates from 1855 on, he often spoke of his bad health,
and in one instance he got out of a sick-bed to vote on
the Lecompton Bill. The campaign of 1858 was a severe
drain on his remaining strength, but in manner and mien
he gave no sign of the waste and exhaustion within.

The Trumbull papers contain some contemporary
notes on the campaign of 1858. The Buchanan Demo-
crats in Illinois gave themselves the high-sounding title of
the National Democracy. By the Douglas men they were
called ““Danites,” a name borrowed from the literature
of Mormondom. Traces of this sect are found in the fol-
lowing letters:

D. L. Phillips, Anna, Union County, February 16, 1858,
says that Hon. John Dougherty will start in a few days for
Washington to console the President and look for an office for
himself. (He obtained the Marshalship of southern Illinois.)

W. H. Herndon, Springfield, July 8:

Mr. Lincoln was here a moment ago and told me that he had

1 Herndon-Weik, Life of Lincolr, 2d edition, vol. 11, chap. 1v.
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just seen Col. Dougherty and had a conversation with him.
He told Lincoln that the National Democracy intended to run
in every county and district, a National Democrat for each and
every office. Lincoln replied, “If you do this the thing is set-
tled.” ... Lincoln is very certain as to Miller’s and Bate-
man’s election (on the state ticket), but is gloomy and rather
uncertain about his own success.

Lincoln’s own thoughts respecting the Danites are set
forth incidentally in the following letter:

SPRINGFIELD, June 23, 1858.
Hon. LymMan TRUMBULL,

My pEAR Sik: Your letter of the 16th reached me only
yesterday. We had already seen by telegraph a report of Doug-
las’s onslaught upon everybody but himself. I have this morn-
ing seen the Washington Union, in which I think the Judge is
rather worsted in regard to the onslaught.

In relation to the charge of an alliance between the Republi-
cans and the Buchanan men in the state, if being rather pleased
to see a division in the ranks of Democracy, and not doing any-
thing to prevent it, be such an alliance, then there is such an
alliance. At least, that is true of me. But if it be intended to
charge that there is any alliance by which there is to be any
concession of principle on either side, or furnishing of sinews,
or partition of offices, or swapping of votes to any extent, or
the doing of anything, great or small, on the one side for a con-
sideration expressed or implied on the other, no such thing is
true so far as I know or believe.

Before this reaches you, you will have seen the proceedings
of our Republican State Convention. It was really a grand af-
fair and was in all respects all that our friends could desire.

The resolution in effect nominating me for Senator was
passed more for the object of closing down upon the everlasting
croaking about Wentworth than anything else. The signs look
reasonably well. Our state ticket, I think, will be elected
without much difficulty. But with the advantages they have of
us, we shall be hard run to carry the legislature. We shall greet
your return home with great pleasure.

Yours very truly,
A. LincoLN.
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The only counties in the state in which the Danites
showed any vitality were Union County in the south and
Bureau County in the north. They polled only 5079 votes
in the whole state.

The influence of the Eastern Republicans, who were in-
clined to support Douglas at the beginning of the cam-
paign, and especially that of the New York Tribune, is
noted by Judd and Herndon.

N. B. Judd, Chicago, July 16:

We have lost some Republicans in this region. . . . You may
attribute it to the course of the New York Tribune, which has
tended to loosen party ties and induce old Whigs to look upon
D.’s return to the Senate as rather desirable. You ought to
come to Illinois as soon as you can by way of New York and
straighten out the newspapers there. Even the Evening Post
compares Douglas to Silas Wright. Bah!

W. H. Herndon, Springfield, July 22:

There were some Republicans here — more than we had any
idea of — who had been silently influenced by Greeley, and who
intended to go for Douglas or not take sides against him. His
speech here aroused the old fires and now they are his enemies.
Has received a letter from Greeley in which he says: “Now,
Herndon, I am going to do all I reasonably can to elect Lin-
coln.”

N. B. Judd, Chicago, December 26 (after the election),
says:

Horace Greeley has been here lecturing and doing what mis-
chief he could. He took Tom Dyer [Democrat, ex-mayor] into
his confidence and told him all the party secrets that he knew,
such as that we had been East and endeavored to get money
for the canvass and that we failed, etc.; — a beautiful chap he
is, to be entrusted with the interests of a party. Lecturing is a
mere pretense. He is running around to our small towns with
that pretense, but really to head off the defection from his
paper. Itisbeing stopped by hundreds.
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A. Jonas, Quincy, same date:

H. Greeley delivered a lecture before our lyceum last evening
— a large crowd to hear him. John Wood, Browning, myself,
and others talked to him very freely about the course of the
Tribune in the late campaign. He acknowledged we were right.

The Douglas men elected a majority of the legislature,
but did not have a majority, or even a plurality, of the
popular vote. So it appears from a letter to Trumbull,
the existence of which the author himself had forgotten.

Horace White, Chicago, January 10, 1859, sends a table of
votes cast for members of the legislature in the election of 1858,
showing a plurality of 4191 for Republican candidates for the
House of Representatives.

W. H. Herndon, Springfield, says that Lincoln was defeated
in the counties of Sangamon, Morgan, Madison, Logan, and
Mason — a group of counties within a radius of eighty miles
from the capital. They were men from Kentucky, Tennessee,
and Virginia mainly, old-line Whigs, timid, but generally good
men, supporters of Fillmore in the election of 1856. “These
men must be reached in the coming election of 1860. Other-
wise Trumbull will be beaten also.”

SPRINGFIELD, January 29, 1859.
Hown. Lyman TrUMBULL, ‘

Dear Sir: 1 have just received your late speech in pamphlet
form, sent me by yourself. I had seen and read it before in
a newspaper and I really think it a capital one. When you can
find leisure, write me your present impression of Douglas’s
movements.

Our friends here from different parts of the state, in and out
of the legislature, are united, resolute, and determined, and I
think it almost certain that we shall be far better organized in
1860 than ever before.

We shall get no just apportionment (of legislative districts)
and the best we can do — if we can do that — is to prevent one
being made worse than the present.

Yours as ever,
A. LiNcoLN.
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A letter from Lincoln following the campaign of 1858,
is appended as showing the cordial relations existing be-
tween himself and Trumbull. The latter had written to
him from Washington under date January 29, 1859, say-
ing that John Wentworth had written an article, intended
for publication in the Chicago Journal (but which the
editor of that paper had refused to print), imputing bad
faith toward Lincoln on the part of N. B. Judd, B. C.
Cook, and others, including Trumbull, in the last sena-
torial campaign. Trumbull had received a copy of this
article, and as its object was to create enmity between
friends, and as it would probably be published somewhere,
he wished to assure Lincoln that the statements and in-
sinuations contained in it were wholly false. To this Lin-
coln replied as follows:

SpRINGFIELD, February 3, 1859.
Hon. L. TRUMBULL,

My pEAR Sik: Yours of the 29th is received. The article
mentioned by you, prepared for the Chicago Journal, I have
not seen; nor do I wish to see it, though I heard of it a month
or more ago. Any effort to put enmity between you and me is
asidle asthe wind. I do not for a moment doubt that you, Judd,
Cook, Palmer, and the Republicans generally coming from the
old Democratic ranks, were as sincerely anxious for my success
in the late contest as myself, and I beg to assure you beyond all
possible cavil that you can scarcely be more anxious to be sus-
tained two years hence than I am that you shall be sustained.
I cannot conceive it possible for me to be a rival of yours or
to take sides against you in favor of any rival. Nor do I think
there is much danger of the old Democratic and Whig elements
of our party breaking into opposing factions. They certainly
shall not if I can prevent it.

Yours as ever,
A. LixcoLn.

Twenty days after this letter was penned, there was a
debate in the Senate which was an echo of the Illinois
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campaign, which must have been extremely interesting
to both Lincoln and Trumbull. In a debate with Douglas
in 1856, as already noted, Trumbull had asked him
whether, under his doctrine of popular sovereignty, the
people could prohibit slavery in a territory before they
came to form a state constitution. He replied that that
was a judicial question to be settled by the courts, and
that all good Democrats would bow to the decision of the
Supreme Court whenever it should be made. At Freeport,
in the campaign of 1858, Lincoln put the same question
to him in a slightly different form.

On the 23d of February, 1859, there was a Senate de-
bate on this question, in which Douglas contended that
the Democratic party, by supporting General Cass in
1848, had endorsed the same opinion that he (Douglas)
had maintained at Freeport, since Cass, in his so-called
“Nicholson Letter,” had affirmed the doctrine of squatter
sovereignty as to slavery in the territories. Douglas now
contended that every Southern state that gave its elec-
toral vote to Cass, including Mississippi, was committed
to the doctrine that the people of a territory could law-
fully exclude slavery while still in a territorial condition.
Jefferson Davis replied:

The State of Mississippi voted [in 1848] under the belief that
that letter meant no more than that when the territory became
a state, it had authority to decide that question. . . . If it had
been known that the venerable candidate then of the Demo-
cratic party, and now Secretary of State, held the opinion which
he so frankly avowed at a subsequent period on the floor of the
Senate, I tell you, sir [addressing Douglas}, he would have had

no more chance to get the vote of Mississippi than you with
your opinions would have to-day.!

1 When Lincoln, at the Freeport debate, asked Douglas whether the people
of a territory could in any lawful way exclude slavery from their limits prior to
the formation of a state constitution, Douglas replied that Lincoln had heard
him answer that question “a hundred times from every stump in Illinois.” He
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On the 2d of February, 1860, Davis introduced a series
of resolutions in the Senate of a political character evi-
dentlyintended to head off Douglasat the coming Charles-
ton Convention; or, failing that, to pave the way for the
withdrawal of the delegates of the cotton-growing states.
The fourth resolution was directed against the Douglas
doctrine of unfriendly legislation, thus:

Resolved, That neither Congress nor a territorial legislature,
whether by direct legislation or legislation of indirect and un-
friendly nature, possesses the power to annul or impair the con-
stitutional right of any citizen of the United States to take his
slave property into the common territories; but it is the duty
of the Federal Government there to afford for that, as for other
species of property, the needful protection; and if experience
should at any time prove that the judiciary does not possess
power to insure adequate protection, it will then become the
duty of Congress to supply such deficiency.

The Senate debate between Douglas and his Southern
antagonists was resumed in May, after the explosion of
the Charleston Convention. Douglas made a two days’
speech (May 15 and 16) occupying four hours each day,
but did not mention the subject of unfriendly legislation,
or show how a territorial legislature could nullify or cir-
cumvent the Dred Scott decision. He was answered by
Benjamin, of Louisiana, in a speech which made a sen-

certainly had answered it more than once, and his answer had been published
without attracting attention or comment either North or South. On the 16th of
July, 1858, six weeks before the Freeport joint debate, he spoke at Blooming-
ton, and there announced and affirmed the doctrine of “unfriendly legislation”’
as a means of excluding slavery from the territories. Lincoln was one of the
persons present when this speech was delivered. On the next day, Douglas
spoke at Springfield and repeated what he had said at Bloomington. Both of
these speeches were published in the Illinois State Register of July 19, yet the
fact was not perceived, either by Lincoln himself, or by any of the lynx-eyed
editors and astute political friends who labored to prevent him from asking
Douglas the momentous question. Nor did the Southern leaders seem to be
aware of Douglas’s views on this question until they learned it from the
Freeport debate.
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sation throughout the country, and in which the doctrine
of unfriendly legislation was mauled to tatters. Benja-
min was the first Southern statesman to make his bow to
the rising fame of Lincoln. After examining the Freeport
debate, he said:

We accuse him [Douglas] for this, to-wit: that, having bar-
gained with us upon a point upon which we were at issue, that
it should be considered a judicial question; that he would abide
the decision; that he would act under the decision and con-
sider it a doctrine of the party; that, having said that to us here
in the Senate, he went home, and under the stress of a local
election his knees gave way; his whole person trembled. His
adversary stood upon principle and was beaten, and lo, he is
the candidate of a mighty party for Presidency of the United
States. The Senator from Illinois faltered; he got the prize for
which he faltered, but lo, the prize of his ambition slips from
his grasp, because of the faltering which he paid as the price
of the ignoble prize —ignoble under the circumstances under
which he obtained it.!

There are scores of letters in Trumbull’s correspond-
ence calling for copies of Benjamin’s speech, yet it had no
effect in Illinois, the Danite vote being smaller in 1860
than it had been in 1858. Probably it had influence in
the National Democratic Convention at Charleston, from
which the delegates from ten Southern States seceded in
whole or part when the Douglas platform was adopted.
This split was followed by an adjournment to Baltimore,
where a second split took place, Douglas being nominated
by one faction and Breckinridge, of Kentucky, by the
other.

Fifty years have passed since John Brown, with twenty-
one men, seized the Government armory and arsenal at
Harper’s Ferry (October 16, 1859), in an attempt to abol-

1 Cong. Globe, 36th Cong., 1st Sess., p. 2241.
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ish slavery in the United States. As sinews of war, he
had about four thousand dollars, or dollars’ worth of
material of one kind and another. With such resources he
expected to do something which the Government itself,
with more than a million trained soldiers, five hundred
warships, and three billions of dollars, acccomplished with
difficulty at the end of a four years’ war, during which no
negro insurrection, large or small, took place. One might
think that the scheme itself was evidence of insanity. But
to prove Brown insane on this ground alone, we must
convict also the persons who plotted and codperated with
him and who furnished him money and arms, knowing
what he intended to do with them. Some of these were
men of high intelligence who are still living without strait-
jackets, and it is not conceivable that they aided and
abetted him without first estimating, as well as they were
able, the chances of success. Yet Brown refused to allow
his counsel to put in a plea of insanity on his trial, saying
that he was no more insane then than he had been all his
life, which was probably true. If he was not insane at the
time of the Pottawatomie massacre, he was a murderer
who forfeited his own life five times in one night by taking
that number of lives of his fellow men in cold blood.

I saw and talked with Brown perhaps half a dozen
times at Chicago during his journeys to and from Kansas.
He impressed me then as a religious zealot of the Old
Testament type, believing in the plenary inspiration of
the Scriptures and in himself as a competent interpreter
thereof. But the text “Vengeance is mine, saith the Lord,
I will repay,” never engaged his attention. He was op-
pressed with no doubts about anything, least of all about
his own mission in the world. His mission was to bring
slavery to an end, but that was a subject that he did not
talk about. He was a man of few words, and was extremely
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reticent about his plans, even those of ordinary move-
ments in daily life. He had a square jaw, clean-shaven,
and an air of calmness and self-confidence, which at-
tracted weaker intellects and gave him mastery over
them. He had steel-gray eyes, and steel-gray hair, close-
cropped, that stood stiff on his head like wool cards,
giving him an aspect of invincibleness. When he applied
to the National Kansas Committee for the arms in their
possession after the Kansas war was ended, he was asked
by Mr. H. B. Hurd, the secretary, what use he intended
to make of them. He refused to answer, and his request
was accordingly denied. The arms were voted back to the
Massachusetts men who had contributed them originally.
Brown obtained an order for them from the owners.

The Thirty-sixth Congress met on the 5th of December,
1859. The first business introduced in the Senate was a
resolution from Mason, of Virginia, calling for the ap-
pointment of a committee to inquire into the facts at-
tending John Brown’s invasion and seizure of the arsenal
at Harper’s Ferry. Trumbull offered an amendment pro-
posing that a similar inquiry be made in regard to the seiz-
ure in December, 1855, of the United States Arsenal at
Liberty, Missouri, and the pillage thereof by a band of
Missourians, who were marching to capture and control
the ballot-boxes in Kansas. On the following day Trum-
bull made a brief speech in support of his amendment,
in the course of which he commented on the Harper’s
Ferry affair in words which have never faded from the
memory of the present writer. Nobody during the inter-
vening half-century has summed up the moral and legal
aspects of the John Brown raid more truly or more for-
cibly. He said:

I hope this investigation will be thorough and complete. I
believe it will do good by disabusing the public mind, in that
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portion of the Union which feels most sensitive upon this subject,
of the idea that the outbreak at Harper’s Ferry received any
countenance or support from any considerable number of per-
sons in any portion of this Union. No man who is not prepared
to subvert the Constitution, destroy the Government, and re-
solve society into its original elements, can justify such an act.
No matter what evils, either real or imaginary, may exist in the
body politic, if each individual, or every set of twenty indi-
viduals, out of more than twenty millions of people, is to be
permitted, in his own way and in defiance of the laws of the
land, to undertake to correct those evils, there is not a govern-
ment on the face of the earth that could last a day. And it
seems to me, sir, that those persons who reason only from ab-
stract principles and believe themselves justifiable on all occa-
sions, and in every form, in combating evil wherever it exists,
forget that the right which they claim for themselves exists
equally in every other person. All governments, the best which
have been devised, encroach necessarily more or less on the
individual rights of man and to that extent may be regarded
as evils. Shall we, therefore, destroy Government, dissolve so-
ciety, destroy regulated and constitutional liberty, and inau-
gurate in its stead anarchy — a condition of things in which
every man shall be permitted to follow the instincts of his own
passions, or prejudices, or feelings, and where there will be no
protection to the physically weak against the encroachments of
the strong? Till we are prepared to inaugurate such a state
as this, no man can justify the deeds done at Harper’s Ferry.
In regard to the misguided man who led the insurgents on that
occasion, I have no remarks to make. He has already expiated
upon the gallows the crime which he committed against the
laws of his country; and to answer for his errors, or his virtues,
whatever they may have been, he has gone fearlessly and will-
ingly before that Judge who cannot err; there let him rest.

The debate continued several days and took a pretty
wide range, the leading Senators on both sides taking part
in it. Trumbull bore the brunt of it on the Republican
side, and was cross-examined in courteous but searching
terms by Yulee, of Florida, Chesnut, of South Carolina,
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and Clay, of Alabama, who conceived that the teachings
of the Republican party tended to produce such char-
acters as John Brown. Trumbull answered all their
queries promptly, fully, and satisfactorily to his political
friends, if not to his questioners. Nothing in his senatorial
career brought him more cordial letters of approval than
this debate. One such came from Lincoln:

SPRINGFIELD, December 25, 1859.
Hon. Lyman TruMBULL,

DEear Sir: I have carefully read your speech, and I judge
that, by the interruptions, it came out a much better speech
than you expected to make when you began. It really is an
excellent one, many of the points being most admirably made.

I was in the inside of the post-office last evening when a mail
came bringing a considerable number of your documents, and
the postmaster said to me: “These will be put in the boxes, and
half will never be called for. If Trumbull would send them to
me, I would distribute a hundred where he will get ten distrib-
uted this way.” 1 said: ““Shall I write this to Trumbull?”’ He
replied: “If you choose you may.” I believe he was sincere,
but you will judge of that for yourself.

Yours as ever,
A. LixcoLn.

The next in chronological order of the letters of Lin-
coln to Trumbull is the following:

SPRINGFIELD, March 16, 1860.

Hox. L. TruMmBULL, F

My pEAr Sir: When I first saw by the dispatches that
Douglas had run from the Senate while you were speaking, I
did not quite understand it; but seeing by the report that you
were cramming down his throat that infernal stereotyped lie
of his about “negro equality,” the thing became plain.

Another matter; our friend Delahay wants to be one of the
Senators from Kansas. Certainly it is not for outsiders to ob-
trude their interference. Delahay has suffered a great deal in
our cause and been very faithful toit, as ITunderstand. He writes
me that some of the members of the Kansas legislature have
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written you in a way that your simple answer might help him.
I wish you would consider whether you cannot assist that far,
without impropriety. I know it is a delicate matter; and I do
not wish to press you beyond your own judgment.
Yours as ever,
A. LincoLn.!

! The manuscript of the foregoing letter is in the Lambert collection of
Lincolniana. The two following which relate also to Delahay’s senatorial aspi-
rations, are in the collection of Jesse W. Weik, of Greencastle, Ind.:

SerINGFIELD, October 17, 1859.

DEar Deranay: Your letter requesting me to drop a line in your favor to
Gen. Lane was duly received. I have thought it over, and concluded it is not
the best way. Any open attempt on my part would injure you; and if the
object merely be to assure Gen. Lane of my friendship for you, show him the
letter herewith enclosed. I never saw him, or corresponded with him; so that a
letter directly from me to him, would run a great hazard of doing harm to both
you and me.

As to the pecuniary matter, about which you formerly wrote me, I again
appealed to our friend Turner by letter, but he never answered. I can but
repeat to you that I am so pressed myself, as to be unable to assist you, unless I
could get it from him.

Yours as ever,
(Enclosure) A. LixcowLn.

o SPRINGFIELD, October 17, 1859.
M. W. DErAHAY, Esq., -

My pEAR Sir: I hear your name mentioned for one of the seats in the U.S.
Senate from your new state. I certainly would be gratified with your success;
and if there was any proper way for me to give you a lift, I would certainly do
it. But, as it is, I can only wish you well. It would be improper for me to
interfere; and if I were to attempt it, it would do you harm.

Your friend, as ever,
A. LiNcoLn.

P.S. Isnot the election news glorious?

We shall hear of Delahay again.



CHAPTER VII

THE ELECTION OF LINCOLN — SECESSION

THE nomination of Lincoln for President by the Re-
publican National Convention in 1860 was a rather im-
promptu affair. In the years preceding 1858 he had not
been accounted a party leader of importance in national
politics. The Republican party was still inchoate. Seward
and Chase were its foremost men. Next to them in rank
were Sumner, Fessenden, Hale, Collamer, Wade, Banks,
and Sherman. Lincoln was not counted even in the second
rank until after the joint debates with Douglas. Atten-
tion was riveted upon him because his antagonist was the
most noted man of the time. After the contest of 1858 was
ended, although ended in defeat, Lincoln was certainly
elevated in public estimation to a good place in the second
rank of party leadership. It was not until the beginning
of 1860, however, that certain persons in Illinois began to
think of him as a possible nominee for the Presidency.
Lincoln did not think of himself in that light until the-
month of March, about ten weeks before the convention
met. His estimate of his own chances was sufficiently
modest, and even that was shared by few. After the event
his nomination was seen to have been a natural conse-
quence of preéxisting facts. Seward was the logical can-
didate of the party if, upon a comparison of views, it were
believed that he could be elected. One third of the dele-
gates of Illinois desired his nomination and intended to
vote for him after a few complimentary votes for Lincoln.

There were some Indispensable states, however, which,
many people believed, Seward could not carry. In Penn-



THE ELECTION OF LINCOLN — SECESSION 103

sylvania, Indiana, New Jersey, Connecticut, and Rhode
Island he was accounted too radical for the temper of the
electors. Illinois was reckoned by Trumbull and other
experienced politicians as doubtful if Seward should be the
standard-bearer. A conservative candidate of good re-
pute, and sufficiently well known to the public, seemed to
be a desideratum. Nobody had as yet thought of seeking
a radical candidate, who was generally reputed to be a
conservative. Bates, of Missouri, and McLean, of Ohio,
were the men most talked about by those who hesitated
to take Seward. McLean was a judge of the Supreme
Court appointed by President Jackson. He had been
Postmaster-General under Monroe and John Quincy
Adams, and was now seventy-five years of age. Trumbull
considered him the safest candidate, for vote-getting pur-
poses, as regarded Illinois, if Lincoln were not nominated.
In aletter dated April 7, Lincoln had said that “if Mec-
Lean were ten years younger he would be our best can-
didate.” Bates was regarded by both Lincoln and Trum-
bull as a fairly good candidate, but Trumbull had been
advised by Koerner, the most influential German in Illi-
nois, that Bates could not command the German vote.
Koerner had said also (in a letter dated March 15) that
‘he had made himself acquainted with the contents of
more than fifty German Republican newspapers in the
United States and had found that they were nearly unan-
imous for Seward, or Frémont, as first choice, but that
they would cordially support Lincoln or Chase.

On the 24th of April, Trumbull wrote to Lincoln in
reference to the Chicago nomination. He said that his
own impression was that, as between Lincoln and Seward,
the latter would have the larger number of delegates and
wouldbe likely to succeed; and that this was the prevailing
belief in Washington, even among those who did not want
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Seward nominated. He was also of the opinion that
Seward could not be elected if nominated. The Congress-
men from the doubtful states were generally of that
opinion, and his own correspondence from central and
southern Illinois pointed the same way. The next ques-
tion was whether the nomination of Seward could be pre-
vented. It was Trumbull’s opinion that McLean was the
only man who could succeed in the convention as against
Seward, and he could do so only as a compromise candi-
date, beginning with a few votes, but being the second
choice of a sufficient number to outvote Seward in the
end. As to Lincoln’s chances he said:

Now I wish you to understand that I am for you first and
foremost, and want our state to send not only delegates in-
structed in your favor, but your friends, who will stand by you
and nominate you if possible, never faltering unless you your-
self shall so advise.

In conclusion he asked Lincoln’s opinion about Mec-
Lean. Lincoln replied in the following letter:

SPRINGFIELD, April 29, 1860.
Hon. L. TrumBULL,

My pEAR Sir: Yours of the 24th was duly received, and I
have postponed answering it, hoping by the result at Charles-
ton, to know who is to lead our adversaries, before writing.
But Charleston hangs fire, and I wait no longer.

As you request, I will be entirely frank. The taste ¢s in my
mouth a little; and this, no doubt, disqualifies me, to some ex-
tent, to form correct opinions. You may confidently rely, how-
ever, that by no advice or consent of mine shall my pretensions
be pressed to the point of endangering our common cause.

Now as to my opinion about the chances of others in Illinois,
I think neither Seward nor Bates can carry Illinois if Douglas
shall be on the track; and that either of them can, if he shall
not be. I rather think McLean could carry it, with Douglas
on or off. In other words, I think McLean is stronger in Illi-
nois, taking all sections of it, than either Seward or Bates, and
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I think Seward the weakest of the three. I hear no objection
to McLean, except his age, but that objection seems to occur
to every one, and it is possible it might leave him no stronger
than the others. By the way, if we should nominate him, how
should we save ourselves the chance of filling his vacancy in the
court? Have him hold on up to the moment of hisinauguration?
Would that course be no drawback upon us in the canvass?

Recurring to Illinois, we want something quite as much as,
and which is harder to get than, the electoral vote, — the legis-
lature, — and it is exactly on this point that Seward’s nomina-
tion would be hard on us. Suppose he should gain us a thou-
sand votes in Winnebago, it would not compensate for the loss
of fifty in Edgar.

A word now for your own special benefit. You better write
no letter which can be distorted into opposition, or quasi-oppo-
sition, to me. There are men on the constant watch for such
things, out of which to prejudice my peculiar friends against
you. While I have no more suspicion of you than I have of my
best friend living, I am kept in a constant struggle against ques-
tions of this sort. I have hesitated some to write this para-
graph, lest you should suspect I do it for my own benefit and
not for yours, but on reflection I conclude you will not suspect
me. Let no eye but your own see this — not that there is any-
thing wrong or even ungenerous in it, but it would be miscon-
strued.

Your friend as ever,
A. Lincoin.

What happened in the Chicago Convention was widely
different from the conjectures of these writers, but the re-
sult seemed entirely reasonable after it was reached. Lin-
coln was as radical as Seward — subsequent events proved
him to be more so — but his tone and temper had been
more conservative, more sedative, more sympathetic
toward ““our Southern brethren,” as he often called them.
He had never endorsed the ‘““higher-law doctrine,” with
which Seward’s name was associated; he believed that
the South was entitled, under the Constitution, to an
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efficient Fugitive Slave Law; he had never incurred the
enmity, as Seward had, of the Fillmore men, or of the
American party.

These facts, coupled with some personal contact and
neighborliness, early attracted the conservative dele-
gates of Indiana. Seward, with his “irrepressible conflict”
speech, had been too strong a dose for them, but they were
quite willing to take Lincoln, whose phrase, “the house
divided against itself,” had preceded the irrepressible
conflict speech by some months. The example of Indiana
bore immediate fruit in other quarters, and especially
in Pennsylvania. Curtin, the nominee for governor, was
early convinced that Seward could not carry that state,
but that Lincoln could. Curtin and Henry S. Lane, the
nominee for governor of Indiana, became active torch-
bearers for Lincoln.

When those states pronounced for Lincoln, the men of
Vermont (the most radical of the New England States),
who had been waiting and watching in the Babel of dis-
cord for some solid and assured fact, voting meantime
for Collamer, turned to Lincoln and gave him their entire
vote. Vermont’s example was more important than her
numerical strength, for it disclosed the inmost thoughts
of a group of intelligent, high-principled men, who were
moved by an unselfish purpose and a solemn responsi-
bility. Lincoln had now become the cynosure of the con-
servatives with a first-class radical endorsement to boot,
and he deserved both distinctions. His nomination fol-
lowed on the third ballot.

Dr. William Jayne, Springfield, May 20, wrote to
Trumbull:

The National Convention is over and Lincoln is our standard-

bearer, much (I doubt not) to his own surprise; I know to the
surprise of his friends. They went to Chicago fearful that Seward
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would be nominated, and ready to unite on any other man, but
anxious and zealous for Lincoln. Pennsylvania could agree
on no man of her own heartily. Ohio was for Chase and Wade.
Indiana was united on Lincoln. That fact made an impression
on the New England States. Seward’s friends were quite con-
fident after the balloting commenced. Now, if Douglas is not
nominated, we will carry the state by thousands. If D.is nomi-
nated, we will carry the state, but we will have a hard fight to
do it.

Out of a large mass of letters in the Trumbull corres-
pondence touching the nomination of Lincoln, a half-
dozen are selected as examples.

Richard Yates, Jacksonville, May 24, 1860, says the Chicago
nominations were received with delight, and there i is every in-
dication of success in Illinois.

John Tillson, Quincy, May 28, writes that the nominations
are highly acceptable here to every one except the Douglas
men, who have just found out that Mr. Seward is the purest,
ablest, and most consistent statesman of the age.

J. A. Mills, Atlanta, Logan County, June 4: “I have never
seen such enthusiasm, at least since 1840, as is now manifested
for Lincoln. Scores of Democrats are coming over to us.”

B. Lewis, Jacksonville, June 6: “The Charleston Convention
has struck the Democratic party with paralysis wherever
Douglas was popular as their leader (and that was pretty much
all over the free states), and we have now such an opportunity
to make an impression as I never saw before. . . . We are ac-
tually making conversions here every day. The fact tells the
whole story. In 1858 I anxiously desired to hear of one occa-
sionally, at least as a sign, but I could never hear of a single one.
Now it is all gloriously changed.”

W. H. Herndon, Springfield, June 14: “Lincoln is well and
doing well. Has hundreds of letters daily. Many visitors every
hour from all sections. He is bored, bored badly. Good gra-
cious! I would not have his place and be bored as he is. I could
not endure it.”

H. G. McPike, Alton, June 29: “We have distributed a large
number of speeches as you are aware, the most effective, I think,
under all the circumstances, is that of Carl Schurz.”
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In reply to letters of Trumbull, of which no copies were
kept by him, Lincoln wrote the following:

SPRINGFIELD, May 26, 1860.
Hon. L. TRuMBULL,

My pEAr Sir: I have received your letter since the nomi-
nation, for which I sincerely thank you. As you say, if we can-
not get our state up now, I do not see when we can. The
nominations start well here, and everywhere else as far as I
have heard. We may have a back-set yet. Give my respects
to the Republican Senators, and especially to Mr. Hamlin, Mr.
Seward, Gen. Cameron, and Mr. Wade. Also to your good wife.
Write again, and do not write so short letters as I do.

Your friend as ever,

~

A. LincoLn.

SPRINGFIELD, ILL., June 5, 1860.
Hon. L. TruMBULL,

My pEAR Sir: Yours of May 381, inclosing Judge R.’s!
letter is received. I see by the papers this morning, that Mr.
Fillmore refused to go with us. What do the New Yorkers
at Washington think of this? Governor Reeder was here last
evening, direct from Pennsylvania. He is entirely confident of
that state and of the general result. I do not remember to have
heard Gen. Cameron’s opinion of Penn. Weed was here and
saw us, but he showed no signs whatever of the intriguer. He
asked for nothing and said N. Y. is safe without conditions.

Remembering that Peter denied his Lord with an oath, after
most solemnly protesting that he never would, I will not swear
I will make no committals, but I do not think I will.

Write me often. I look with great interest for your letters
now.

Yours as ever,
A. LincoLn.

Notwithstanding the brilliant opening of the campaign,
the contest in Illinois was a very stiff one. Dr. Jayne’s
forecast was confirmed by the result. Lincoln’s plurality
over Douglas in the state was 11,946, and his majority

1 Presumably Judge Read, of Pennsylvania.
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over all was 4629. Dr. Jayne was himself elected State
Senator in the district composed of Sangamon and Mor-
gan counties. The Republican State Committee made
extraordinary efforts to carry this district, as they be-
lieved that the reélection of Senator Trumbull would de-
pend upon it. They obtained five thousand dollars as a
special fund from New York for this purpose. Jayne was
elected by a majority of seven votes, but Douglas received
a plurality of one hundred and three over Lincoln in the
same district. By the election of Jayne, the Republicans
secured a majority of one in the State Senate. This in-
sured the holding of a joint convention of the legislature,
at which Trumbull was reélected Senator.

At Springfield, Illinois, November 20, 1860, there was
a grand celebration of the election of Lincoln and Hamlin,
at which speeches were made by Trumbull, Palmer, and
Yates. Lincoln had been urged to say something at this
meeting that would tend to quiet the rising surges of dis-
union at the South, but he thought that the time for him
to speak had not yet come. He wished to let his record
speak for him, and to see whether the commotion in the
slaveholding states would increase or subside. Meanwhile
he desired that the influence of this public meeting at his
home should be peaceful and not irritating. To this end
Le wrote the following words, handed them to Trumbull
and asked him to make them a part of his speech:

I have labored in and for the Republican organization with
entire confidence that, whenever it shall be in power, each and
all of the states will be left in as complete control of their own
affairs respectively, and at as perfect liberty to choose and
employ their own means of protecting property and preserving
peace and order within their respective limits, as they have ever
been under any administration. Those who have voted for Mr.
Lincoln have expected and still expect this; and they would
not have voted for him had they expected otherwise.
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I regard it as extremely fortunate for the peace of the whole
country that this point, upon which the Republicans have been
so long and so persistently misrepresented, is now brought to
a practical test and placed beyond the possibility of a doubt.
Disunionists per se are now in hot haste to get out of the Union,
because they perceive they cannot much longer maintain an
apprehension among the Southern people that their homes
and firesides and their lives are to be endangered by the action
of the Federal Government. With such ‘“Now or never” is the
maxim. I am rather glad of the military preparations in the
South. It will enable the people the more easily to suppress
any uprisings there, which those misrepresentations of purpose
may have encouraged.

These words were incorporated in Mr. Trumbull’s
speech and were printed in the newspapers, and the manu-
script in Lincoln’s handwriting is still preserved.?

But Mr. Lincoln’s record neither hastened nor retarded
the secession of the Southern States. The words he had
previously spoken or written were as completely disre-
garded by the promoters of disunion as were those uttered
now by Trumbull.

Jefferson Davis was not one of the hot-heads of seces-
sion. His speech in the Senate on January 10, 1861, reads
like that of a man who sincerely regretted the step that
South Carolina had taken, and deprecated that which
Mississippi was about to take, although he justified it
afterward, but he believed that the coercion of South
Carolina would be the death-knell of the Union. His
remedy for the existing menace was not to reinforce the
garrison at Fort Sumter, but to withdraw it altogether, as
a preliminary step to negotiations with the seceding state.
Yet he did not say what terms South Carolina would agree
to, or that she would agree to any. That Lincoln was in
no mood to offer terms to South Carolina or to any se-

1 MS. in the collection of the late Major W. H. Lambert, Philadelphia.
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ceding states which did not say what would satisfy them,
was made emphatic in a letter from Dr. William Jayne
to Trumbull, dated Springfield, January 28, saying that
Governor Yates had received telegraph dispatches from
the governors of Ohio and Indiana, asking whether Illi-
nois would appoint peace commissioners in response to a
call sent out by the governor of Virginia to meet at Wash-
ington on the 4th of February. *“Lincoln,” he continued,
“advised Yates not to take any action at present. He
said he would rather be hanged by the neck till he was
dead on the steps of the Capitol than buy or beg a peace-
ful inauguration.”

The following letters from Lincoln throw light on his
attitude toward a compromise at a somewhat earlier
stage:

Private and Confidential
SeriNGrFIELD, ILL., December 10, 1860.
Ho~. L. TruMBULL,

My pEAr Sig: Let there be no compromise on the question
of extending slavery. If there be, all our labor is lost, and ere
long must be done over again. The dangerous ground — that
into which some of our friends have a hankering to run —is
Pop. Sov. Have none of it. Stand firm. The tug has to come;
and better now than any time hereafter.

Yours as ever,
A. Lincorn.

Confidential

SPRINGFIELD, ILL., December 17, 1860.
Hon. L. TruMBULL,

My pEAR Sigr: Yours enclosing Mr. Wade’s letter, which I
herewith return, is received. If any of our friends do prove false
and fix up a compromise on the territorial question, I am for
fighting again — that is all. It is but a repetition for me to say
I am for an honest enforcement of the Constitution — the fugi-
tive slave clause included.

. Mr. Gilmore of N. C. wrote me, and I answered confidentially,
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enclosing my letter to Gov. Corwin to be delivered or not as he
might deem prudent. I now enclose you a copy of it.
Yours as ever,
A. Lixcorn.

Confidential

SPRINGFIELD, ILL., December 21, 1860.
Hon. Lyman TruMBULL,

My pEAR Sik: Thurlow Weed was with me nearly all day
yesterday, and left last night with three short resolutions
which I drew up, and which, or the substance of which, I think,
would do much good if introduced and unanimously supported
by our friends. They do not touch the territorial question. Mr.
Weed goes to Washington with them; and says that he will first
of all confer with you and Mr. Hamlin. I think it would be best
for Mr. Seward to introduce them, and Mr. Weed will let him
know that I think so. Show this to Mr. Hamlin, but beyond
him do not let my name be known in the matter.

Yours as ever,
A. LiNcOLN.

The first of the three resolutions named was to amend
the Constitution by providing that no future amend-
ment should be made giving Congress the power to inter-
fere with slavery in the states where it existed by law.
The second was for a law of Congress providing that
fugitive slaves captured should have a jury trial. The
third recommended that the Northern States should
“review” their personal liberty laws.

SPRINGFIELD, ILL., December 24, 1860.
Hon. Lyman TruMBULL,

My pear Sir: I expect to be able to offer Mr. Blair a place
in the Cabinet, but I cannot as yet be committed on the matter
to any extent whatever.

Dispatches have come here two days in succession that the
forts in South Carolina will be surrendered by order, or consent,
at least, of the President. I can scarcely believe this, but if it
prove true, I will, if our friends in Washington concur, announce
publicly at once that they are to be retaken after the inaugura-
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tion. This will give the Union men a rallying cry, and prepara-
tions will proceed somewhat on this side as well as on the other.
Yours as ever,
A.. LiNcoLN.

Trumbull’s own opinions about compromise were set
forth in a correspondence with E. C. Larned, an eminent
lawyer of Chicago. Under date January 7, Larned sent
him a series of resolutions written by himself which were
passed at a great Union meeting composed of Republicans
and Democrats in Metropolitan Hall. One of these reso-
lutions suggested ““great concessions” to the South with-
out specifying what they should be. Larned asked Trum-
bull to read them and advise him whether they met his
approval. Trumbull replied under date January 16, at
considerable length, saying:

In the present condition of things it is not advisable, in my
opinion, for Republicans to concede or talk of conceding any-
thing. The people of most of the Southern States are mad and
in no condition to listen to reasonable propositions. They per-
sist in misrepresenting the Republicans and many of them are
resolved on breaking up the Government before they will con-
sider what guarantees they want. To make or propose conces-
sions to such a people, only displays the weakness of the Govern-
ment. A Union which can be destroyed at the will of any one
state is hardly worth preserving. The first question to be de-
termined is whether we have a Government capable of maintain-
ing itself against a state rebellion. When that question is effec-
tually settled and the Republicans are installed in power, I
would willingly concede almost anything, not involving prin-
ciple, for the purpose of overcoming what I regard the misappre-
hension and prejudice of the South, but to propose concessions
in advance of obtaining power looks to me very much like a con-
fession in advance that the principles on which we carried the
election are impracticable and wrong. Had the Republican
party from the start as one man refused to entertain or talk
compromises and concessions, and given it to be understood
that the Union was to be maintained and the laws enforced at
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all hazards, I do not believe secession would ever have obtained
the strength it now has.

The pages of the Congressional Globe of 1860-61
make the two most intensely interesting volumes in our
country’s history. They embrace the last words that the
North and South had to say to each other before the doors
of the temple of Janus were thrown open to the Civil War.
As the moment of parting approached, the language be-
came plainer, and its most marked characteristic was not
anger, not hatred between disputants, but failure to un-
derstand each other. It was as though the men on either
side were looking at an object through glasses of differ-
ent color, or arguing in different languages, or worshiping
different gods. Typical of the disputants were Davis and
Trumbull, men of equally strong convictions and high
breeding, and moved equally by love of country as they
understood that term. Davis made three speeches, two
of which were on the general subject of debate, and one
his farewell to the Senate. The first, singularly enough,
was called out by a resolution offered by a fellow South-
erner and Democrat, Green, of Missouri (December 10,
1860), who proposed that there should be an armed po-
lice force provided by Federal authority to guard, where
necessary, the boundary line between the slaveholding
and the nonslaveholding states, to preserve the peace,
prevent invasions, and execute the Fugitive Slave Law.
This scheme Davis considered a quack remedy, and he
declared that he could not give it his support because it
looked to the employment of force to bring about a con-
dition of security which ought to exist without force.
The present want of security, he contended, could not be
cured by an armed patrol, but only by a change of senti-
ment in the majority section of the Union toward the
minority section. Upon this test he argued in a dispas-
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sionate way for a considerable space, ending in these
words:

This Union is dear to me as a Union of fraternal states. It
would lose its value to me if I had to regard it as a Union held
together by physical force. Iwould be happy to know that every
state now felt that fraternity which made this Union possible;
and if that evidence could go out, if evidence satisfactory to
the people of the South could be given, that that feeling existed
in the hearts of the Northern people, you might burn your
statute books and we would cling to the Union still. But it is
because of their conviction that hostility and not fraternity
now exists in the hearts of the Northern people, that they are
looking to their reserved rights and to their independent powers
for their own protection. If there be any good, then, which we
can do, it is by sending evidence to them of that which I fear
does not exist — the purpose in your constituents to fulfill in
the spirit of justice and fraternity all their constitutional ob-
ligations. If you can submit to them that evidence, I feel con-
fidence that with the evidence that aggression is henceforth to
cease, will terminate all the measures for defense. Upon you
of the majority section it depends to restore peace and perpetu-
ate the Union of equal states; upon us of the minority section
rests the duty to maintain our equality and community rights;
and the means in one case or the other must be such as each can
control.!

This was the explicit confirmation of what Lincoln had
said, in his Cooper Institute speech a year earlier, was the
chief difficulty of the North: “We must not only let them
(the South) alone, but we must somehow convince them
that we do let them alone.”

The best speech made on the Republican side of the
chamber during this momentous session of Congress was
made by Trumbull on the night of March 2. It was a
speech adverse to the Crittenden Compromise, and was
a reply to Crittenden’s final speech in support of it. This
measure was a joint resolution proposing certain amend-

1 Cong. Globe, 1860-61, p. 30.
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ments to the Constitution, the first of which proposed to
apply the old Missouri Compromise line, of 36° 30’ north
latitude, to all the remaining territory of the United
States, so that in all territory north of it, then owned or
thereafter acquired, slavery should be prohibited, and
that in all south of it, then owned or thereafter acquired,
slavery should be recognized as existing, and that the
right of property in slaves there should be protected by
Federal law. It was offered on the 18th of December,
1860, and debated till the 2d of March following, when it
was defeated by yeas 19, nays 20, all the Republicans
voting against it except Seward, who did not vote and was
not paired.!

Just before the vote was taken, Crittenden tried to
amend his measure by striking out the words “hereafter
acquired” as to the territory south of 36° 30’, which he
said was giving great offense in some parts of the North.
This was not in the measure as originally proposed by
him, but he had accepted it as an amendment offered by
his colleague, Senator Powell. It was then too late to
amend except by unanimous consent, and Hunter, of
Virginia, objected. In this last debate, Mason drew at-
tention to the minimum demands of Virginia as expressed
by her legislature. These were the Crittenden Com-
promise, including territory ‘‘hereafter acquired,” and
the right of slaveholders to pass with their slaves through
the free states with protection to their slave property in
transit. Mason intimated pretty plainly that even this
would not satisfy him, for which he received some casti-
gation at the hands of Douglas. The latter was a steady
supporter of the Crittenden Compromise, but he main-
tained throughout the debate that no cause for disunion

1 Trumbull’s speech on the Crittenden Compromise, which was impromptu
and was delivered about midnight, is printed as an appendix to this chapter.
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would exist, even if the measure were defeated, and that
none would exist if the Federal Government should at-
tempt to compel a state or any number of states to obey
the Federal law.

Simultaneously with the rejection of the Crittenden
Compromise, the Senate, by a two-thirds majority, passed
a joint resolution to amend the Constitution by adding
to it the following article:

Article XIII. No amendment shall be made to the Consti-
tution which will authorize or give to Congress the power to
abolish or interfere, within any state, with the domestic insti-
tutions thereof, including that of persons held to labor or serv-
ice by the laws of said state.

This was a resolution introduced by Corwin, of Ohio.
It had already passed the House by a two-thirds majority,
but it fell into the limbo of forgotten things before sun-
rise of the 4th of March.

During this crisis Trumbull was receiving hundreds of
letters from his constituents, nearly all exhorting him to
stand firm. The only ones counseling compromise were
from the commercial classes in Chicago, and of these there
were fewer than might have been expected in view of the
threatened danger to trade and industry. The dwellers
in the small towns and on the farms were almost unani-
mously opposed to the Crittenden Compromise. A few
letters are here cited from representative men in their re-
spective localities:

A. B. Barrett (Mount Vernon, January 5) has taken pains
to gather the opinions of Republicans in his neighborhood in
reference to the secession movement and finds them, without a
single exception, in favor of enforcing the laws and opposed to
any concession on the part of Congress which would recognize
slavery as right in principle, or as a national institution.

J. H. Smith (Bushnell, January 7) contends that the Chi-
cago platform was a contract between the Republican voters
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and the men elected to office by them, and the voters expect
them to live up to it, to the very letter. ““If the South wants to
fight let them pitch in as soon as they please; we would rather
fight than allow slavery to go into any more territory.” Encloses
resolutions to this purport passed by a public meeting of citi-
zens of his town.

A. C. Harding (Monmouth, January 12) is pained to hear
a rumor that some Republicans in Washington are considering
a bill to make a slave state south of 36° 30’, thus sanctioning a
slave code by Congress. Any concessions that shall violate the
pledges of the Republican party will instantly turn the guns of
our truest friends upon those who thus give strength to the
Southern rebels. Neither Adams nor Seward nor Lincoln can
for a moment escape the fatal consequences if they yield their
principles at the threat of disunion.

Wait Talcott (Rockford, January 17) has just finished read-
ing Seward’s speech. It leads him to fear that yielding to the
South, and calling a national convention under their threat,
will embolden them, whenever the result of an election does
not suit them, to insist that the victors shall take the place of
the vanquished.

G. Koerner (Belleville, January 21): The Democratic Con-
vention at Springfield has done some mischief by inflaming
the lower order of the Democracy and confirming them in their
seditious views. On the other hand, it has disgusted the better
class of Democrats. It was a sort of indignation meeting of all
the disappointed candidates, office-seekers, and losers of bets.
A few Republicans are giving way under the pressure, but upon
the whole the party stands firm. ‘“Has secession culminated or
is worse to come? I am prepared for the application of force.
In fact, a collision is inevitable. Why ought not we to test our
Government instead of leaving it to our children?”

H. G. McPike (Alton, January 24): “Our people believe the
Constitution to be good enough. Let it alone. A compromise of
any principle dissolves the Republican party, takes the great
moral heart out of it, and will in so far bring ruin on the Govern-
ment.”’

J. M. Sturtevant, president of Illinois College (Jacksonville,
January 30), protests against the tone of Mr. Seward’s speech.
Says that the solid phalanx of thoughtful, conscientious, ear-
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nest, religious men who form the backbone of the Republican
party will never follow Mr. Seward, or any other man, in the
direction in which he seems to be leading. ““We want the Con-
stitution as it is, the Union as the Fathers framed it, and the
Chicago platform. And we will support no man and no party
that surrenders these or any portion of them.”

Grant Goodrich (Chicago, January 31) is convinced by his
intercourse with the mass of Republicans, and with many
Democrats, that any concessions by which additional rights are
given to slavery will end the Republican party. There will be
a division of the Republicans; a new party will arise, which will
include the entire German element and which will be as hos-
tile to the ““Union-saving” Republicans as to the Democrats,
and much more intolerant to their former allies.

E. Peck (Springfield, February 1) says that the proposition
to send commissioners to Washington was passed by the
legislature as a matter of necessity, because, if the Republicans
had not taken the lead, the Democrats would have done so,
and would have obtained the help of a sufficient number of weak-
kneed Republicans to make a majority. Mr. Lincoln would have
preferred that commissioners be not appointed.

W. H. Herndon (Springfield, February 9): *“Are our Repub-
lican friends going to concede away dignity, Constitution,
Union, laws, and justice? If they do, I am their enemy now and
forever. I may not have much influence, but I will help tear
down the Republican party and erect another in its stead. Be-
fore I would buy the South, by compromises and concessions,
to get what is the people’s due, I would die, rot, and be forgot-
ten, willingly.”

Samuel C. Parks (Lincoln, Logan County, February 11) is
opposed to the Crittenden Compromise, because the integrity
of the Republican party and the salvation of the country re-
quire that this grand drama of secession, disunion, and treason
be played out entirely. Either slavery or freedom must rule this
country, or there must be a final separation of the free and the
slave states. No compromise will do any permanent good. On
the contrary, if the territorial question is compromised now, it
will but postpone, aggravate, and prolong the contest. Considers
it mean and cowardly to leave to our children a great national
trouble that we might settle ourselves.
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January 2, 1861, Trumbull wrote to Governor Yates
advising that some steps be taken in the way of military
preparations, saying: '

The impression is very general here that Buchanan haswaked
up at last to the sense of his condition and will make an effort
to enforce the laws and protect the public property. That this
was his determination two days ago, I have the best reasons for
knowing, but he is so feeble, vacillating, and irresolute, that I
fear he will not act efficiently; and some even say that he has
again fallen into the hands of the disunionists. This I cannot
believe. If he does his duty with tolerable efficiency, even at
this late day, there will be no serious difficulty. The states
which resolved themselves out of the Union would be coming
back before many months. But if he continues to side with the
disunionists, we cannot avoid serious trouble, for in that event
I think the traitors would be encouraged to attempt to take
possession here, and most of the public property and munitions
of war would be placed in the hands of the disunionists before
the 4th of March. In view of the present condition of affairs
and the uncertainty as to the future, I think it no more than
prudent that our state should be making some preparations to
organize its military, or get up volunteer companies, so as to
be ready to come to the support of the Constitution and the
laws if the occasion should require. I think that there will be
no occasion for troops here, and that the inauguration will
probably take place. But take place it must, and at Washing-
ton, even though a hundred thousand men have to come here
to effect it. The Government is a failure unless this is done.

Governor Yates’s reply, if any, is not found in the
Trumbull papers, but a letter from him dated Springfield,
January 22, says that Frank P. Blair, Jr., had just ar-
rived from St. Louis with information that the secession-
ists in Missouri had formed a plot to seize the United
States Arsenal at St. Louis, which was the only depot
of arms west of Pittsburg. If this should be attempted,
Yates said it would lead to serious complications and
perhaps a collision between Illinois and Missouri, since
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it could not be permitted that this great arsenal, intended
for the use of the entire West, should fall into the hands
of enemies of the Union. He asked Trumbull to see
General Scott at once and insist that something be done
which would obviate the necessity of action on the part
of the state of Illinois.

Some letters from Mrs. Trumbull to her son Walter,
who was on a warship in foreign parts during the month
of January, 1861, supply a few items of interest.

January 21 she says:

The Senators of Mississippi, Alabama, and Florida yester-
day took formal leave of the Senate. The speech of Clay, of
Alabama, was very ugly, but that of Davis was pathetic, and
even Republican ladies were moved to tears. Gov. Pickens of
S. C. sent for $300 due him as Minister to Russia, and the
Treasurer sent him a draft on the sub-treasury at Charleston
which the Rebels had seized.

January 24:

Called at Dr.Sunderland’s! yesterday. He said that in talk-
ing with a disunionist a few days ago he asked what the South
demanded and what would satisfy them. He replied that the
North must be uneducated, or educated differently; their senti-
ments must be changed, and it can’t be done in this generation.

Just before starting home, Toombs’s coachman, strange to
say, deserted his kind master for a trip on the Underground
Railroad, greatly to the disgust of Mrs. Toombs. She was met
by Mrs. Judge McLean, who said to her, “Mrs. Toombs, are
you going to leave us?”’ “Yes,” she replied, “I am glad enough
to go; here I am riding in a hack!” It was very hard, very dis-
gusting, and Mrs. McLean, instead of trying to hunt up her
fugitive for her, told her that when the South had all seceded,
they would have Canada right on their borders, and where
one now escaped, there would then be a hundred.

January 26:

The city begins to present a warlike appearance. Two com-
! Pastor of the First Presbyterian Church.
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panies are stationed quite near us on E St. and others are placed
in Judiciary Square near the Capitol, and at the President’s,
about 700 in all. A company of light artillery arrived yesterday
morning, soon after which cannonading was heard, volley after
volley. I supposed the thunder of the cannon was meant to
convey wholesome instruction to the revolutionists, but Ilearned
this evening that it was a salute for Kansas, which is now a
state. Thirty-four guns were fired. I understood that some. of
the ladies at the National Hotel were so alarmed that they be-
gan to pack their trunks so as to retreat promptly with all their
luggage. I believe that Gen. Scott intends to have more troops
here, but the O. P. F.! countermands most of his orders. The
Cabinet find him very troublesome even now; he still listens to
Slidell and others.

A set of compromisers came here a few days since from New
York with a string of resolutions and explained them to Senator
King, hoping he would endorse them. Mr. King read them and
handed them back silently. Said the spokesman: “I trust they
meet your approval, they are good resolutions; you approve
them, do younot, Mr. King?”’ He answered in his good-humored,
laughing way, but withal very firmly: “I would resign my seat
first and I think I would rather die.” The same men went to
your father urging him to support them, and stated that New
York would not defend the public property within her limits
unless Congress adopted some such action. Your father told
them that if that was to be the course of New York, we might
as well know it now as ever, and refused to have anything to
do with their resolutions.

In the same letter she writes:

Mrs. McLean called yesterday. She said they dined at the
White House once while the President was making up his mind
whether or not to recall Major Anderson. The judge took
the President aside to make some inquiries about the Major.
Buchanan replied that he had exceeded his instructions and
must be recalled. The Judge raised his hand with vehemence,
almost in the President’s face, and asserted with emphasis:
“You dare not do it, sir, you dare not do it.”” And he did not.

1 “Old Public Functionary” — a name that Buchanan in one of his mes-
sages had given to himself.
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Prcbably this is the only instance on record where a
Judge of the Supreme Court shook his fist in the face of
the President after dining with him at the White House.
It is not improbable that the vehemence of the venerable
Judge was one of the potent reasons deterring Buchanan
from ordering Anderson to return from Fort Sumter to
Fort Moultrie.!

TRUMBULL’S SPEECH AGAINST THE CRITTENDEN
COMPROMISE

[In the Senate, March 2, 1861.]

Mg. TrumBuLL. Mr. President, the long public service of
the Senator from Kentucky, his acknowledged patriotism and
devotion to the Union, give great importance to whatever he
says; and in all he has said in favor of the Union and its preser-
vation, and the maintenance of the Constitution, I most heart-
ily concur. No man shall exceed me in devotion to the Consti-
tution and the Union. But, while this is so, what the Senator
says of those of us who disagree with him as to the mode of
preserving the Union and maintaining the peace of the country
is well calculated, in consequence of the position he occupies,
to mislead and prejudice the public mind as to our true posi-
tion. Does he expect, or can he expect, that compromises will
be made and concessions yielded when he talks of the great
party of this country, constituting a majority of its people, as
being wedded to a dogma set up above the Constitution; when
he talks of us as usurping all the territories, as ostracizing all
the people of the South, and denying them their rights? Is that
the way to obtain compromises? Instead of turning his denun-
ciation upon those who violate the Constitution and trample
the flag of the country in the dust, he turns to us and talks to us
of usurpations, of our dogmas; tells us that for a straw we are
willing to dissolve the Union and involve the country in blood.
Why are not these appeals made and these rebukes adminis-

1 Jefferson Davis says, in his Rise and Fall of the Confederate States, that
Buchanan told him that * he thought it not impossible that his homeward route

would be lighted by burning effigies of himself and that on reaching his home he
would find it a heap of ashes.”
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tered to the men who are involving the country in blood? If it
is a straw for us to yield, is it anything more than a straw for
them to demand? If it is a trifle for us to concede, isit any larger
than a trifle which the South demands, and to obtain which it
is willing to destroy this Union, which he has so beautifully and
so highly eulogized?

Sir, I have heard this charge against the people of the North,
of a desire to usurp the whole of the common territories, till 1
am tired of the accusation. It hasbeen made and refuted ten
thousand times. Not a man in the North denies to every citi-
zen of the South the same right in a territory that he claims for
himself. And who are the people of the South? Slaveholders?
Not one white citizen in twenty of the population in the South
owns a slave. The nineteen twentieths of the nonslaveholding
population of the South are forgotten, while the one twentieth
is spoken of as “the South.” The man who owns a slave in the
South has just as much right in the territory as a man in the
North who owns no slave. If the Southerner cannot take his
negro slave to the territory, neither can the Northern man.

Again, sir, the Senator talks of the rights of the States to the
common territories. The territories do not belong to the States;
they are the property of the General Government; and the state
of Kentucky has no more right in a territory than has the city
of Washington, or any county in the state of Maryland. Asa
state, Kentucky has no right in a territory, nor has Illinois;
but the territories belong to the Federal government, and are
disposed of to the citizens of the United States, without regard
to locality.

But, sir, I propose to inquire what it is that has brought the
country to its present condition; what it is that has occasioned
this disruption, this revolution in a portion of the country.
Many years ago an attempt was made in the state of South
Carolina to disrupt this Government, at that time on account of
the revenue system. It failed. The disunionists of 1832 were put
down by General Jackson; and from that day to this there have
been secessionists per se, men who have been struggling con-
tinuously and persistently to propagate their doctrine wherever
they could find followers; and, I am sorry to say, they seem to
have impressed the public mind of the South, to a great extent,
with their notions. In 1850, the effort to break up the Govern-
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ment was renewed. It was then settled by what were known
as the compromise measures of that year. The great men of
that day — Clay, Webster, Cass, and others — took part in
that settlement, and it was then supposed that the settlement
would be permanent. The controversy of 1850 was not in
regard to a tariff, but in regard to the negro question; the very
question which General Jackson had prophesied, in the nullifi-
cation times, would be the one upon which the next attempt
would be made to destroy the Government. Afteralongstruggle,
the compromise measures of 1850 were passed. Quiet was given
to the country; all parties in all sections of the country acqui-
esced in the settlement then made. Resolutions were offered
in this body denouncing any person who should attempt again
to introduce the question of slavery into Congress. Speeches
were made, in which Senators declared that they would never
again speak upon the subject in the Congress of the United
States. It was said that the slavery question was forever re-
moved from the halls of Congress, and we then supposed that
the country would continue quiet on this exciting subject. But,
sir, in 1854, notwithstanding the pledges which had been given
in 1850, notwithstanding the quiet of the country, when no
man was agitating the slavery question; when no petitions came
from the states, counties, cities, or towns, from villages or indi-
viduals, asking a disturbance of former compromises; when all
was quiet, of a sudden a proposition was sprung in this chamber
to unsettle the very questions which had been put to rest by
the compromises of 1850. A proposition was then introduced
to repeal one of the compromises which had been recognized
by the acts of 1850; for the Missouri Compromise, which ex-
cluded slavery from Kansas and Nebraska, was, by reference,
directly and in express terms, reaffirmed by the compromises
of 1850. But, sir, in the beginning of 1854, that fatal propo-
sition was introduced and embodied in the Kansas-Nebraska
Act, which declared that the eighth section of the act for the
admission of Missouri into the Union, which had passed in
1820, and which excluded slavery from Kansas and Nebraska,
should be repealed, it being declared to be “the true intent and
meaning of the act not to introduce slavery into any state or
territory, nor to exclude it therefrom, but to leave the people
thereof perfectly free to form and regulate their domestic insti-
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tutions in their own way, subject only to the Constitution of
the United States” — a little stump speech, as Colonel Ben-
ton denominated it, introduced into the body of the bill, which
has since become as familiar to all the children of the land,
from its frequent repetition, as Mother Goose’s stories. That
was the fatal act which brought about the agitation of the slav-
ery question; and on the repeal of the Missouri Compromise
followed the disturbances in the settlement of Kansas. That act
led to civil war in Kansas, to the burning of towns, to the in-
vasion from Missouri, to all the horrors and anarchy which
reigned in that ill-fated territory for several years, all of which is
too fresh in the recollection of the American people to require
repetition. And, sir, from that day to this, the doctrine which
it is pretended was enunciated in 1854 in the Kansas-Nebraska
Act, of non-intervention, of popular sovereignty, for it is known
under various names, has been preached all over the country,
until in the election of 1860, it was repudiated and scouted,
North and South, by a majority of the people in every state
in the Union; and even at this session, it has been thrust in
here upon almost every occasion, as the grand panacea that
was to give peace to the country; whereas it was the very thing
which gave rise to all the difficulties. The disunionists per se
have seized hold of the disturbances growing out of the slavery
question, all occasioned by this fatal step in 1854, to inflame
the public mind of the South, and bring about the state of things
which now exists.

But, sir, the Union survived the disunion movement of 1832;
it survived the excitement upon the slavery question in 1850;
it survived the disturbances in Kansas in 1855 and 1856, con-
sequent upon the repeal of the Missouri Compromise. It sur-
vived them all without an actual attempt at disruption, until
we came down to 1860, and Abraham Lincoln was elected Presi-
dent; and even now, notwithstanding the dissatisfaction at his
election in some portions of the country, and all the previous
troubles, the laws to-day would have had force in every part of
the Union, and secession would have been checked in its very
origin, had the Government done its duty and not acted in
complicity with the men who had resolved to destroy it.

The secession movement, then, dates back several years. It
received an impetus in 1850; another in 1854; and in 1860, by
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the connivance and the assistance of the Government itself,
it acquired the strength which it now has. What has been the
policy of the expiring administration? Its Cabinet officers
boasting of their complicity with the men who were plotting
the destruction of the Government; openly proclaiming in the
face of the world that they had used their official power, while
members of the Cabinet, and sworn to protect and preserve
the Government, to furnish the means for its destruction;
openly acknowledging before the world that they had used the
power which their positions gave them to discredit the Govern-
ment, and also to furnish arms and munitions of war to the men
who were conspiring together to assault its fortifications, and
seize its property; openly boasting that they had taken care,
during their public service, to see that the arms of the Federal
Government were placed in convenient positions for the use of
those who designed to employ them for its destruction. More
than this, members, while serving in the other branch of Con-
gress, go to the Executive of the United States, and tell him,
“Sir, we are taking steps in South Carolina to break up this
Government; you have forts and fortifications there; they are
but poorly manned; now if you will leave them in the condi-
tion they are until the state of South Carolina gets ready to
take possession, we will wait until that time before we seize
them”’; and the Executive of the nation asks that the treason-
able proposition be put in writing, and files it away. Why, sir,
is there another capital on the face of the globe, to which men
could come from state or province, and inform the executive
head that they were about to take steps to seize the public
property belonging to the Government, and warn the Execu-
tive to leave it in its insecure and undefended state until they
should be prépared to take possession, and they be permitted
to depart? Is there another capital on the face of the globe
where commissioners coming to the Executive under these cir-
cumstances would not have been arrested on the spot for
treason? But your Government, if it did not directly promise
not to arm its forts, certainly took no steps to protect its public
property; and this went on, until a gallant officer who was in
command of less than a hundred men in the harbor of Charles-
ton, acting upon his own responsibility, thought proper to throt.’
his little force into a fort where he could protect himself; and
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then it was that these insurgents, rebelling against the Govern-
ment, demanded that he should be withdrawn, and the Execu-
tive then was forced to take position. Then his Cabinet officers
who had been in conspiracy with the plotters of treason, then
the Chief Magistrate himself was forced to take position. He
must openly withdraw his forces, and surrender the public
property he was sworn to protect, openly violate the oath he
had taken to support the Constitution of the United States,
and execute the laws, and take side with traitors; or else he
must leave Major Anderson where he was. Exposed to public
view, brought to this dilemma, I am glad to say that even then,
at that late day, the President of the United States concluded
to take sides for the Union; that even he came out, though
feebly it was, on the part of the United States, and his Secre-
tary of War retired from his Cabinet, not in disgrace, so far as
its executive head was concerned, for he parted pleasantly with
the President of the United States, but he retired because the
President would not carry out the policy which he understood
to have been agreed upon, which was to leave the fortifications
in a position that Carolina might take them whenever she
thought proper.

But, sir, notwithstanding this, the Executive of the nation,
disregarding the advice of the Lieutenant-General who com-
mands the armies of the United States, and who had warned
him months before of the movements which were taking place
to seize the public property at the South, still leaves the prop-
erty unprotected; and the insurgents go on in some of the
states, before even passing ordinances of secession, and con-
tinue to seize the public property; to capture the troops of the
United States; to take possession of the forts; to fire into its
vessels; to take down its flag; until they have at this time in
their possession fortifications which have cost the Government
more than $5,000,000, and which mount more than a thousand
guns.

All this has been done without any effort on the part of
the Government to protect the public property; and ‘this is the
reason that secession has made the head it has. Why, sir, let
me ask, is it that the United States to-day has possession of
Fort Sumter? Can you tell me why is Fort Sumter in posses-
sion of the United States? Because there are a hundred soldiers
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in it — for no other reason. Why is Fort Moultrie in posses-
sion of the insurgents? Because there were no men there to
protect it; and it is now matter of history that, had the Execu-
tive done his duty, and placed a hundred men in Fort Moultrie,
a hundred in Castle Pinckney, and a hundred in Fort Sumter,
Charleston Harbor to-day would have been open, and your
revenues would have been collected there, as elsewhere through-
out the United States.

Will it be said that Carolina would have attacked those forts,
thus garrisoned? She does not attack a hundred men in Fort
Sumter. It is a wonder that she does not. The little, feeble
garrison there is well calculated to invite attack; but this thing
of secession, under the policy of the Administration, has been
made a holiday affair in the South. This great Government,
one of the most powerful on the face of the globe, is falling to
pieces just from its own imbecility.

Mg. WigraLL. Mr. President —

Tuae Presming Orricer (Mr. BrigaT). Does the Senator
from Illinois yield the floor?

Meg. TrumBUuLL. I have some further observations to make.
I will yield for a single question; not for a speech.

Mre. WiararL. For a single question. I do not wish to inter-
rupt the Senator if it is not agreeable to him. I desire to ask a
single question.

Mre. TruMmBULL. I have no objection to the question.

Mg. WigraLL. I understand the Senator to object to the
course that the present outgoing Administration has pursued
in reference to the forts. I know the Senator’s candor, direct-
ness of purpose, fairness, and boldness of statement; and I desire
to know whether the succeeding Administration will pursue the
same peace policy of leaving the forts in the possession of the
seceding states, or whether they will attempt to recapture them?

MRr. TrumBULL. The Senator will find out my opinions
on this subject before I conclude. The opinions of the incoming
Administration, I trust, he will learn to-morrow from the east-
ern front of the capitol.

Mk. WigraLL. I trust we shall, sir.

Mg. TrumsuLL. I speak for myself, without knowing what
may be said in the inaugural of to-morrow; but I apprehend
that the Senator will learn to-morrow that we have a Govern-
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ment; and that will be the beginning of the maintenance of the
Union.

Mg. WieraLr. I hope we may.

Mg. TrumBuLL. While the forts in the South were left thus
unprotected, and to be seized by the first comers, where was
your army? Scattered beyond reach, and sent to the frontiers,
so as not to be made available when it was wanted. And where
was your navy? The navy of the United States, when it was
known that the secession movement was on foot, was sent to
distant seas, until there was not at the command of the Secre-
tary of the Navy a single vessel, except one carrying two guns,
that could enter Charleston Harbor — a small vessel destined,
I believe, to take supplies to the African squadron, which car-
ried two guns. Does anybody suppose this was accidental? If
it were a question of fact to be tried before an intelligent jury
in any part of Christendom, does any one doubt that the Sec-
retary of War and the Secretary of the Navy would both be
convicted of having purposely, and by design, removed the
army and navy out of reach, in order that the forts might be
seized, and that the secession movement might progress? And
how has it been from that day to this? Irresolution and inde-
cision on the part of the Executive — one day sending a ves-
sel with troops to Charleston, and the next countermanding the
order; and the Senator from Texas, with a taste which I cannot
admire, spoke in terms of derision of his country’s flag, when it
returned in disgrace — “struck in the face,” I think, was his
expression — from Charleston Harbor. I admit it was disgrace-
ful; but I am sorry it should have afforded the Senator from
Texas, a member of the Senate of the United States, as the elo-
quent Senator from Kentucky said he was, any pleasure that
such a transaction should have occurred.

This, then, briefly, is the reason that this secession movement
has acquired the strength it has. It is because this Govern-
ment has either favored it, or refused to do anything to check
it. Notwithstanding the mistake of 1854, the country would
have survived it all, had we had a Government to take care of
and preserve it.

Now, sir, what are the remedies that are proposed for the
present condition of things, and what have they been from the
beginning? They have been propositions of compromise; and
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Senators have spoken of peace, and of the horrors of civil war;
and gentlemen who have contended for the right of the people
of the territories to regulate their own affairs, and who have
been horrified at the idea of a geographical line dividing free
states from slave states, free territory from slave territory, and
who have proclaimed that the great principle upon which the
Revolution was fought was that of the right of the people to
govern themselves, and that it was monstrous doctrine for
Congress to interfere in any way with its own territories, come
forward here with propositions to divide the country on a geo-
graphical line; and not only that, but to establish slavery south
of the line; and they call this the Missouri Compromise!
The proposition known as the ““Crittenden Proposition” is no
more like the Missouri Compromise than is the Government of
Turkey like that of the United States. The Missouri Compro-
mise was a law declaring that in all the territory which we had
acquired from Louisiana, north of a certain line of latitude,
slavery or involuntary servitude should never exist. But it
said nothing about the establishment of slavery south of that
line. It was a compromise made in order to admit Missouri
into the Union as a slave state, in 1820. That was the considera-
tion for the exclusion of slavery from all the country north of
36° 30’. Now, sir, I have no objection to the restoration of
the Missouri Compromise as it stood in 1854, when the Kansas-
Nebraska Bill passed; and I have drawn up — and I intend to
offer it at the proper time as an amendment to some of these
propositions — a clause declaring that so much of the four-
teenth section of the act to organize the territories of Nebraska
and Kansas, approved the 80th of May, 1854, as repeals the
Missouri Compromise, and contains the little stump speech,
shall be repealed, and that we may hear no more of it, I trust,
forever.

Since its authors have repudiated it, and have come forward
with a proposition to establish not the Missouri Compromise,
but to establish a geographical line running through the terri-
tory which we now have, establishing slavery south of it, and
prohibiting it north, and providing that, in the territory we
may hereafter acquire, slavery shall be established south of that
line, I suppose we shall hear no more about leaving the people
“perfectly free to regulate their own affairs in their own way’’!
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The proposition known as the “Crittenden Compromise” de-
claresnot only that, “in the territory south of the said line of
latitude, slavery of the African race is hereby recognized as
existing, and shall not be interfered with by Congress”; but it
provides further, that, in the territory we shall hereafter acquire
south of that line, slavery shall be recognized, and not inter-
fered with by Congress; but “shall be protected as property
by all the departments of the territorial government during
its continuance’; so that, if we make acquisitions on the south
of territories now free, and where, by the laws of the land, the
footsteps of slavery have never been, the moment we acquire
jurisdiction over them, the moment the stars and stripes of the
Republic float over those free territories, they carry with them
African slavery, established beyond the power of Congress, and
beyond the power of any territorial legislature, or of the
people, to keep it out; and we are told that this is the Mis-
souri Compromise! We are told that slavery now exists in New
Mexico; and I was sorry to find even my friend from Oregon
[Mr. Baker] ready to vote for this proposition, which estab-
lishes slavery. Why, sir, suppose slavery does exist in New
Mexico; are you for putting a clause into your Constitution
that the people of New Mexico shall not drive it out?

But, sir, unlike the Senator from Oregon, I will never agree
to put into the Constitution of the country a clause establish-
ing or making perpetual slavery anywhere. No, sir; no human
being shall ever be made a slave by my vote. No foot of God’s
soil shall ever be dedicated to African slavery by my act —
never, sir. I will not interfere with it where I have no author-
ity by the Constitution to interfere; but I never will consent,
the people of the great Northwest, numbering more in white
population than all your Southern States together, never will
consent by their act to establish African slavery anywhere.
Why, sir, the seven free states of the Northwest, at the late
presidential election, cast three hundred thousand more votes
than all the fifteen Southern States together. Senators talk
about the North and the South, and speak of having two Presi-
dents, a Northern President and a Southern President, as if
we had no such country as the Northwest, more populous with
freemen than all the South. The people of the South and the
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people of the East both will, by and by, learn, if they have not
already learned, that we have a country, and a great and grow-
ing country, in the Northwest; a free country — made free,
too, by the act of Virginia herself. I do not propose to discuss
the House Resolution. I have said on any and all proper occa-
sions, and am willing to say at any time, to our brethren of the
South, we have no disposition, and never had any, and have no
power, if we had the disposition, to interfere with your domestic
institutions.

I think, then, sir, that none of these compromises will amount
to anything; but still I am willing to do this, and I think if there
is any difficulty it may be settled in this way : three of the states
of this Union, the state of Kentucky, the state of New Jersey,
and the State of Illinois, have called upon Congress to call a
convention of all the states for the purpose of proposing amend-
ments to the Constitution. I do not think the Constitution
needs amendment. In my judgment, the Constitution as it is,
is worthy to be lived up to and supported. I doubt if we shall
better it; but out of deference to those states, one of which is
my own state, I am willing to vote for the resolution which has
been introduced into this body recommending to the various
states to take into consideration this proposition of calling a
convention, in order to make such amendments as may be
deemed necessary by the states themselves to this instrument.
So far, I am willing to go. Would it not have been better for
the seceding states to have done that? Why did they not pro-
pose, instead of attempting hastily to break up the Govern-
ment and seizing its public property, to call a convention, in the
constitutional form, of the varicus states, and if the Federal
Constitution needed amendment, amend it in that way. Nosuch
proposition came from them; but Kentucky has made the pro-
position for a convention, and I am willing to meet her in the
spirit in which it is made, and am ready, for one, and would be
glad if we could all unitedly pass the resolution suggesting to
the states to call a convention to make any and all amendments
to the Constitution which the exigencies of the times may
require.

The Senator from Texas wants to know how we are going to
preserve the Union; how we are going to stop the states from
seceding? And our Southern friends sometimes ask us to give
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them something to stand upon in the South. The best political
foundation ever laid by mortal man upon which to plant your
foot is the Constitution. Take the old Constitution as your
fathers made it, and go to the people on that; rally them around
it, and not suffer it to be kicked about, rolled in the dust, spit
upon, and their efforts to be wasted in vain efforts to amend it.
Why, sir, has that old instrument ceased to be of any value?
These gentlemen who are talking about amending it, and talking
about guarantees as a condition to remain in the Union, claim
to be par excellence the Union men. Why, sir, I conceive I am
a much better Union man than they. I am for the Union under
the Constitution as it is. I am willing, however, that a con-
vention should be called out of deference to those who may
wish to alter it; but I am not one of those who declare that un-
less this provision is made, and unless this guarantee is given,
I will unite to destroy the Union, and cease to observe the
Constitution as it is.

Sir, the Southern States have been arming. The Senator
from Virginia [Mr. Mason] told us the other day that his state
had appropriated $1,500,000 to arm its citizens. For what? To
arm its citizens to fight against this Government; and then tell
us that, to a man, they will fight against this Government, if
it undertakes to enforce its laws, which they call coercion, the
coercion of a State! Why, sir, a government that has not the
power of coercing obedience to its laws is no government at all.
The very idea of a law without a sanction is an absurdity. A
government is not worth having that has not power to enforce
its laws. If the Senator from Texas wants to know my opinion,
I tell him yes, I am for enforcing the laws. Do you mean by that
you are going to march an army to coerce a state? No, sir; and
I do not mean the people of this country to be misled by this
confusion of terms about coercing a state. The Constitution
of the United States operates upon individuals; the laws oper-
ate upon individuals; and whenever individuals make them-
selves amenable to the laws, I would punish them according
to the laws. We may not always be able to do this. Why, sir,
we have a criminal code, and laws punishing larceny and mur-
der and arson and robbery and all these crimes; and yet murder
is committed, larcenies and robberies are committed, and the
culprits are not always punished and brought to justice. We
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may not be able, in all instances, to punish those who conspire
against the Government. So far as it can be done, I am for exe-
cuting the laws; and I am for coercion. I am for settling, in the
first place, the question whether we have a government before
making compromises which leave us as powerless as before.

Sir, if my friend from Kentucky would employ some of that
eloquence of his which he uses in appealing to Republicans —
and talking about compromise — in defense of the Constitu-
tion asitis, and in favor of maintaining the laws and the Govern-
ment, we should see a very different state of things in the coun-
try. If, instead of coming forward with compromises, instead
of asking guarantees, he had put the fault where it belongs; if
he called upon the Government to do its duty; if, instead of
blaming the North for not making concessions where there is
nothing to concede, and not making compromises where there
was nothing to compromise about, he had appealed to the South,
which was in rebellion against the Government, and painted
before them, as only he could do it, the hideousness of the
crimes they were committing, and called upon them to return
to their allegiance, and upon the Government to enforce its
authority, we would have a very different state of things in
this country to-day from what now exists.

This, in my judgment, is the way to preserve the Union; and
I do not expect civil war to follow from it. You have only to
put the Government in a position to make itself respected, and
it will command respect. As I said before, five hundred troops
in Charleston would unquestionably have kept that port open;
and if you will arm the Government with sufficient authority
to maintain its laws and give us an honest Executive, I think
you will find the spread of secession soon checked; it will no
longer be a holiday affair. But while we submit to the disgrace
which is heaped upon us by those seceding states, while the
President of the United States says, “You have no right to
secede; but if you want to, you may, we cannot help it,” you
may expect secession to spread.

Why, sir, the resolutions of the legislature of the state of
New York, which were passed early in the session, tendering
to the Federal Government all the resources of the state in
money and men to maintain the Government, had a most
salutary effect when it was heard here. I saw the effect of it at
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once. It was the first blow at secession. Let the people of the
North understand that their services are required to maintain
this Union, and let them make known to the people of the
South, to the Government, and to the country, that the Union
shall be maintained; and the object is accomplished. Then you
will find Union men in the South. But while this secession fever
was spreading, and the Union men of the South had no support
from their Government, it is no wonder that state after state
undertook to withdraw from a confederacy which manifested
no disposition to maintain itself.

My remedy for existing difficulties is, to clothe the Govern-
ment with sufficient power to maintain itself; and when that is
done, and you have an Executive with the disposition to main-
tain the authority of the Government, I do not believe that a
gun need be fired to stop the further spread of secession. I be-
lieve, sir, after the new Administration goes into operation, and
the people of the South see, by its acts, that it is resolved to
maintain its authority, and, at the same time, to make no en-
croachments whatever upon the rights of the people of the
South, the desire to secede will subside. When the people of the
Southern States, on the 5th of March, this year, and on the
5th of March, 1862, shall find that, after a year has transpired
under a Republican administration, they are just as safe in all
their rights, just as little interfered with in regard to their do-
mestic institutions, as under any former Administration, they
will have no disposition to inaugurate civil war and commence
an attack upon the Federal Government.

Why, sir, some Senators talk about the Federal Government
making war. Who proposes it? The Southern people affect to
abhor civil war, when they, themselves, have commenced it.
Inhabitants of the six seceding states have begun the war. What
is war? Is firing into your vessels war? Is investing your forts
war? Is seizing your arsenals war? They have done it all, and
more; and then have the effrontery to say to the United States,
“Do not defend yourselves; do not protect your Government;
let it fall to pieces; let us do as we please, or else you will have
war.” The highwayman meets you on the street, demands your
purse, and tells you to deliver it up, or you will have a fight.
You can always escape a fight by submission. If in the right
— and which is far better than to submit to degradation —
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you can often escape collision by being prepared to meet it.
The moment the highwayman discovers your preparation and
ability to meet him, he flees away. Let the Government be
prepared, and we shall have no collision.

I cannot think the people of thiscountry in the loyal states
would causelessly inaugurate civil war by attacking the Govern-
ment; and I regard all the states as loyal, which have not under-
taken tosecede. I regard Kentucky and Tennessee and Missouri
as loyal states, just as much so as Illinois. Why, sir, I live right
upon the borders of Missouri, and I know that the people across
the river were, last fall, just as good Union men as they were in
Illinois. They never thought of secession until the thing was
started in South Carolina, and until some persons here in Con-
gress began to talk about guarantees, instead of coming out
for the Constitution and the Union as they are. When Senators
began to introduce propositions demanding guarantees as a
condition of continuing in the Union, the real true Union men,
in many instances, took sides with them, and thus became, in
fact, only conditional Unionists. I am happy to say that they
are getting over it, not only in Missouri, but they are already
cured of it in Tennessee, and I trust in all the other states save
those which, in their hurry, and with inconsiderate zeal, have
already taken measures, as far as they could, to dissolve their
connection with the Government. Sir, I cannot think it possible
that this great Government is to go out without a struggle —
a Government which has been blessed so highly, and prospered
so greatly. What occasion is there for breaking it up? Are we
not the happiest people in the world? Do we not enjoy personal
liberty and religious freedom? What isit that the people of these
Southern States would have? Does anybody propose to inter-
fere with their domestic institutions? Nobody. Does anybody
deny their equal rights in the territories? Nobody. Why, sir,
look at our condition. We are one of the great nations of the
world. At the peace of 1783, we had, I think, something like
three million population; we have now more than thirty mil-
lion. At that time we had thirteen states; now we have thirty-
four states; and our territories have spread out until they ex-
tend across the continent. The boundaries of the Republic
embrace to-day a greater extent of country than was contained
within the Roman Empire in the days of its greatest extent,
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or within the empire of Alexander when he was said to have
conquered the world.

Sir, I cannot believe that this mad and insane attempt to
break up such a Government is to succeed. If my voice could
reach them, I would call upon my Southern brethren to pause,
to reflect, to consider if this Republican party has yet done
them any wrong. What complaints have they to make against
us? We have never wielded the power of Government — not for
a day. Have you of the South suffered any wrong at the hands
of the Federal Government? If you have, you inflicted it your-
selves. We have not done it. Is it the apprehension that you
are going to suffer wrong at our hands? We tell you that we
intend no such thing. Will you, then, break up such a govern-
ment as this, on the apprehension that we are all hypocrites
and deceivers, and do not mean what we say? Wait, I beseech
you, until the Government is put into operation under this
new administration; wait until you hear the inaugural from the
President-elect; and, I doubt not, it will breathe as well a spirit
of conciliation and kindness towards the South as towards the
North. While I trust it will disclose a resolute purpose to main-
tain the Government, I doubt not it will also declare, in un-
equivocal terms, that no encroachments shall be made upon
the constitutional rights of any state while he who delivers it
remains in power.



CHAPTER VIII

CABINET-MAKING — THE DEATH OF DOUGLAS

Durixng all this storm and stress the President-elect
was at home struggling with office-seekers. They came in
swarms from all points of the compass, and in the great-
est numbers from Illinois. Judging from the Trumbull
papers alone it is safe to say that Illinois could have filled
every office in the national Blue Book without satisfying
half the demands. Every considerable town had several
candidates for its own post-office, and the applicants were
generally men who had real claims by reason of party
service and personal character for the positions which
they sought. But there were exceptions, and Trumbull
brought trouble on his own head many times by taking
part in the mélée. Yet there seemed to be no way of
escape, even if he had wished to stand aloof. The day of
civil service reform had not yet dawned. Time has kindly
dropped its veil over those struggles except as relates to
Lincoln’s Cabinet. The selection of the Cabinet will be
considered chronologically so far as the Trumbull papers
throw light on it.

On his journey to Washington for the coming session
of Congress, Trumbull stopped a few days in New York.
While there he received a call from three gentlemen, who
were a sub-committee of a larger number who had been
chosen, by the opponents of the Weed overlordship in
New York politics, to call upon Lincoln and remonstrate
against the appointment of Seward as a member of his
Cabinet. The three men were William C. Bryant, William
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Curtis Noyes, and A. Mann, Jr. They said that finding it
impracticable to see Lincoln, they had decided to call
upon Trumbull and ask him to present their views to
the President-elect. Although Trumbull disclaimed any
peculiar knowledge or influence in respect of Cabinet
appointments, they proceeded to make their wishes
known. They said that a division had taken place in the
Republican party of New York, growing out of corruption
at Albany during the last session of the legislature, in
which many Republicans were implicated; that so strong
was the feeling against certain transactions there, that
but for the presidential election the Republicans would
have lost the state in November; and that unless the
transactions were repudiated by the coming legislature
the party would be beaten next year. They did not con-
nect Governor Seward personally with these transactions,
but said that several of his particular and most intimate
friends, whom they named, were implicated, and that if
he went into the Cabinet he would draw them after him.

Trumbull suggested to them that if Governor Seward
went into the Cabinet, as many people considered to be
his due, it did not necessarily follow that he would control
the patronage of New York. Mr. Mann, however, thought
that this would be inevitable. He and Mr. Bryant and
Mr. Noyes expressed the opinion that Seward did not de-
sire to go into the Cabinet unless he could control the
patronage and thus serve his friends. They said they had
no name to propose as a New York member of the Cabi-
net, but they did not want the load of the Albany plun-
derers put upon them, and that if it were so the party in
New York would be ruined.

The purport of this interview was communicated by
Trumbull to Lincoln by letter dated Washington, Decem-
ber 2, 1860. Lincoln replied as follows:
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Private
SpriNGFIELD, ILL., Dec. 8, 1860.
Hon. Lyman TRUMBULLL.

My DEAR Sir: Yours of the 2nd is received. I regret exceed-
ingly the anxiety of our friends in New York, of whom you
write;-but it seems to me the sentiment in that State which
sent a united delegation to Chicago in favor of Gov. Seward
ought not and must not be snubbed, as it would be, by the
omission to offer Gov. S. a place in the Cabinet. I will myself
take care of the question of “corrupt jobs’’ and see that justice is
done to all our friends of whom you wrote, as well as others.

I have written to Mr. Hamlin on this very subject of Gov. S.
and requested him to consult fully with you. He will show you
my note and enclosures to him; and then please act as therein

requested.
Yours as ever,
A. LiNcoLN.

The enclosures were a formal tender of the office of
Secretary of State to Seward and a private letter to him
urging his acceptance of the appointment. The note to
Hamlin requested that if he and Trumbull concurred in
the step, the letters should be handed to Seward. They
were promptly delivered.

As matters stood at that time it was certainly due to
Seward that a place in the Cabinet should be offered to
him and that it should be the foremost place. He was
still the intellectual premier of the party and nobody
could impair his influence but himself. The principal
scheme at Albany, to which Bryant and his colleagues
alluded, was a “gridiron” street railroad bill for New
York City, for which Weed was the political engineer.

Trumbull saw Horace Greeley at this time. The latter
would not recommend taking a Cabinet officer from New
Yorkat all, but he did suggest giving the mission to France
to John C. Frémont. If this advice had been followed,
and Frémont had been kept out of the country, Lincoln
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would have been spared one of the most terrible thorns
in the side of his Administration; but fate ordained other-
wise, for when Cameron was taken into the Cabinet it
became necessary to provide a place for Dayton, and
Paris was chosen for that purpose.

The Cameron affair was the greatest embarrassment
that Lincoln had to deal with before his inauguration. It
was a fact of evil omen that David Davis, one of the dele-
gates of Illinois to the Chicago Convention, assuming to
speak by authority, made promises that Simon Cameron,
of Pennsylvania, and Caleb Smith, of Indiana, should
have places in the Cabinet if Lincoln were elected. In so
doing, Davis went counter to the only instructions he
had ever received from Lincoln on that subject. The day
before the nomination was made, the editor of the Spring-
field Journal arrived at the rooms of the Illinois delega-
tion with a copy of the Missouri Democrat, in which Lin-
coln had marked three passages and made some of hisown
comments on the margin. Then he added, in words under-
scored: “Make no contracts that will bind me.”” Herndon
saysthat this paper wasread aloud to Davis, Judd, Logan,
and himself. Davis then argued that Lincoln, being at
Springfield, could not judge of the necessities of the situa-
tionin Chicago,and,acting uponthat viewof the case, went
ahead with his negotiations with the men of Pennsylvania
and Indiana, and made the promises as above stated.?

Gideon Welles, in his book on Lincoln and Seward, says
there was but one member of the Cabinet appointed ‘‘on
the special urgent recommendation and advice of Seward
and his friends, but that gentleman was soon, with
Seward’s approval, transferred to Hyperborean regions
in a way and for reasons never publicly made known.”
That man was Cameron.

1 Life of Lincoln, by Herndon-Weik, 2d edition, 111, 172, 181.
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The implication here is that Simon Cameron was ap-
pointed a member of Lincoln’s Cabinet in consequence of
Seward’s influence, and at his desire. That Seward and
Weed labored for Cameron’s appointment, and that Weed
had private reasons for doing so, is true, but the control-
ling factor was something of earlier date. David Davis
had left his comfortable home at Bloomington and gone
to Springfield to redeem his convention pledges. Ie
camped alongside of Lincoln and laid siege to him. He
had a very strong case prima facie. He had not only
worked for Lincoln with all his might, but he had paid
three hundred dollars out of his own pocket for the rent
of the Lincoln headquarters during the convention. This
seems like a small sum now, but it was three times as
much as Lincoln himself could have paid then for any
political purpose. Moreover, Davis had actually suc-
ceeded in what he had undertaken.

A. K. McClure says, in his book on *‘ Lincoln and Men
of War Times” (p. 139), that the men who immediately
represented Cameron on that occasion (John P. Sander-
son and Alexander Cummings) really had little influence
with the Pennsylvania delegation, and that the change of
votes from Cameron to Lincoln was not due to this barter.

Nicolay and Hay say that after the election Lincoln
invited Cameron to come to Springfield, but they produce
no evidence to that effect. On the other hand, Gideon

! David Davis’s habit of coercing Lincoln was once complained of by
Lincoln himself, as related in a letter (now in the possession of Jesse W. Weik)
of Henry C. Whitney to Wm. H. Herndon. Whitney says :

“On March 5, 1861, I saw Lincoln and requested him to appoint Jim
Somers of Champaign to a small clerkship. Lincoln was very impatient and
said abruptly : *There is Davis, with that way of making a man do a thing
whether he wants to or not, who has forced me to appoint Archy Williams
judge in Kansas right off and John Jones to a place in the State Depart-
ment ; and T have got a bushel of despatches from Kansas wanting to know
if I’m going to fill up all the offices from Illinois.””’
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Welles, quoting from an interview with Fogg, of New
Hampshire (a first-rate authority), says that Cameron
tried to get an invitation to Springfield, but that Lincoln
would not give it; that a little later Cameron invited
Leonard Swett to his home at Lochiel, Pennsylvania, and
that while there Swett took upon himself to extend such
an invitation in Lincoln’s name, and that Lincoln, al-
though surprised, was obliged to acquiesce in what Swett
had done.! Swett, it may be remarked, was the Fidus
Achates of David Davis at all times.

Cameron came to Springfield with a troop of followers,
and the result was that, on the 31st of December, Lincoln
handed him a brief note saying that he intended to nomi-
nate him for Secretary of the Treasury, or Secretary of
War, at the proper time.

Almost immediately thereafter he received a shock
from A. K. McClure in the form of a telegram saying that
the appointment of Cameron would split the party in
Pennsylvania and do irreparable harm to the new Admin-
istration. He invited McClure to come to Springfield and
give him the particular reasons, but McClure does not tell
us what the reasons were. Evidently they were graver
and deeper than a mere faction fight in the party, or
a question whether Cameron or Curtin should have the
disposal of the patronage. They included personal as
well as political delinquencies, but McClure declined to
put them in writing.

After hearing them, Lincoln wrote another letter to
Cameron dated January 3, 1861, asking him to decline
the appointment that had been previously tendered to
him, and to do so at once by telegraph. Cameron did not
decline. Consequently Lincoln repeated the request ten
days later, January 13.

1 Diary of Gideon Welles, 11, 390.
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In the mean time Trumbull, having learned that a
place in the Cabinet —probably the Treasury —had been
offered to Cameron, wrote a letter to Lincoln, dated Jan-
uary 3, advising him not to appoint him. To this letter
Lincoln wrote the following reply:

Very Confidential
SPRINGFIELD, ILL., Jan. 7, 1861.
Hon. Lyman TRUMBULL,

My pEAR Sir: Yours of the 3d is just received. . . . Gen. C.
has not been offered the Treasury and I think will not be. It
seems to me not only highly proper but a necessity that Gov.
Chase shall take that place. His ability, firmness, and purity
of character produce this propriety; and that he alone can recon-
cile Mr. Bryant and his class to the appointment of Gov. S. to
the State Department produces the necessity. But then comes
the danger that the protectionists of Pennsylvania will be dis-
satisfied; and to clear this difficulty Gen. C. must be brought
to cooperate. He would readily do this for the War Depart-
ment. But then comes the fierce opposition to his having any
Department, threatening even to send charges into the Senate
to procure his rejection by that body. Now, what I would most
like, and what I think he should prefer too, under the circum-
stances, would be to retain his place in the Senate, and if that
place has been promised to another let that other take a respect-
able and reasonably lucrative place abroad. Also, let Gen. C.’s
friends be, with entire fairness, cared for in Pennsylvania and
elsewhere. I may mention before closing that besides the very
fixed opposition to Gen. C. he is more amply recommended for
a place in the Cabinet than any other man. . . .

Yours as ever,
A. LincoLn.

It is easy to read two facts between these lines: first,
that although Lincoln had written a letter four days
earlier withdrawing his offer to Cameron, some influence
had intervened to cause new hesitations; second, that
Lincoln knew that Cameron ought not to be taken into
the Cabinet at all, and that he was now seeking some way
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to buy him off. The cause of the new hesitation was that
David Davis was clinging to him like a burr. The last
observation in the letter to Trumbull, that Cameron
was more amply recommended for a place in the Cabinet
than any other man, points to the activity of Seward and
Weed in Cameron’s behalf, of which Welles gives details
in the interview with Fogg above mentioned.

~ Before Lincoln’s letter of the 7th reached Trumbull,
the latter wrote the following, giving his objections to
Cameron more in detail:

WasHINGTON, Jan. 10, 1861.
Hon. A. LincoLn,

My pEAR Sir: My last to you was written in a hurry — in
the midst of business in the Senate, and I have not a precise
recollection of its terms — but I desire now to write you a little
more fully in regard to this Cameron movement, and in doing
so, I have no other desire than the success of our Administra-
tion. Cameron is very generally regarded as a trading, unscrup-
ulous politician. He has not the confidence of our best men.
He is a great manager and by his schemes has for the moment
created an apparent public sentiment in Penna. in his favor.
Many of the persons who are most strenuously urging his ap-
pointment are doubtless doing it in anticipation of a compen-
sation. It is rather an ungracious matter to interfere to oppose
his selection and hence those who believe him unfit and un-
worthy of the place

[Copy illegible ]
seems to me he is totally unfit for the Treasury Department.
You may perhaps ask, how, if these things are true, does he
have so many friends, and such, to support him, and such repre-
sentative men. I am surprised at it, but the world is full of
great examples of men succeeding for a time by intrigue and
management. Report says that C. secured Wilmot in his favor
by assurances of support for the Senate, and then secured
Cowan by abandoning W. at the last. The men who make the
charges against Cameron are not all, I am sure, either his per-
sonal enemies, or governed by prejudice. Another very serious
objection to Cameron is his connection with Gov. Seward. The



CABINET-MAKING 147

Governor is a man who acts through others and men believe
that Cameron would be his instrument in the Cabinet. It is
my decided conviction that C.’s selection would be a great
mistake and it is a pity he is
[Copy illegible]

Gov. Seward’s appointment is acquiesced in by all our friends.
Some wish it were not so, but regard it rather as a necessity,
and are not disposed to complain. There is a very general
desire here to have Gov. Chase go into the Cabinet and in that
wish I most heartily concur. In my judgment you had better -
put Chase in the Cabinet and leave Cameron out, even at the
risk of a rupture with the latter, but I am satisfied he can be
got along with. He is an exacting man, but in the end will put
up with what he can get. He cannot get along in hostility to
you, and when treated fairly, and as he ought to be, will acqui-
esce. This letter is, of course, strictly confidential.

There is a reaction here and the danger of an attack on
Washington is, I think, over.

Very truly your friend,
LymaNn TRUMBULL.

The newspapers soon got hold of the fact that a place
in the Cabinet had been offered to Cameron. They did
not learn that he had been asked to decline it. Letters
began to reach Trumbull urging him to use his influence
to prevent such a calamity. For example:

James H. Van Alen, New York, January 8, says honest men
of all parties were shocked by the rumor of Cameron’s appoint-
ment to the Treasury. This evening Judge Hogeboom and Mr.
Opdycke leave for Springfield and Messrs. D. D. Field and
Barney for Washington to make their urgent protest against
the act. Says he has written to Lincoln and forwarded extracts
from congressional documents in relation to Simon Cameron’s
actions as commissioner to settle the claims of the half-breed
Winnebago Indians. Refers to the Congresstonal Globe, 25th
Congress, 3d Session, p. 194.

E. Peck, Springfield, January 10, says all the Chicago mem-
bers of the legislature took such steps as they could to prevent
the appointment of Cameron, believing him not to be a proper
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man for any place in the Cabinet. If he goes in, it will not be
as the head of the Treasury Department. Understands that
Chase was offered the Treasury, but did not accept.

C. H. Ray, Springfield, January 16, thinks that the Cameron
business should be brought to a halt by some decisive action
among the Republicans in Senate and House. Says Lincoln
sees the error into which he has fallen, and would, most likely,
be glad to recede; but, except a dozen letters, he hears only
from the Cameron and Weed gang.

E. Peck, Springfield, February 1, says David Davis is quite
“huffy ” because of the objections raised to Cameron and be-
cause Smith, of Indiana, is not at once admitted to the Cabinet.

William Butler (state treasurer), Springfield, February 7,
says that last evening he had a confidential conversation with
Lincoln, who told him that the appointment of Cameron, or his
intimation to Cameron that he would offer him a place in the
Cabinet, had given him more trouble than anything else that
he had yet encountered. He had made up his mind that after
reaching Washington he would first send for Cameron and say
to him that he intended to submit the question of his appoint-
ment to the Republican Senators; that he should call them
together for consultation, but would leave Cameron out, as the
question to be considered would be solely in reference to him;
and that he (Lincoln) wished to deal frankly and for the good
of the party. Butler thinks it would be disastrous to Cameron
to go into the Cabinet under such circumstances.

Norman B. Judd, of Chicago, was also expecting a
place in the Cabinet. He was a lawyer by profession and
general attorney of the Chicago and Rock Island Rail-
road. He had been a member of the State Senate, where
he contributed largely to Trumbull’s first election to the
United States Senate, after which he had been devoted
to Trumbull’s political interests and no less to Lincoln’s.
He was chairman of the Republican State Committee
and a member of the National Committee. He had been
a delegate-at-large to the Chicago Convention, where he
had worked untiringly and effectively for Lincoln’s nomi-
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nation. He was not a man of ideas, but was fertile in
expedients. In politics he was a “trimmer,” sly, cat-like,
and mysterious, and thus he came to be considered more
farseeing then he really was; but he was jovial, compan-
ionable, and popular with the boys who looked after the
primaries and the nominating conventions. Both as a
legislator and a party manager his reputation was good,
but his qualities were those of the politician rather than of
the statesman. He was certainly the equal of Caleb Smith
and the superior of Cameron. If he had been taken into
the Cabinet, he would not have been ejected without
assignable reasons nine months later. It was known
immediately after the November election that he ex-
pected a Cabinet position and that Trumbull favored
him.

January 3, 1861, Judd wrote to Trumbull that he had
heard no word from Lincoln, but he had heard indirectly
from Butler (state treasurer) that Lincoln ‘“‘never had a
truer friend than myself and there was no one in whom he
placed greater confidence; still circumstances embarrassed
him about a Cabinet appointment.” Judd understood this
to mean that he would not be appointed and he took
it very much to heart. Doubtless the circumstance that
most embarrassed Lincoln was the same that operated in
Cameron’s case. David Davis was insisting that his
pledge to the Indiana delegates should be made good.

January 6, Lincoln made an early call on Gustave
Koerner at his hotel in Springfield, before the latter was
out of bed. Koerner gives the following account of it in
his “Memoirs™: !

I unbolted the door and in came Mr. Lincoln. “I want to

see you and Judd. Where is his room?” Igave him the num-
ber, and presently he returned with Judd while I was dressing.

1 Vol. 11, p. 114.
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“Jam in a quandary,” he said; “Pennsylvania is entitled to a
Cabinet office. But whom shall I appoint?” ‘““Not Cameron,”
Judd and myself spoke up simultaneously. ““But whom else?”
We suggested Reeder or Wilmot. “Oh,” said he, “they have
no show. There have been delegation after delegation from
Pennsylvania, hundreds of letters and the cry is Cameron,
Cameron. Besides, you know I have already fixed on Chase,
Seward, and Bates, my competitors at the convention. The
Pennsylvania people say if you leave out Cameron you dis-
grace him. Isthere not something in that?” I said, “Cameron
cannot be trusted. He has the reputation of being a tricky and
corrupt politician.” “I know, I know,” said Lincoln; “but can
I get along if that State should oppose my administration?”’
He was very much distressed. We told him he would greatly
regret his appointment. Our interview ended in a protest on
the part of Judd and myself against the appointment.

January 7, Trumbull wrote to Lincoln advising him to
give a Cabinet appointment to some person who could
stand in a nearer and more confidential relation to him
than that which grew out of political affinity, adding that
he (Lincoln) knew whether Judd was the kind of man
who would meet such requirements, and enclosing a
written recommendation of Judd for such a position,
signed by himself and Senators Grimes, Chandler, Wade,
Wilkinson, Durkee, Harlan, and Doolittle. These, he
said, were the only persons to whom the paper had been
shown and the only ones aware of its existence.

Let it be said in passing that this was bad advice. Any
man going into the Cabinet as a more confidential friend
of the President than the others would have had all the
others for his enemies.

January 10, William Jayne and Ebenezer Peck (both
members of the state legislature) expressed the opinion
that Judd would be appointed. Evidently the Trumbull
letter and enclosure had, for the time being, produced the
intended effect. Jayne said that Davis and Yates were
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opposed to Judd, but that Butler and Judge Logan
favored him.

February 17, Judd wrote from Buffalo, New York,
where he was accompanying Lincoln on his journey to
Washington, saying that he believed the Treasury would
be offered again to Chase, and if so he must accept,
although it might cause another ““irrepressible conflict.”
He said nothing about his own prospects.!

Evidently Lincoln had not yet decided to take Cameron
into the Cabinet, but after he arrived in Washington the
influence of Seward and Weed, which Dr. Ray had pre-
figured in a letter to Trumbull, prevailed upon him to do
so. This was the opinion of Montgomery Blair, a high-
minded man and an acute observer, expressed to Gideon
Welles in these words:

Cameron had got into the War Department by the contriv-
ance and cunning of Seward who used him and other corruption-
ists as he pleased with the assistance of Thurlow Weed; that
Seward had tried to get Cameron into the Treasury, but was
unable to quite accomplish that, and, after a hard under-

ground quarrel against Chase, it ended in the loss of Cameron,
who went over to Chase and left Seward.?

When Cameron and Smith were appointed, the Berlin
Mission was given to Judd, as a salve to his wound. Gus-
tave Koerner had been “slated” in the newspapers for
the Berlin Mission, although he had not applied for it. A
telegram had been sent out from Springfield to the effect
that that place had been reserved for him, and he errone-
ously supposed that it had been done with Lincoln’s con-
sent. Ithad been published far and wide in America and
Europe without contradiction. Xoerner’s friends on both

! Fogg of New Hampshire says: “Mrs. Lincoln has the credit of excluding
«Illllldlcli, of Chicago, from the Cabinet,” — which is not unlikely. Diary of Gideon

eties.

% Diary of Gideon Welles, 1, 126.
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sides of the water had written congratulatory letters to
him, and everybody seemed to think that the thing was
done, and wisely done. Some of his clients had notified
him that, having observed in the newspapers that he was
going abroad for a few years, they had engaged other
counsel to attend to their law business. At this very time
Koerner was laboring for Judd’s appointment as member
of the Cabinet.

The same telegram that announced failure in this at-
tempt announced that Judd had been designated as Min-
ister to Prussia and had accepted. Koerner felt humili-
ated, and he now applied for some other foreign mission
which might be awarded to the German element of the
party — preferably that of Switzerland; but it was now
too late. The other places had all been spoken for. At a
later period he was appointed Minister to Spain.

On the 9th of January, 1861, Trumbull was reélected
Senator of the United States by the legislature of Illinois,
by 54 votes against 46 for S. S. Marshall (Democrat).
His nomination in the Republican caucus was without
opposition.

At the beginning of the special session of Congress
called by President Lincoln for July 4, 1861, Trumbull
was appointed by his fellow Senators Chairman of the
Committee on the Judiciary, which place he occupied
during the succeeding twelve years.

The first duty he was called to perform was to announce
the death of his colleague, Stephen A. Douglas. Douglas
had placed himself at Lincoln’s service in all efforts to
uphold the Constitution and enforce the laws against the
disunionists. He returned from Washington early in April
and got in touch with his constituents, ready to act
promptly as events might turn out. It turned out that
the Confederates struck the first blow in the Civil War
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by bombarding Fort Sumter. This was the signal for
Douglas’s last and greatest political and oratorical effort.
The state legislature, then in session, invited him to
address them on the present crisis, and he responded on
the 25th of April in a speech which made Illinois solid for
the Union. The writer was one of the listeners to that
speech and he cannot conceive that any orator of ancient
or modern times could have surpassed it. Douglas seized
upon his hearers with a kind of titanic grasp and held
them captive, enthralled, spellbound for an immortal
hour. He was the only man who could have saved south-
ern Illinois from the danger of an internecine war. The
southern counties followed him now as faithfully and as
unanimously as they had followed him in previous years,
and sent their sons into the field to fight for the Union as
numerously and bravely as those of any other section of
the state or of the country. Douglas had only a few more
days to live. He was now forty-eight years of age, but if
he had survived forty-eight more he could never have
surpassed that eloquence or exceeded that service to the
nation, for he never could have found another like occa-
sion for the use of his astounding powers.

He died at Chicago, June 3, 1861. Trumbull’s eulogy
was solemn, sincere, pathetic, and impressive — a model
of good taste in every way. He retracted nothing, but,
ignoring past differences, he gave an abounding and
heartfelt tribute of praise to the dead statesman for his
matchless service to his country in the hour of her great-
est need. He concluded with these words:

On the 17th day of June last, all that remained of our de-
parted brother was interred near the city of Chicago, on the
shore of Lake Michigan, whose pure waters, often lashed into
fury by contending elements, are a fitting memento of the
stormy and boisterous political tumults through which the great
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popular orator so often passed. There the people, whose idol
he was, will erect a monument to his memory; and there, in
the soil of the state which so long without interruption, and
never to a greater extent than at the moment of his death,
gave him her confidence, let his remains repose solong as free
government shall last and the Constitution he loved so well
endure.



CHAPTER IX

FORT SUMTER

Mgs. TruMBULL did not accompany her husband to
Washington at the special session of Congress July 4, 1861,
A few letters written to her by him have been preserved.
One of these revives the memory of an affair which caused
intense indignation throughout the loyal states.

On the day when it was decided in Cabinet meeting to
send supplies to Major Anderson in Fort Sumter, a news-
paper correspondent named Harvey, a native of South
Carolina, sent a telegram to Governor Pickens at Charles-
ton notifying him of the fact. Harvey was the only news-
paper man in Washington who had the news. He did not
put his own name on the telegram, but signed it “A
Friend.” He was afterward appointed, at Secretary
Seward’s instance, as Minister to Portugal, although he
was so obscure in the political world that the other Wash-
ington correspondents had to unearth and identify him
to the public. It was said that he had once been the edi-
tor of the Philadelphia North American. After he had
departed for his mission, there had been a seizure of tele-
grams by the Government and this anonymous one to
Governor Pickens was found. The receiving-clerk testi-
fied that it had been sent by Harvey. The Republicans
in Congress, and especially the Senators who had voted
to confirm him, were boiling with indignation. A com-
mittee of the latter was appointed to call upon the Presi-
dent and request him to recall Harvey. A letter of Trum-
bull to his wife (July 14) says:

The Republicans in caucus appointed a committee to ex-
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press to him their want of confidence in Harvey, Minister
to Portugal. Mr. Lincoln and Mr. Seward informed the com-
mittee that they were aware of the worst dispatch to Governor
Pickens before he left the country, but not before he received
the appointment, and they did not think from their conversa-
tion with Harvey that he had any criminal intent, and requested
the committee to report the facts to the caucus, Mr. Lincoln
saying that he would like to know whether Senators were as
dissatisfied when they came to know all the facts. The caucus
will meet to-morrow and I do not believe will be satisfied with
the explanation.

The inside history of this telegram was made public
long afterward. Shortly before Seward took office as
Secretary of State there came to Washington City three
commissioners from Montgomery, Alabama, whose pur-
pose was to negotiate terms of peaceful separation of the
Confederate States of America from the United States,
or to report to their own Government the refusal of the
latter to enter into such negotiation. These men were
Martin J. Crawford, John Forsyth, and A. B. Roman.
They arrived in Washington on the 27th of February,
four days after Lincoln’s arrival and one week before his
inauguration. They did not make their errand known un-
til after the inauguration. They then communicated with
Seward, by an intermediary, the nature of their mission,
and the latter replied verbally that it was the intention of
the new Administration to settle the dispute in an amica-
ble manner. On the 15th of March, Seward assured the
Confederate envoys that Sumter would be evacuated
before a letter from them could reach Montgomery —
that is, within five days. The negotiations were pro-
tracted till a decision had been reached, contrary to
Seward’s desires and promises, to send a fleet with provi-
sions to relieve the garrison at Fort Sumter. Then Seward
gave this fact to Harvey, knowing that he would trans-
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mit it to Governor Pickens and that the probable effect
would be to defeat the scheme of relieving the garri-
son. This he evidently desired. He had already secretly
detached the steamer Powhatan, an indispensable part of
the Sumter fleet, and sent it on a useless expedition to
Pensacola Harbor.

Gideon Welles’s account of the Harvey affair is as fol-
lows:

Soon after President Lincoln had formed the resolution to
attempt the relief of Sumter, and whilst it was yet a secret, a
young man connected with the telegraph office in Washington,
with whom I was acquainted, a native of the same town with
myself, brought to me successively two telegrams conveying to
the rebel authorities information of the purposes and decisions
of the Administration. One of these telegrams was from Mr.
Harvey, a newspaper correspondent, who was soon after, and
with a full knowledge of his having communicated to the rebels
the movements of the Government, appointed Minister to
Lisbon. I had, on receiving these copies, handed them to the
President. Mr. Blair, who had also obtained a copy of one,
perhaps both, of these telegrams from another source, likewise
informed him of the treachery. The subject was once or twice
alluded to in Cabinet without eliciting any action, and when
the nomination of Mr. Harvey to the Portuguese Mission was
announced — a nomination made without the knowledge of
any member of the Cabinet but the Secretary of State and
made at his special request — there was general disapproba-
tion except by the President (who avoided the expression of
any opinion) and by Mr. Seward. The latter defended and
justified the selection, which he admitted was recommended
by himself, but the President was silent in regard to it.!

Trumbull says in his letter that Lincoln and Seward
told the committee that they did not know that Harvey
had sent the dispatch before he received the appointment.
Welles says that both of them knew it beforehand, and
that it was a matter of Cabinet discussion in which Lin-

! Diary of Gideon Welles, 1, 82.



158 LYMAN TRUMBULL

coln, however, took no part. How are we to explain this
contradiction? It was impossible for Lincoln to utter an
untruth, but if we may credit Gideon Welles, passim, it
was not impossible for Seward to do so and for Lincoln to
remain silent while he did so, as he remained silent while
the Cabinet were discussing the appointment of Harvey.
If Seward, at the meeting of which Trumbull wrote, in this
private letter to his wife, took the lead in the conversa-
tion, as was his habit, and said that there was no knowl-
edge of Harvey’s telegram to Governor Pickens until
after Harvey had been appointed as minister, and Lincoln
said nothing to the contrary, he would naturally have
assumed that Seward spoke for both.

There is reason to believe that Seward had previously
prevailed upon the President to agree to surrender Fort
Sumter, as a means of preventing the secession of Vir-
ginia. Evidence of this fact is supplied by the following
entry in the diary of John Hay, under date October 22,
1861:

At Seward’s to-night the President talked about Secession,
Compromise, and other such. He spoke of a Committee of
Southern pseudo-unionists coming to him before inauguration
for guarantees, etc. He promised to evacuate Sumier if they
would break up their Convention without any row, or nonsense.
They demurred. Subsequently he renewed proposition to
Summers, but without any result. The President was most
anxious to prevent bloodshed.!

Hay here speaks of two offers made by Lincoln to evac-
uate Sumter, one before his inauguration and one after.
Both were made on condition that a certain convention
should be adjourned. This was the convention of Vir-
ginia, which had been called to consider the question of
secession. It had met in Richmond on the 13th of Febru-

1 Letters and Diaries of John Hay, 1, 47.
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ary, while Lincoln was en route for Washington. As Lin-
coln arrived in Washington on the 23d of February, the
first offer must have been made in the interval between
that day and the 4th of March.

The History of Nicolay and Hay does not mention the
first offer. It speaks of the second one as a matter about
which the facts are in dispute, the disputants being John
Minor Botts and J. B. Baldwin. Botts was an ex-member
of Congress from Virginia and a strong Union man. Bald-
win was a member of the Virginia Convention and a Union
man. He had come to Washington in response to an invi-
tation which Lincoln had sent, on or about the 20th of
March, to George W. Summers, who was likewise a mem-
ber of the convention. Summers was not able to come at
the time when the invitation reached him, and he deputed
Baldwin to go in his place.

After the war ended, Botts wrote a book entitled “The
Great Rebellion,” in which he gave the following account
of an interview he had had with President Lincoln on
Sunday, April 7, 1861 (two days after Baldwin had had
his interview):

About this time Mr. Lincoln sent a messenger to Richmond,
inviting a distinguished member of the Union party to come
immediately to Washington, and if he could not come himself,
to send some other prominent Union man, as he wanted to see
him on business of the first importance. The gentleman thus
addressed, Mr. Summers, did not go, but sent another, Mr. J.
B. Baldwin, who had distinguished himself by his zeal in the
Union cause during the session of the convention; but this gen-
tleman was slow in getting to Washington, and did not reach
there for something like a week after the time he was expected.
He reached Washington on Friday, the 5th of April, and, on
calling on Mr. Lincoln, the following conversation in substance
took place, as I learned from Mr. Lincoln himself. After ex-

pressing some regret that he had not come sooner, Mr. Lin-
coln said, * My object in desiring the presence of Mr. Summers,
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or some other influential and leading member of the Union
party in your convention, was to submit a proposition by which
I think the peace of the country can be preserved; but I fear
you are almost too late. However, I will make it yet.

“This afternoon,” he said, ““a fleet is to sail from the harbor
of New York for Charleston; your convention has been in ses-
sion for nearly two months, and you have done nothing but
hold and shake the rod over my head. You have just taken a
vote, by which it appears you have a majority of two to one
against secession. Now, so great is my desire to preserve the
peace of the country, and to save the border states to the
Union, that if you gentlemen of the Union party will adjourn
without passing an ordinance of secession, I will telegraph at
once to New York, arrest the sailing of the fleet, and take the
responsibility of EvacuaTing ForT SumMTER!”

The proposition was declined. On the following Sunday night
I was with Mr. Lincoln, and the greater part of the time alone,
when Mr. Lincoln related the above facts to me. I inquired,
“Well, Mr. Lincoln, what reply did Mr. Baldwin make?”* “Oh,”
said he, throwing up his hands, “he would n’t listen to it at all;
scarcely treated me with civility; asked me what I meant by an
adjournment; was it an adjournment sine die 2’ “Of course,”
said Mr. Lincoln, “I don’t want you to adjourn, and, after I
have evacuated the fort, meet again to adopt an ordinance of
secession.” 1 then said, ‘““Mr. Lincoln, will you authorize me
to make that proposition? For I will start to-morrow morning,
and have a meeting of the Union men to-morrow night, who,
I have no doubt, will gladly accept it.” To which he replied,
“It’s too late, now; the fleet sailed on Friday evening.”

In 1866, the Reconstruction Committee of Congress
got an inkling of this interview between Lincoln and Bald-
win, called Baldwin as a witness, and questioned him about
it. He testified that he had an interview with the Presi-
dent at the date mentioned, but denied that Lincoln had
offered to evacuate Fort Sumter if the Virginia Conven-
tion would adjourn sine die. Thereupon Botts collected
and published a mass of collateral evidence to show that
Baldwin had testified falsely.
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Botts says in his book that he had confirmatory letters
from Governor Peirpoint, General Millson, of Virginia,
Dr. Stone, of Washington, Hon. Garrett Davis (Sena-
tor from Kentucky), Robert A. Gray, of Rockingham
(brother-in-law to Baldwin), Campbell Tarr, of Wheeling,
and three others, to whom Lincoln made the statement
regarding his interview with Baldwin, in almost the same
language in which he made it to Botts himself. Botts
quotes from two letters written to him by John F. Lewis
in 1866, in which the latter says that Baldwin acknowl-
edged to him (Lewis) that Lincoln did offer to evacuate
Fort Sumter on the condition named. There are persons
now living to whom Lewis made the same statement,
verbally.

There is another piece of evidence, supplied by Rev. R.
L. Dabney in the Southern Historical Society Papers, in
a communication entitled ““Colonel Baldwin’s Interview
with Mr. Lincoln.” This purports to give the writer’s
recollections of an interview with Baldwin in March,
1865, at Petersburg, while the siege of that place was
going on. Baldwin said that Secretary Seward sent Allan
B. Magruder as a messenger to Mr. Janney, president of
the Virginia Convention, urging that one of the Union
members come to Washington to confer with Lincoln.
Baldwin was called out of the convention by Summers on
the 3d of April to see Magruder, and the latter said that
Seward had authorized him to say that Fort Sumter would
be evacuated on Friday of the ensuing week. The gentle-
men consulted urged Baldwin to go to Washington, and he
consented and did go promptly. Seward accompanied him
to the White House and Lincoln took him upstairs into
his bedroom and locked the door. Lincoln “took a seat
on the edge of the bed, spitting from time to time on the
carpet.” The two entered into a long dispute about the
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right of secession. Baldwin insisted that coercion would
lead to war, in which case Virginia would join in behalf
of the seceded states.

Lincoln’s native good sense [the narrative proceeds], with
Baldwin’s evident sincerity, seemed now to open his eyes to the
truth. He slid off the edge of the bed and began to stalk in his
awkward manner across the chamber in great excitement and
perplexity. He clutched his shaggy hair as though he would
jerk out handfuls by the roots. He frowned and contorted his
features, exclaiming, “I ought to have known this sooner; you
are too late, sir, foo lafe. Why did you not come here four days
ago and tell me all this?” Colonel Baldwin replied: “Why,
Mr. President, you did not ask our advice.”

The foregoing narrative involves the supposition that
Lincoln, in the midst of preparations for sending a fleet
to Fort Sumter, dispatched a messenger to Richmond to
bring a man to Washington to discuss with him the ab-
stract question of the right of a state to secede, and that,
having procured the presence of such a person, he took
him into a bedroom, locked the door, and had the debate
with him, taking care that nobody else should hear a syl-
lable of it. Not a word about Fort Sumter, although
Magruder, the messenger, had said that it would be evacu-
ated on the following Friday! Yet the Rev. Mr. Dabney
did not see the incongruity of the situation.

Nicolay and Hay say that Lincoln did not make any
offer to Baldwin to evacuate Sumter, but did tell him
what he had intended to say to Summers, if the latter had
come to Washington at the right time.!

A marvelous incident is related in Welles’s Diary
immediately after his narrative of the Harvey affair. It
describes the activity and earnestness of Stephen A.

1 Nicolay and Hay, 111, 428. Probably the entry in Hay’s Diary had been
forgotten when the History was written, twenty-five years later.
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Douglas in combating the Rebels, in contrast to the futile
diplomacy of Seward:

Two days preceding the attack on Sumter, I met Senator
Douglas in front of the Treasury Building. He was in a car-
riage with Mrs. Douglas, driving rapidly up the street. When
he saw me he checked his driver, jumped from the carriage, and
came to me on the sidewalk, and in a very earnest and emphatic
manner said the rebels were determined on war and were about
to make an assault on Sumter. He thought immediate and
decisive measures should be taken; considered it a mistake
that there had not already been more energetic action; said
the dilatory proceedings of the Government would bring on a
terrible civil war; that the whole South was united and in
earnest. Although he had differed with the Administration on
important questions and would never be in accord with some
of its members on measures and principles that were funda-
mental, yet he had no fellowship with traitors or disunionists.
He was for the Union and would stand by the Administration
and all others in its defense, regardless of party. [Welles pro-
posed that they should step into the State Department and
consult with Seward.] The look of mingled astonishment and
incredulity which came over him I can never forget. “Then
you,” he said, “have faith in Seward! Have you made yourself
acquainted with what has been going on here all winter?
Seward has had an understanding with these men. If he has
influence with them, why don’t he use it?”

Douglas considered it a waste of time and effort to talk
to Seward, considered him a dead weight and drag on the
Administration; said that Lincoln was honest and meant
to do right, but was benumbed by Seward; but finally
yielded to Welles’s desire that they should go into Seward’s
office, in front of which they were standing. They went in
and Douglas told Seward what he had told Welles, that

_the rebels were determined on war and were about to make
an assault on Sumter, and that the Administration ought
not to delay another minute, but should make instant
preparations for war. All the reply they got from Seward
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was that there were many rash and reckless men at
Charleston and that if they were determined to assault
Sumter he did not know how they were to be prevented
from doing so.

Seward’s aims were patriotic but futile. He wished to
save the Union without bloodshed, but the steps which he
took were almost suicidal. What the country then needed
was a jettison of compromises, and a resolution of doubts.
Providence supplied these. The bombardment of Sumter
accomplished the object as nothing else could have done.
Nothing could have been contrived so sure to awaken the
volcanic forces that ended in the destruction of slavery as
the spectacle in Charleston Harbor.



CHAPTER X

BULL RUN — THE CONFISCATION ACT

I~ company with other Senators, Trumbull went to the
battle of Bull Run, July 21, 1861. His experience there he
communicated to his wife, first by a brief telegram, and
afterwards by letter. The telegram was suppressed by
the authorities in charge of the telegraph office, who sub-
stituted one of their own in place of it and appended his
name to it. The letter follows:

WasHiNgTON, July 22nd, 1861.

We started over into Virginia about 9 o’clock A.Mm., and drove
to Centreville, which is a high commanding position and a
village of perhaps fifty houses. Bull Run, where the battle
occurred, is South about 8 miles and the creek on the main
road, looking West, is about 43 miles distant. The country is
timbered for perhaps a mile West of the creek, between which
and Centreville there are a good many cleared fields. At Cen-
treville, Grimes and I got saddles and rode horseback down the
main road towards the creek about three miles toward a hos-
pital where were some few wounded soldiers and a few prisoners
who had been sent back. This was about half-past three o’clock
p.M. Here we met with Col. Vandever of Iowa, who gave us
a very clear account of the battle. He had been with Gen.
McDowell and Gen. Hunter, who with the strongest part of the
army, had gone early in the morning a few miles north of the
main road and crossed the creek to take the enemy in the flank.
His division had very serious fighting, but had driven the
enemy back and taken three of his batteries. At the hospital
we were about one and a half miles from Generals Tyler and
Schenck, Col. Sherman, etc., who were down the road in the
woods and out of sight, with several regiments and a number of
guns. Their troops, Vandever told us, were a good deal demor-
alized, and he feared an attack from the South towards Bull
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Run where the battle of a few days ago was fought. About this
time a battery, apparently not more than a mile and a half dis-
tant and from the South, fired on the battery where Sherman
and Schenck were. The firing was not rapid. On the hill at
Centreville we could see quite beyond the timber of the creek
off towards Manassas and-see the smoke and hear the report of
the artillery, but not very rapid as I thought. This we observed
before leaving Centreville, and were told it was our main army
driving the enemy back, but slowly and with great difficulty.
While at the hospital McDougall of California came up from
the neighborhood of Gen. Schenck and said he was going back
towards Centreville to a convenient place where he could get
water and take lunch. As Grimes and myself had got separated
from Messrs. Wade and Chandler and Brown, who had with
them our supplies, we concluded to go back with MeD. and par-
take with him. We returned on the road towards Centreville
and turned up towards a house fifty or a hundred yards from
the road, where we quietly took our lunch, the firing continuing
about as before. Just as we were putting away the things we
heard a great noise, and looking up towards the road saw it
filled with wagons, horsemen and footmen in full run towards
Centreville. We immediately mounted our horses and galloped
to the road, by which time it was crowded, hundreds being in
advance on the way to Centreville and two guns of the Sherman
battery having already passed in full retreat. We kept on with
the crowd, not knowing what else to do. On the way to Centre-
ville many soldiers threw away their guns, knapsacks, etc. Gov.
Grimes and I each picked up a gun. I soon came up to Senator
Lane of Indiana, and the gun being heavy to carry and he bet-
ter able to manage it, I gave it to him. Efforts were made to
rally the men by civilians and others on their way to Centre-
ville, but all to no purpose. Literally, three could have chased
ten thousand. All this stampede was occasioned, as I under-
stand, by a charge of not exceeding two hundred cavalry upon
Schenck’s column down in the woods, which, instead of re-
pulsing as they could easily have done (having before become
disordered and having lost some of their officers), broke and
ran, communicating the panic to everybody they met. The
rebel cavalry, or about one hundred of them, charged up past
the hospital where we had been and took there some prisoners,
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asI am told, and released those we had. It was the most shame-
ful rout you can conceive of. I suppose two thousand soldiers
came rushing into Centreville in this disorganized condition.
The cavalry which made the charge I did not see, but suppose
they disappeared in double-quick time, not dreaming that they
had put a whole division to flight. Several guns were left down
in the woods, though I believe two were brought off. What
became of Schenck I do not know. Tyler, I understand, was at
Centreville when I got back there. Whether other portions of
our army were shamefully routed just at the close of the day,
after we had really won the battle, it seems impossible for me
to learn, though I was told that McDowell was at Centreville
when we were there and that his column had also been driven
back. If this be so it is a terrible defeat. At Centreville there
was a reserve of 8000 or 10,000 men under Col. Miles who had
not been in the action and they were formed in line of battle
when we left there, but the enemy did not, I presume, ad-
vance to that point last night, as we heard no firing. We fed our
horses at Centreville and left there at six o’clock last evening.
Came on to Fairfax Court House, where we got supper, and
leaving there at ten o’clock reached home at half-past two this
morning, having had a sad day and witnessed scenes I hope
never to see again. Not very many baggage wagons, perhaps
not more than fifty, were advanced beyond Centreville. From
them the horses were mostly unhitched and the wagons left
standing in the road when the stampede took place. This side
of Centreville there were a great many wagons, and the alarm
if possible was greater than on the other. Thousands of shovels
were thrown out upon the road, also axes, boxes of provisions,
etc. In some instances wagons were upset to get them out of
the road, and the road was full of four-horse wagons retreating
as fast as possible, and also of flying soldiers who could not be
made to stop at Centreville. The officers stopped the wagons
and a good many of the retreating soldiers by putting a file of
men across the road and not allowing them to pass. In this
way all the teams were stopped, but a good many stragglers
climbed the fences and got by. I fear that a great, and, of
course, a terrible slaughter has overtaken the Union forces —
God’s ways are inscrutable. I am dreadfully disappointed and
mortified.



168 LYMAN TRUMBULL

Copy of telegram sent to Mrs. Lyman Trumbull, July
22, 1861:

The battle resulted unfavorably to our cause.
Lyman T.

When received by Mrs. Trumbull, it read:

I came from near the battlefield last night. It was a desper-
ately bloody fight.

The only bill of importance passed at the July session of
Congress at Trumbull’s instance was one to declare free
all slaves who might be employed by their owners, or
with their owners’ consent, on any military or naval work
against the Government, and who might fall into our
hands. It was called a Confiscation Act, but it did not
confiscate any other than slave property. It was an enter-
ing wedge, however, for complete emancipation which
came by successive steps later.
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